
 

 

Eple  
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORA T E  
C OMM I T T E E  

   

Thursday, 14th July, 2016 
 

at 6.30 pm 
   

Room 3, Assembly Hall, Hackney Town Hall, 
Mare Street, London E8 1EA 

  
  
Committee Membership 
  
Cllr Will Brett, Cllr Barry Buitekant 
Cllr Laura Bunt, Cllr Mete Coban 
Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr Katie Hanson, Cllr Christopher Kennedy 
Cllr Michael Levy, Cllr Sally Mulready 
Cllr M Can Ozsen, Cllr Clare Potter 
Cllr Ian Sharer, Cllr Nick Sharman 
Cllr Vincent Stops 
Cllr Jessica Webb (Chair) 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Tim Shields 

Contact: 
Rabiya Khatun 
Governance Services Officer 
Tel: 020 8356 6279 
Email: Rabiya.khatun@hackney.gov.uk 
 

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 



 

 

 

AGENDA 
Thursday, 14th July, 2016 

  

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - MEMBERS TO DECLARE AS 

APPROPRIATE  
 

 
3   CONSIDERATION OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 1 - 10 

 
4   FOOD LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICE PLAN  2016/17 11 - 54 

 
5   PLANNING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT/AUTHORITY 

MONITORING REPORT  
55 - 164 

 
6   WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17  165 - 167 

 
7   ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR 

IS URGENT  
 

Item No  Page No 



 

 

 
Access and Information 

 

Location 

 
Hackney Town Hall is on Mare Street, bordered by Wilton Way and Reading Lane, 
almost directly opposite Hackney Picturehouse. 
 
 
Trains – Hackney Central Station (London Overground) – Turn right on leaving the 
station, turn right again at the traffic lights into Mare Street, walk 200 metres and look 
for the Hackney Town Hall, almost next to The Empire immediately after Wilton Way. 
 
 
Buses 30, 48, 55, 106, 236, 254, 277, 394, D6 and W15. 
 
 

Facilities 

There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall. 
 
Induction loop facilities are available in the Committee Rooms and Council Chamber 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 
Copies of the Agenda 
The Hackney website contains a full database of meeting agendas, reports and 
minutes. Log on at: www.hackney.gov.uk 
Paper copies are also available from Governance Services whose contact details are 
shown on page 1 of the agenda.  
 
Council & Democracy- www.hackney.gov.uk  
 
The Council & Democracy section of the Hackney Council website contains details 
about the democratic process at Hackney, including: 
 

• Mayor of Hackney  
• Your Councillors  
• Cabinet  
• Speaker  
• MPs, MEPs and GLA 
• Committee Reports  
• Council Meetings  
• Executive Meetngs and Key Decisions Notice 
• Register to Vote 
• Introduction to the Council  
• Council Departments  
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
Where a meeting of the Council and its committees are open to the public, the press 
and public are welcome to report on meetings of the Council and its committees, 
through any audio, visual or written methods and may use digital and social media 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting and providing that the 
person reporting or providing the commentary is present at the meeting. 
 
Those wishing to film, photograph or audio record a meeting are asked to notify the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer by noon on the day of the meeting, if possible, or any 
time prior to the start of the meeting or notify the Chair at the start of the meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer, or the Chair of the meeting, may designate a set area from 
which all recording must take place at a meeting. 
 
The Council will endeavour to provide reasonable space and seating to view, hear 
and record the meeting.  If those intending to record a meeting require any other 
reasonable facilities, notice should be given to the Monitoring Officer in advance of 
the meeting and will only be provided if practicable to do so. 
 
The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all those present 
recording a meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting.   Anyone 
acting in a disruptive manner may be required by the Chair to cease recording or 
may be excluded from the meeting. Disruptive behaviour may include: moving from 
any designated recording area; causing excessive noise; intrusive lighting; 
interrupting the meeting; or filming members of the public who have asked not to be 
filmed. 
 
All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on recording 
councillors, officers and the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the 
meeting.  The Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they 
have objections to being visually recorded.  Those visually recording a meeting are 
asked to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed.   
Failure by someone recording a meeting to respect the wishes of those who do not 
wish to be filmed and photographed may result in the Chair instructing them to cease 
recording or in their exclusion from the meeting. 
 
If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public then in order to 
consider confidential or exempt information, all recording must cease and all 
recording equipment must be removed from the meeting room. The press and public 
are not permitted to use any means which might enable them to see or hear the 
proceedings whilst they are excluded from a meeting and confidential or exempt 
information is under consideration. 
 
Providing oral commentary during a meeting is not permitted. 

RIGHTS OF PRESS AND PUBLIC TO REPORT ON MEETINGS 



 

 

 
 
 
Hackney Council’s Code of Conduct applies to all Members of the Council,   
the Mayor and co-opted Members.  
 
This note is intended to provide general guidance for Members on declaring 
interests. However, you may need to obtain specific advice on whether you have an 
interest in a particular matter. If you need advice, you can contact: 
 

• The Corporate Director of Legal, HR and Regulatory Services; 
• The Legal Adviser to the committee; or 
• Governance Services. 

 
If at all possible, you should try to identify any potential interest you may have before 
the meeting so that you and the person you ask for advice can fully consider all the 
circumstances before reaching a conclusion on what action you should take.  
 
 
 
 
You will have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter if it:  

 
i. relates to an interest that you have already registered in Parts A and C of the 

Register of Pecuniary Interests of you or your spouse/civil partner, or anyone 
living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner; 

 
ii. relates to an interest that should be registered in Parts A and C of the  Register 

of Pecuniary Interests of your spouse/civil partner, or anyone living with you as 
if they were your spouse/civil partner, but you have not yet done so; or 

 
iii. affects your well-being or financial position or that of your spouse/civil partner, 

or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner. 
 
 
 
 
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant 

agenda item) as soon as it becomes apparent to you (subject to the rules 
regarding sensitive interests).  

 
ii. You must leave the room when the item in which you have an interest is being 

discussed.  You cannot stay in the meeting room or public gallery whilst 
discussion of the item takes place and you cannot vote on the matter.  In 
addition, you must not seek to improperly influence the decision. 

 
iii. If you have, however, obtained dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or 

Standards Committee you may remain in the room and participate in the 
meeting.  If dispensation has been granted it will stipulate the extent of your 
involvement, such as whether you can only be present to make representations, 
provide evidence or whether you are able to fully participate and vote on the 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest. 

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS 

1.  Do you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter on 
the agenda or which is being considered at the meeting? 

 

 

2. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in an item on the 
agenda you must: 



 

 

 
 
 
You will have ‘other non-pecuniary interest’ in a matter if: 
 
i. It relates to an external body that you have been appointed to as a Member or 

in another capacity; or  
 

ii. It relates to an organisation or individual which you have actively engaged in 
supporting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant 

agenda item) as soon as it becomes apparent to you.  
 

ii. You may remain in the room, participate in any discussion or vote provided that 
contractual, financial, consent, permission or licence matters are not under 
consideration relating to the item in which you have an interest.   

 
iii. If you have an interest in a contractual, financial, consent, permission or licence 

matter under consideration, you must leave the room unless you have obtained 
a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee.  You 
cannot stay in the room or public gallery whilst discussion of the item takes 
place and you cannot vote on the matter.  In addition, you must not seek to 
improperly influence the decision.  Where members of the public are allowed to 
make representations, or to give evidence or answer questions about the matter 
you may, with the permission of the meeting, speak on a matter then leave the 
room. Once you have finished making your representation, you must leave the 
room whilst the matter is being discussed.   
 

iv. If you have been granted dispensation, in accordance with the Council’s 
dispensation procedure you may remain in the room.  If dispensation has been 
granted it will stipulate the extent of your involvement, such as whether you can 
only be present to make representations, provide evidence or whether you are 
able to fully participate and vote on the matter in which you have a non 
pecuniary interest.   

 
 
 
 
Advice can be obtained from Yinka Owa, Director of Legal, on 020 8356 6234 or 
email Yinka.Owa@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 

 

3.  Do you have any other non-pecuniary interest on any matter on 
the agenda which is being considered at the meeting? 

 

4. If you have other non-pecuniary interest in an item on the agenda 
you must: 

 

 
FS 566728 
 
 

 

Further Information 
 



 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
CORPORATE COMMITTEE 

 
THURSDAY, 18TH FEBRUARY, 2016 

 
Councillors Present:  
 

Councillor Jessica Webb in the Chair 

 Cllr Will Brett, Cllr Jon Burke, Cllr Susan Fajana-
Thomas (Vice-Chair), Cllr Katie Hanson, 
Cllr Christopher Kennedy, Cllr Rebecca Rennison, 
Cllr Ian Sharer, Cllr Nick Sharman and 
Cllr Vincent Stops 

  
Apologies:  
 

Councillor Brian Bell, Councillor Barry Buitekant, 
Councillor Robert Chapman, Councillor Michael 
Levy and Councillor Sally Mulready 

 
Officers in Attendance: 

  
Yinka Owa (Assistant Director, Legal), Steve 
Bending (Head of Safer Communities), and Barry 
Scales (Service Team Manager). 

  
   
  

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Bell, Chapman, Buitekant, 

Mulready and Levy. 
 
1.2 Apologies for lateness were received from Cllr Kennedy. 

 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - MEMBERS TO DECLARE AS 

APPROPRIATE  
 

2.1 Following Cllr Burke’s arrival at the meeting, he advised the Committee that he 
no longer had a disclosable pecuniary interest as his partner was no longer 
employed by Hackney Council. 
 

3 CONSIDERATION OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
3.1 The minutes of the meeting held on 9th December 2016 were approved as a 

correct record of the meeting subject to minor typographical errors. 
 

4 ANNUAL REPORT  OF THE COMMUNITY SAFETY TEAM AND NOISE 
NUISANCE  

 
(Cllr Burke arrived at the meeting at 6.15pm, Cllr Hanson attended at 6.52pm, Cllr 
Fajana- Thomas attended at 6.56pm and Cllr Kennedy attended at 7.35pm). 

 
4.1 Barry Scales, Community Safety Services Manager, introduced the annual 

report on the development of the Council’s response to noise nuisance.  A brief 
Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Thursday, 18th February, 2016  
background was provided of the service and its responsibility including the 
retention of wider community safety and anti-social behaviour.  It was 
highlighted since the restructure in 2013 there had been a marginal decrease in 
number of noise nuisance cases and the inclusion of recording commercial 
noise nuisance.  The team’s work consisted of the provision of an out of hours 
service; specialist work with other services on consultations in relation to 
planning applications; licensing applications and Temporary Event Notices 
(TENs); construction noise; and a triage system to  deal with complaints  
efficiently.  It was highlighted that TENs and complaints of noise nuisance 
arising from construction works is on the increase. 

 
4.2 Councillor Stops highlighted the issue of noise nuisance emanating from 

religious premises, in particular from some churches on Saturday mornings. Mr 
Scales said that the team was aware of faith related noise nuisance coming 
from some BME religious premises.  Following the Council seminars held with 
all faith groups, a noise management plan had been agreed with the relevant 
faith groups to maintain faith related noise to a minimum by encouraging 
measures such as closing doors and lowering the volume of equipment. To 
continue the progress in reducing this particular nuisance the Council planned 
to hold six monthly seminars.   

 
4.3 Councillor Stops sought clarification regarding the triage system.  Mr Scales 

said that noise nuisance impacted on residents’ quality of life and that the triage 
system involved working with other agencies to identify victims of repeated 
public nuisance. A repeat offender of public nuisance would be issued a 
warning letter and the complaint would be informed. If there were several 
complainants reporting a public nuisance then the case would be escalated to 
an officer.   

 
4.4 Councillor Burke asked whether the noise regulations apply to public nuisance 

at religious festivals. Ms Scales confirmed that that noise nuisance emanating 
from religious festivals could fall within the definition of statutory nuisance. 
Councillor Burke commented that The Inter Faith Network is an organisation 
that pro-actively works with faith groups and that this organisation could assist 
with addressing the noise nuisance from religious premises. 

 
4.5 Councillor Sharer enquired with regard to the complaints of traffic and vehicles 

noise nuisance.   Mr Scales stated that this related to general vehicular noise 
and although the complaints were recorded the Council had no powers to tackle 
this particular issue.  

 
4.6 Councillor Sharman welcomed the report, however, he indicated that 

information was necessary in relation to future plans for the service identifying 
targets and resources. Councillor Sharman asked if the Community Safety 
Team and Planning Services had sufficient resources in place to meet the 
future demands on the service especially with the rise in construction related 
noise nuisance due to the regeneration taking place in the borough.   

 
4.7 Mr Bending advised that there had been a reduction in staffing since 2013/14 

and that the team held data on staff for the previous five years.  Furthermore, a 
project team was currently reviewing the enforcement arrangements for 
pollution, noise and anti-social behaviour in order to unify and make the service 
more efficient.  The new enforcement service would mean fewer resources 

Page 2



Thursday, 18th February, 2016  
were necessary.  Finally, the future plans for the service included providing an 
effective initial response to complaints of nuisance, a robust out of hours 
service and a triage system enabling a complaint to be referred to the relevant 
specialist officer if appropriate.  

 
4.8 Councillor Sharman indicated that reports presented to the Committee should 

incorporate a section in relation to the past and present plans for the service. 
 
4.9 Councillor Fajana–Thomas enquired whether complaints of construction related 

noise nuisance should be reported to Planning or the Community Safety Team.  
Mr Scales explained that Planning had very limited powers in relation to 
construction nuisance and that the Community Safety Team had limited powers 
and could take action where construction related noise nuisance occurred at 
unsocial hours and in relation to any anti-social behaviour of workers on 
construction sites. 

 
4.10 Councillor Hanson asked if the Council retained a register of construction 

waivers as notices were not always placed at construction sites.  Mr Scales 
indicated that he would look into whether a register existed, however officers 
liaised with site managers regularly to minimise noise nuisance and negotiate 
delivery times for materials.        
 
ACTION: Barry Scale to ascertain if a register exists and feedback to Cllr 
Hanson.  

 
4.11 Councillor Burke asked if the data already collated for services could be used to 

determine the demands of the new service and future resource requirements.  
Mr Bending advised that it would be possible to carry out an analysis based on 
the new methodology but that there were risks involved in operating two 
separate systems. 

 
4.12 The Chair stated that the data within the report was good however she 

supported the comments regarding the style, presentation and contents of the 
Corporate Committee reports and requested a review of the report template.  
Mr Bending indicated that future plans for the service would be incorporated in 
future reports.  Mr Scales advised that a general overview would be appropriate 
as it would be difficult to set future targets due to the ongoing service review. 

 
4.13 Members indicated that the report needed to incorporate a section detailing the 

future of the service to enable a better understanding of future needs and 
targets to compare the performance of the service against the Council’s 
priorities. 

 
4.14 The Chair advised that a meeting had taken place with the Deputy Mayor to 

address the style and contents of Corporate Committee reports. 
 

RESOLVED to note the contents of this report. 
 

5 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE BOROUGH WIDE DESIGNATED PUBLIC 
PLACES ORDER  

 
5.1 Barry Scales introduced the report on annual review of the borough wide 

Designated Public Place Order (DPPO) introduced in May 2010 and now 

Page 3



Thursday, 18th February, 2016  
superseded by the Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), Crime and Policing Act 2014.  
He provided a brief background and advised that the DPPO would transition 
into a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) on 19th October 2017.  Mr Scales 
indicated that since the introduction of the DPPOs there had been a significant 
reduction in incidents of anti-social behaviour and street drinking.   

 
5.2 Councillor Sharer enquired about the maximum time an Anti-social Behaviour 

Order had been issued for.  Mr Scales stated that an order had been granted 
previously for 15 years but under the new system orders would not be granted 
for such long periods.  Mr Scales highlighted that all efforts were made to 
engage with the individual prior to any enforcement action being taken. 

 
5.3 Councillor Kennedy enquired about the work of the Thames Reach charity. Mr 

Scales stated that that the organisation’s work was intelligence led and it 
offered a front facing service supporting street drinkers.  Councillor Kennedy 
asked how many street drinkers continued to have substance abuse issues 
after receiving support.   Mr Bending responded that there were a few 
individuals for various reasons that continued to have issues despite receiving 
support.   

 
5.4 Councillor Fajana- Thomas asked how street drinkers were identified and the 

future plans to tackle this issue.  Mr Bending indicated that some street drinkers 
had been brought to the Council’s attention whilst others had been identified 
from an accommodation database.  Mr Bending advised that work had been 
undertaken to identify anti-social behaviour hotspots and action plans were now 
in place with partner organisations to address this issues.  Mr Bending added 
that once an individual had been identified agencies with varying powers 
worked collectively and some individuals were referred to third sector 
organisations.  

 
5.5 Councillor Burke queried whether there would be an automatic transition from 

DPPOs to PSPOs in October 2017.  Mr Scales stated that government 
guidance on the transition was unclear and that Legal Services were currently 
working on this issue.  Councillor Burke requested the inclusion of an update 
including the implications of the PSPOs in the next annual report.  

 
ACTION: Steve Bending - An update on PSPOs to be incorporated in the next 
annual report.  

 
5.6 Councillor Burke referred to pages 20 and 21 of the report and asked why the 

police figure had increased despite a decline in the Council figures on street 
drinkers.  Mr Bending clarified that the increase had been the result of more 
street drinkers in the borough and insufficient police resources to meet the 
demands of these individuals. In addition fewer complaints had also been 
reported to the Council. 

 
5.7 Councillor Fajana–Thomas asked if the DPPOs had contributed to the reduction 

in street drinkers.  Mr Bending indicated that the reduction had been the result 
of the DPPOs and a collective approach by multiple agencies.  

 
5.8 Councillor Stops enquired whether the boards erected at Picture House were 

permanent. Mr Bending advised that the area had been boarded temporarily to 

Page 4



Thursday, 18th February, 2016  
prevent street drinkers occupying the space and would be reviewed if 
appropriate.  

 
5.9 Councillor Brett asked if the Council would have more powers under the new 

PSPO to tackle street drinking.  Mr Bending stated that under the PSPO more 
collaborative work would be undertaken with other agencies to address the 
issue. They would provide support and issue warnings to address drinker’s 
behaviour prior to any enforcement action being taken.   

 
5.10 The Chair indicated that future reports should include information on the future 

of the service including targets and resource requirements. Cllr Sharman 
indicated that it was necessary to review the Corporate Committee report 
template to ensure that the Committee report provided the information the   
Committee required to undertake its role.   

      
ACTION: To liaise with the Chair to update the Corporate Committee report 
template 

 
RESOLVED to note the contents of this report. 
 

6 WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17  
 
6.1 Councillor Sharman commented that the Trading Standards and Food Safety 

reports were not included in the draft work programme.  
 
6.2 The Chair indicated that a pre-meeting prior to agenda publication would be 

useful.  
 
RESLOVED to note the draft work programme 2016/17. 
 

7  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR IS 
URGENT  

 
7.1 Cllr Stops reported that the Transport for London will be adopting a zero 

tolerance to A Boards in areas of Hackney. 
 

Duration of the meeting: 6.30  - 8.15 pm  
 
 
Contact: 
Rabiya Khatun 
Governance Services Officer 
020 8356 6279 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE EXTRAORDINARY 
CORPORATE COMMITTEE 

 
WEDNESDAY, 25TH MAY, 2016 

 
Councillors Present:  
 

Councillor Jessica Webb in the Chair 

 Cllr Brian Bell, Cllr Will Brett, Cllr Barry Buitekant, 
Cllr Jon Burke, Cllr Robert Chapman, 
Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Katie Hanson, Cllr Christopher Kennedy, 
Cllr Sally Mulready, Cllr Rebecca Rennison, 
Cllr Ian Sharer, Cllr Nick Sharman and 
Cllr Vincent Stops 

  
Apologies:  
 

Councillor Michael Levy 

  
1 Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair of the Corporate Committee  
 

Councillor Katie Hanson proposed that Councillor Jessica Webb be elected 
Chair of the Corporate Committee for the 2016/17 Municipal Year. This was 
duly seconded by Councillor Will Brett.  

 
There were no other nominations.  
 
RESOLVED that Cllr Jessica Webb be elected to serve as Chair of the 
Corporate Committee for the 2016/17 Municipal Year. 

 
Councillor Will Brett proposed that Councillor Susan Fajana-Thomas be elected 
Vice-Chair of the Corporate Committee for the 2016/17 Municipal Year. This 
was duly seconded by Councillor Katie Hanson.  
 
There were no other nominations.   

 
RESOLVED that Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas be elected to serve as Vice-Chair 
of the Corporate Committee for the 2016/17 Municipal Year. 

 
 
2 Establishment and Composition of the following Sub-Committees  
 

The establishment and composition of the Planning Sub-Committee to be 
agreed at the next Extraordinary Corporate Committee. 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE EXTRAORDINARY 
CORPORATE COMMITTEE 

 
WEDNESDAY, 8TH JUNE, 2016 

 
Councillors Present:  
 

Councillor Jessica Webb in the Chair 

 Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Katie Hanson, Cllr Christopher Kennedy, 
Cllr Michael Levy, Cllr M Can Ozsen and 
Cllr Ian Sharer 

  
  
1 Establishment and Composition of the following Sub-Committees  
 

RESOLVED that the establishment and membership of the Planning Sub-
Committee be approved, as set out below, for the 2016/17 Municipal Year:- 

 
Councillor Will Brett 
Councillor Barry Buitekant 
Councillor Susan Fajana-Thomas 
Councillor Katie Hanson 
Councillor Christopher Kennedy 
Councillor Michael Levy 
Councillor M Can Ozsen  
Councillor Ian Sharer 
Councillor Vincent Stops 

 
Substitutes 

 
Councillor Dawood Akhoon 
Councillor Brian Bell 
Councillor Laura Bunt 
Councillor Mete Coban 
Councillor Michael Desmond  
Councillor Abraham Jacobson 
Councillor Sem Moema 
Councillor Benzion Papier 

 
 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
CORPORATE COMMITTEE 
MEETING DATE  2016/17 

 
14 July 2016 
 
  
 

 
CLASSIFICATION:  
 
Open  
 
If exempt, the reason will be listed in the 
main body of this report. 

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED 
 
All Wards 
 
 
GROUP DIRECTOR Kim Wright, Neighbourhoods and Housing 
 
 

 

  
 
  

TITLE OF REPORT 
 
FOOD LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICE PLAN 2016/17 
 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 The Food Law Enforcement Service Plan (FLESP) is a statutory plan which 
sets out how the Council will undertake enforcement of food safety legislation. 
 

1.2 The Plan is prepared in accordance with the Food Standards Agency’s (FSA) 
Framework Agreement template as amended April 2010, and is an important 
part of the process to ensure that national food safety priorities and standards 
are addressed and delivered locally. It also focuses on key deliverables; 
provides an essential link with financial planning; provides objectives for the 
future including identifying major issues that cross service boundaries; and 
provides a means of managing performance and making performance 
comparisons. 
 

1.3 The Food Law Enforcement Service Plan sets out the objectives of the 
service and demonstrates how they are linked to the Mayor’s Priorities and 
Hackney’s Sustainable Community Strategy. It also sets out the key areas of 
food law enforcement, the management arrangements, the resources that 
have been allocated for this work by the local authority and the key targets. 
 

1.4 The performance of the Food Safety Service is measured against its fulfilment 
of the Plan and the percentage of broadly compliant premises within the 
Borough.  
 

1.5 The FSA continues to monitor the performance of the Service through the 
annual enforcement data returns made to the FSA via the Local Authority 
Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS). 
 
 

2 RECOMMENDATION(S)  
 

2.1 The Corporate Committee is recommended:  
 

2.1.1 to approve the Food Law Enforcement Service Plan 2016/17;  
2.1.2 to approve the level and scope of work being carried out to meet the 

requirements of the plan. 
 
 

3 REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1 The Food Standards Agency recommends that food service plans are 
submitted for Member approval to ensure local transparency and 
accountability. 
 
 

4 BACKGROUND 
 

4.1 The plan sets out the inspection programme for the Borough’s food premises 
for 2016/17. This year’s programme currently (as of 1 April 2016) has 1024 
food hygiene and 1157 food standards interventions due. The number of 

Page 12



 

 

inspections due is based on the premises risk rating which is determined at a 
primary inspection.  
 

4.2 Achievements in 2015/16 
 

4.2.1 Food premises are categorised according to risk from the highest risk 
(Category A) to the lowest risk (Category E) in respect of food hygiene 
inspections, and from the highest risk (Category A) to the lowest risk 
(Category C) in respect to food standards inspections. As food hygiene 
inspections are the main driver for the service’s inspection programme this 
means that medium and low risk food standards inspections are carried out 
when the hygiene inspection is due. 

 
4.2.2 Last year (2015/16), 100% of the high risk Category A and B food hygiene 

premises inspections and 100% of high risk Category A food standards 
premises inspections were achieved. 

 
4.2.3 On 1 April 2016, 84% of Hackney’s food premises were broadly compliant in 

food hygiene, a 5% improvement on the previous year. The Food Safety 
Service has an aspiration to increase the broad compliance during this 
performance year (2016/17). The proposed introduction of mandatory display 
of food hygiene ratings will go some way to further improving food hygiene 
compliance. 

 
4.2.4 The development of the Training Centre has proved to be successful 

delivering Level 1 – basic food hygiene training which has provided support 
particularly to new businesses and contributed to the overall improvement in 
food hygiene broad compliance in the borough. Approximately 200 food 
handlers from local food businesses and the learning trust were trained in 
2015/16, generating an income for the Service of £14.860.  

 
4.2.5 During 2016/17, the Service will further promote and build on this success and 

will be providing allergen awareness training, and an additional half day food 
hygiene refresher course.  

 
4.2.6 The service also introduced a Business Compliance Consultancy Service. 

This additional service to businesses started in Q4 2015/16 and so far has 
engaged with eight businesses to improve food safety standards and their 
compliance.  

 
4.2.7 86% business customer satisfaction which was 11% higher than the overall 

target for Regulatory Services (75%).  
 

4.2.8 The Service achieved all its performance indicator targets for 2015/16 and 
those set for 2016/17 will continue to improve the service delivered. 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 

4.3 Key Areas for Improvement/Development for the next two years (2016 – 
18) 
 

4.3.1 The service has contributed to the Regulatory Services’ ICT strategy which 
includes a review of the current functionality of Civica APP database and 
processes to deliver efficiencies and future service development 
improvements. 
 

4.3.2 The Service will further develop partnership working as a means of meeting 
challenges, delivering corporate objectives and delivering outcomes through 
innovative and collaborative working. This includes planned activities with: 
 
• the Public Health Team in respect of healthier offers in food premises and 

contributing towards Hackney’s Obesity Strategic Partnership plan; 
 
• the FSA & and other local authorities working collaboratively to reduce 

food fraud and the prevalence of illegal foods through interventions. 
 
• other local authorities as a means of sharing resources; and supporting 

HMRC in ensuring minimum and living wages are paid to those working in 
the catering and retailing businesses. The Service also will work with the 
Police on the processes for referrals to their people trafficking and 
develop a means of spotting the signs of people trafficking and slave 
labour when carrying out visits to food premises. 

 
4.3.3 The work plan for 2016/17 will be challenging in view of the ever increasing 

numbers of food premises, the need to provide greater support to food 
businesses and tackling food fraud. There will also be opportunities for the 
Service in light of the cross-cutting enforcement review which will bring about 
new ways of working. The cross-cutting enforcement review is one of seven 
cross-cutting programmes and aims to improve the Council’s enforcement 
functions by bringing together enforcement resources to ensure more 
effective and targeted enforcement and maximise the use of specialist 
resources such as the food safety service, as well as reducing regulatory 
burdens on businesses and improving the customer experience.   
 

4.4 Resources 
 

4.4.1 The service has eleven officers including two team leaders and nine 
environmental health practitioners in the environmental health team and 80% 
of their time is spent on food safety work.  
 

4.4.2 Section 5 of the plan sets out in detail the total time available to officers. The 
section also sets out the various food safety enforcement related activities 
and the length of time (in full time equivalents) that will be spent on the task 
based on the activity which that is required. 
 

4.4.3 The resources needed to fulfil the food law enforcement plan for 2016/17 are 
approximately 10.68 full time equivalents (FTE). The total number of 

Page 14



 

 

environmental health practitioners and support officers identified in the plan is 
10.30 FTE, therefore there is a shortfall of 0.38 FTE. 
 

4.4.4 The higher risk category A & B, unrated and not broadly compliant category C 
premises inspections will be prioritised. Where there may be an impact on 
lower risk rated premises, project work such as the Healthy Catering 
Commitment project, food fraud project and the targeted activities undertaken 
during multi-service action days will enable the service to address this. 

4.4.5 The capacity for the delivery of the Service will be kept under review to ensure 
that food safety is not compromised. 
 

4.5 Policy Context 
 

4.5.1 The Plan is prepared in accordance with the Food Standards Agency’s (FSA) 
Framework Agreement (2010) as amended April 2010. The FSA require all 
local authorities to produce and approve an annual plan that sets out how it is 
going to discharge its responsibilities.  
 

4.5.2 The performance of the Food Safety Service is measured against its fulfilment 
of the Plan. 
 

4.6 Equality Impact Assessment 
 

4.6.1 An equality impact assessment was carried out when the 2010/11 Food 
Safety Service Plan was produced. This identified an overall positive impact 
on race and age. The impact of The Food Safety Service Plan for 2016/17 
has been reassessed and it continues to make positive impact on race and 
age. 
 

4.6.2 The plan has a positive impact on Race because food safety is enforced 
equally across all businesses. If during the course of an intervention it is found 
that a business operator does not have English as his/her first language an 
interpreter will be brought into assist. Also food hygiene training is provided to 
food handlers working in the borough and interpreters are used for food these 
courses. Guidance material is available in a number of different languages. 
 

4.6.3 The plan has a positive impact on age because the plan is designed to 
prevent food poisoning and other food borne diseases. The impact of these 
diseases on the very young and those over 65 years is greater than in other 
age groups. 
 

4.6.4 There is a negative impact on food businesses in terms of closures and 
prosecutions however this is mitigated by advice, guidance and training which 
is offered to businesses, and premises closures and prosecutions are very 
much a last resort. All enforcement activities are carried out in accordance 
with the Food Safety Enforcement Policy and deviations from policy will be 
documented. 
 

4.7 Sustainability 
N/A 

Page 15



 

 

 
4.8 Consultations 

N/A 
 

5 COMMENTS OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND 
CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

5.1 This report recommends the Corporate Committee approve the Food Law 
Enforcement Service Plan (FLESP) 2016/17. 
 

5.2 The funding required to deliver the FLESP is £489k to fund staff and other 
running costs, including transport and external contractors. There is budgetary 
provision within the Environmental Health budget (£813k), to cover these 
costs in 2016-17. 
 

5.3 The service aims to achieve the targets in the Plan with the existing revenue 
budgets.  
 

5.4 Budgets in 2017/18 onwards may be effected by future savings plans and 
service reviews. Future service plans will be drawn up within the available 
budgets and the service manager will continue to identify internal efficiencies 
to mitigate the impact of resource constraints on the delivery of outputs. 
 
 

6 COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF LEGAL  
 

6.1 There are no legal implications arising from this Report. 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 - Food Law Enforcement Service Plan 2016/17 
Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
NONE 

 
 
Report Author 
 

Aleyne Fontenelle, Head of Projects & Regulatory 
Services 
Aleyne.fontenelle@hackney.gov.uk 
Tel: 020 8356 4918 

Comments of the Group 
Director of Finance and 
Resources 

Philip Walcott, Group Accountant 
Philip.Walcott@Hackney.gov.uk 
020 8356 2396 

Comments of the Director of 
Legal  

Pauline Campbell, Senior Lawyer – General 
Litigation 
Pauline.Campbell@Hackney.gov.uk 
Tel: 020 8356 2775 

 

Page 16



Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 

 
 
 

 
 
Food Law Enforcement
 
 
 
 

 

London Borough of Hackney

Food Law Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2016/1

Appendix 1 

 
London Borough of Hackney 

/17 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 17



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 
Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1. Highlights from 2015/16 ......................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

2. FOOD LAW SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES ......................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1. Aims and Objectives .............................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

2.2. Food Safety Service Performance Indicators for 2016-17 ...................................................................................................................... 9 

3. BACKGROUND .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

3.1. Scope of the Food Safety Service ........................................................................................................................................................ 10 

3.2. Demands on the Food Safety Service .................................................................................................................................................. 11 

3.3. Enforcement Policy .............................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

4. SERVICE DELIVERY .................................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

4.1. Interventions at Food Establishments .................................................................................................................................................. 16 

4.2. Food Hygiene Inspection Programme .................................................................................................................................................. 17 

4.3. Food Standards Inspection Programme ............................................................................................................................................... 18 

4.4. Secondary visits (Re-visits) .................................................................................................................................................................. 19 

4.5. Complaints and Service Requests ....................................................................................................................................................... 19 

4.6. Primary/Home Authority Principle ........................................................................................................................................................ 19 

4.7. Advice and Training to Businesses ...................................................................................................................................................... 20 

4.8. Food Sampling ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

4.9. Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related infectious Diseases .................................................................................... 20 

4.10. Food Safety Incidents ....................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

5. RESOURCES ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

5.1. Financial Allocation .............................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

P
age 18



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

5.3 Authorisation and Competencies in line with new requirements of CoP ............................................................................................... 25 

5.4 Staff Development Plan new requirements of the CoP ......................................................................................................................... 25 

5.5 Allocation of resources to deliver the plan ............................................................................................................................................ 25 

5.6 Resource Allocation per Activity ........................................................................................................................................................... 26 

5.7 Programmed Inspections ..................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

5.8 Alternative Enforcement Strategy (AES) .............................................................................................................................................. 27 

5.9 Re- inspections following programmed inspections .............................................................................................................................. 27 

5.10 Service requests .................................................................................................................................................................................. 27 

5.11 Infectious Diseases and Outbreak Control ........................................................................................................................................... 27 

5.12 Food Sampling ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 28 

5.13 Proactive Action Days .......................................................................................................................................................................... 28 

5.14 Food Safety Promotion ........................................................................................................................................................................ 28 

5.15 Food Hygiene Training to businesses .................................................................................................................................................. 28 

5.16 Outdoor Events .................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

5.17 Enforcement/Prosecution/Legal work (including Hygiene Improvement Notices, seizures, closures). .................................................. 29 

5.18 Technical Business Support ................................................................................................................................................................. 29 

6 QUALITY ASSESSMENT ........................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

6.1 Internal Arrangement ........................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

6.2 External Arrangements ........................................................................................................................................................................ 31 

6.3 REVIEW .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 31 

6.4 Annual Food Service Performance Data - 2012/2016 .......................................................................................................................... 31 

6.5 Identification of any variation from last years’ Service Plan (2015/16) .................................................................................................. 33 

 

P
age 19



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

This is the London Borough of Hackney’s mandatory annual plan for the effective enforcement of food safety legislation, and follows the 
national template as directed by the Food Safety Agency (FSA), through the framework agreement with Local Authorities. This plan refers 
to the food law enforcement functions undertaken by Hackney’s Neighbourhood and Housing Directorate.  

The objective of the plan is to demonstrate how the service ensures food safety in the borough. The Environmental Health Service 
undertakes the Food Safety Service and aims to deliver an intelligence-led, risk-based approach to business regulation that achieves a 
high level of consumer protection.  

This plan is a public document and will be published on the Borough’s website. It sets out the aims and objectives of the direction for the 
delivery of food safety in Hackney for 2016 – 2017, in line with the Mayor’s Priorities.  

The performance of the Food Safety Service will be measured against the fulfilment of this Plan and the percentage of broadly compliant 
premises within the Borough. Currently 84% (1 April 2016) of food premises in Hackney are broadly compliant in respect of food hygiene. 
This is up from 79% in 2015/16. The Service has an aspiration to increase this further by 5% by extending the business consultant’s role, 
seeking further efficiencies in the inspection process and with targeted initiatives in conjunction with other council services, community 
stakeholders and external agencies.  

The number of food businesses in the borough, subject to food hygiene controls, has risen from 2,535 in April 2015 to 2,954 in April 2016.  
It is anticipated that this increase in the number of food businesses will continue. This is a particular concern to the Food Safety Service as 
this places a greater demand on the Service to ensure premises are ‘fit for purpose’ and food hygiene compliant.  

Significant improvements have continued to be made in performance and quality following the Food Standards Agency audit in June 2010 
the Food Safety Service the following highlights were achieved: 

• Improved rate of compliance for food hygiene in Hackney, with 84% of premises broadly compliant has been steadily 

increasing from April 2011 (57%);  

• Robust management of unrated premises resulting reduced numbers of unrated premises in the borough to 24 (at the 

beginning of April 2016), from 145 (at the beginning of April 2014); 

• Implementation of a business consultant role engaging eight businesses paying for a range of services to address compliance 

issues; 

P
age 20



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

• Three successful prosecutions of food businesses in Hackney, including one for the sale of illegally processed meat and 

another that was heard over two weeks at Snaresbrook Crown Court relating to pests and food related issues;  

• Increased the number of FHRS 5 rated premises from 583 to 665 in 01/04/2015 – 31/03/2016;  

• Decreased the number of FHRS 0 (zero) rated premises from 22 to 9 in 01/04/2015 – 31/03/2016; 

• Further development of the training centre including a contract with the Learning Trust secured to deliver level 2 food hygiene 

training to employees working in school kitchens.  

The Food Safety Service continues to use a range of enforcement tools to improve and maintain food hygiene and safety compliance and to 
deliver a risk based approach. The service continues to move away from an “inspection for inspection’s sake” approach allowing for a lighter 
touch treatment of those premises that are broadly compliant and providing advice and education. And where necessary enforcement of those 
premises that are not broadly compliant will be taken.  

This approach is reflected in the priorities for 2016/17 which means that resources will be targeted at those premises posing the highest risk. 
Last year 100% of the higher risk food hygiene and food standards premises were inspected in line with the Food Law Code of Practice. The 
Food Safety Service also continues to work in partnership with external and internal services to enable resources to be targeted as effectively 
as possible.   

The Service will have a number of challenges in 2016/17 and over the following 3 years, managing the very different and growing demands of 
Government agencies. Along with the cross cutting review and local priorities the service will be challenged to ensure the provision of safe 
food, and the need to use resources differently, and deliver the work innovatively and collaboratively in order to maintain and increase 
inspection levels. Another challenge will be to drive up hygiene compliance along with the need to support and assist the increasing numbers of 
new business start-ups and pop-ups due to the growth of the hospitality economy in the borough. 
 
The current discussion to reduce costs across the Council will also have a bearing on the effective delivery of this service. 
 

1.1. Highlights from 2015/16 
1.1.1. Introduction of partial inspections for food hygiene and standards that are essentially focused topic-based inspections and 

undertaking food sampling as part of alternative enforcement strategies. This more targeted approach will utilise the full range of 
interventions available under the Food Law Code of Practice (April 2015) to the delivery of the inspection programme. 

  
1.1.2. The number of five rated premises in the borough has increased, from 583 premises in April 2015 to 665 premises in March 2015. 

There has been a reduction in the number of zero rated premises, from 22 to 9, in the same period. 

P
age 21



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 
1.1.3. The percentage of broadly compliant  premises in the borough has increased to 84%. The percentage of premises which are 

broadly compliant has increased significantly in the last five years, from 57% in 2011.  
 
1.1.4. An inter-borough consistency exercise between officers from the London Borough of Hackney and Waltham Forest was undertaken 

in 2015/16 at food premises within each local authority. This exercise identified matters of good practise and consistency of 
approach to the inspection and food hygiene rating scores. 

 
1.1.5. Increase in the number of delegates attending level food hygiene training from 121 in 2014/15 to 208 in 2015/16, generating an 

income of £14,860 
 

  

P
age 22



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

Mayor’s Priorities 

 

Sustainable Community Strategy 
(SCS) 

Corporate Plan 

Corporate Delivery Plan 

Divisional Business Plans 

Service Area/Team Plans 

Individual Appraisals 

2. FOOD LAW SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
2.1. Aims and Objectives 

How the Service Links to Corporate Priorities  
Hackney’s Vision: A place for everyone 

 

 

 

   

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Mayor’s Priority 1: 
 

 
Making Hackney a place where everyone can succeed, through 
a first class education, investment and jobs, and providing 
support to those who need it most. 

 
Mayor’s Priority 2: 
 

 
Making Hackney a place that everyone can enjoy, with clean, 
safe streets, excellent parks and public services and a great 
quality of life for all who live here. 

 
Mayor’s Priority 3: 
 

 
Making Hackney a place where everyone can contribute, 
through listening to residents, and involving them in the 
decisions we make and things we do. 

 

The 2008-2018 Sustainable Community Strategy has six priorities:  

1. Reduce poverty by supporting residents into sustainable employment, and 
promoting employment opportunities. 

2. Help residents to become better qualified and raise educational aspirations. 

3. Promote health and wellbeing for all, and support independent living. 

4. Make the borough safer, and help people to feel safe in Hackney.  

5. Promote mixed communities in well-designed neighbourhoods, where people can 
access high quality, affordable housing.  

6. Be a sustainable community, where all citizens take pride in and take care of 
Hackney and its environment, for future generations. 

P
age 23



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

The Food Safety Service contributes to the delivery of the following local policies and plans: 
 
Environmental Health Service: Food Safety Service - undertakes a range of food hygiene, food standards and health and 
safety interventions across all Hackney food businesses including the provision of advice and information. The team also carries 
out infectious disease investigations, investigation of food complaints and sampling work. Mayor’s Priority 2 Sustainable 
Community Strategy priority 3 & 4 
 
The Service aims to: 
 
§ Work with businesses to protect consumers from harm by ensuring that food produced, distributed and marketed in the 
borough is safe and wholesome for the consumer to eat. This will be measured by an increase in broadly compliant 
businesses, increasing the number of FHRS rated 3-5 premises and a reduction in FHRS rated 0-2 premises. 

 
§ Work with businesses to ensure that food produced, distributed and marketed in the borough meets labelling and 
compositional requirements and is presented so that consumers are not mislead as to its nature, substance or quality. This 
will be met by raising issues highlighted during visits to premises, acting on service requests and complaints, through 
promotional material where relevant and increasing enforcement for non-compliance following a graduated approach. 

 
§ Deter, detect, investigate and disrupt fraudulent activity involving food, including the illegal importation of food. This will be 
measured by restarting the food fraud project, taking an active role in local, regional and national food fraud initiatives and 
meetings, by increasing the number of action days to disrupt potential fraudulent activities and increasing enforcement for 
non-compliance following a graduated approach. 

 
§ Prevent the spread of infectious disease and food poisoning and to investigate outbreaks by working with PHE, investigating 
notifiable disease in line with agreed protocols, participating in local, regional and national initiatives and meetings. 

 
§ Provide advice and education to all sectors of the community on food safety matters and to meet the training needs of the 
businesses in Hackney with the promotion of in-house training courses and participation in national initiates such as Food 
Safety week. 

 
§ Promote the provision of healthier food to reduce health inequalities through the Healthy catering Commitment scheme. 
 
§ Work with other Services, local authorities and agencies with common objectives to provide effective enforcement. This will 
be achieved by attending local, regional and national meetings, benchmarking with neighbouring authorities and by taking 
part in internal and external partner led initiatives.  

 

P
age 24



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

§ Protect businesses from economic disadvantage caused by competitors not complying with food safety legislation and by 
following a graduated approach to enforcement. 

 
2.2.  Food Safety Service Performance Indicators for 2016-17 
 
 The service have a number of key performance indicators and the performance of the service is measured against the following:   
 
PI 
Code Short Name Frequency 

of reporting Directorate 
Achieved 
2015/16 

Annual Target 
2015/16 

Data 
Only PI 

2016/17 
Target 

NH 
PRS 
030 

% of service requests/consumer complaints 
about food businesses actioned within 10 
working days 

Quarters Neighbourhoods 
& Housing 99.6% 95.0% No 95% 

NH 
PRS 
032 

Percentage of category A and B (food 
hygiene) risk premises inspected within 28 
days   

Years Neighbourhoods 
& Housing 100% 100% No !00% 

NH 
PRS 
034 

% of Broad Compliance for food hygiene 
(accumulative) Quarters Neighbourhoods 

& Housing 79.0% 75.0% No 80% 

NH 
PRS 
035 

% of unrated food premises inspected  
excluding registered premises not yet trading Quarters 

 Neighbourhoods 
& Housing 100.0% 100.0% No 100% 

NH 
PRS 
036 

Number of unrated food premises  Quarters Neighbourhoods 
& Housing 27 N/A Yes N/A 

NH 
PRS 
046 

Satisfaction of businesses  with local 
authority Regulatory Services' inspections, 
visits, actions to ensure businesses are 
compliant 

Years Neighbourhoods 
& Housing 

N/A – new 
for 
2015/16 

75.00 % No 75% 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 25



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. Scope of the Food Safety Service 
3.1.1. The Food Safety Service is responsible for food hygiene, food standards, public health activities and health and safety in all food 

premises, and involves both planned and reactive work. 
 
3.1.2. Food Safety Service officers, hold dual warrants for food safety and health and safety, so when appropriate, health and safety 

hazard spotting and food standard inspections are carried out at the time of the primary food hygiene inspection. 
 
3.1.3. The Food Safety Service provides the following services: 
 

• Conducting official controls and other interventions at a frequency determined by Food Law Code of Practice and taking 
appropriate enforcement as necessary; 

• Working with local food businesses to help them comply with their legal responsibilities and good hygiene practice, by 
providing information, advice and guidance; 

• Prevention, control and investigating of infectious diseases, outbreaks, and food-related infectious disease and food 
poisoning associated with food businesses in Hackney in accordance with the joint infectious disease protocol, London 
Outbreak Management Plan 2012 and advice from the Consultant for Communicative Diseases Control (CCDC) and the 
Public Health Laboratory Service (PHLS), within Public Health England (PHE);  

• Undertaking sampling in accordance with our sampling policy; 
• Control of imported foods in accordance with centrally issued guidance; 
• Investigating complaints about food premises and food purchased/provided by consumers in Hackney; 
• Initiating and responding to food alerts about unsafe or unwholesome food and taking appropriate action as necessary; 
• Providing advice on training in safe food handling and hygienic practices to food handlers working in Hackney, including 

running food hygiene training courses via our training centre.  
• Processing applications for approval relating to the production of meat products, minced meat & meat preparations, dairy 

products and fishery products; 
• Carrying out activities with regard to a food safety enforcement policy in line with the central government issued guidance; 
• Undertaking food safety initiatives (Food Hygiene training and community events etc.). 

 
3.1.4. The Trading Standards Service is responsible for Feed Law enforcement to ensure safe food enters the food chain. 

 
 

P
age 26



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

3.2. Demands on the Food Safety Service
3.2.1. Premises Profile 

Hackney has 2,954 food establishments (an increase of 
Hackney are ‘restaurants and catering premises 
require support, advice and enforcement to ensure that the food they 
programme and the demand for training
5% being made up of primary producers
breakdown of the establishments is presented in the 
 

  
 
3.2.2. Outdoor Events  

The Borough hosts a large number of annual festivals and other outdoor events which attract community caterers and a large 
number of temporary caterers, pop-
range from several large events held in Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park to smaller churchyard
Borough.  

 

Primary producers Manufacturers and packers

Service 

food establishments (an increase of 419 premises since 2015/16). The majority of food businesses in 
catering premises at (65%). These are mainly sole trading micro businesses a number 
enforcement to ensure that the food they supply is safe to eat. This is reflected in the 

programme and the demand for training. Food retailers make up the second most significant group (
primary producers, food manufacturers, exporters, distributors and importers

breakdown of the establishments is presented in the chart below:  

 

hosts a large number of annual festivals and other outdoor events which attract community caterers and a large 
-ups and food producers, all of which require vetting and inspecting as necessary. These 

e events held in Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park to smaller churchyard-style events held throughout the 

0.10%

3%

0.71% 0.30%

30%

65%

Premises Profile 2016/17

Manufacturers and packers Importers & Exporters Distributors and transport Retailers

). The majority of food businesses in 
%). These are mainly sole trading micro businesses a number of which 

his is reflected in the inspection 
. Food retailers make up the second most significant group (30%), with the remaining 

importers. A summary of the 

 

hosts a large number of annual festivals and other outdoor events which attract community caterers and a large 
ups and food producers, all of which require vetting and inspecting as necessary. These 

style events held throughout the 

Restaurants & Caterers

P
age 27



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 
3.2.3. Imported Food 

As well as responding to complaints, referrals and notifications, the service carries out routine inspections and a range of 
proactive activities in premises across the Borough and in street markets that deal with the trade of illegally imported foods.  

 The Food Standards Agency has placed greater emphasis on local authority Food Safety Services to ensure controls on third 
country imported food (i.e. food imported from countries outside of the European Union). There is a high level of imported foods 
from non-EU countries entering the Borough, either directly imported by businesses or by third parties located elsewhere. Some 
of these foods can be illegal (i.e. banned from importation, processed in a way that contravenes EU legislation, or they do not 
comply with compositional or labelling requirements). Examples of this include fruit, vegetable and nuts that appear on a monthly 
warning list issued by the Food Standards Agency for investigation. This area of work has a high impact on the Service due to 
number of businesses handling low cost imports to meet the high consumer demand. This food, however, gives rise to a risk to 
human health and where necessary it is removed from sale and enforcement action taken. The Food Standards Agency has 
supported the Food Safety Service in improving controls on third country imported food sold in the Borough and to identify those 
imported foods that may have been brought into the Borough illegally to protect public health and animal health. This has led to 
increased related work activities such as sampling and surveillance activities. 

3.2.4. New Businesses  
 
The number of food businesses in the Borough, subject to food hygiene controls, has risen by approximately 17% from 2,535 in 
April 2015 to 2954 in April 2016. It is anticipated that this increase in the number of food businesses will continue, and is of a 
particular concern to the Food Safety Service as they place a greater demand on the Service, to ensure that these premises 
remain ‘fit for purpose’ and food hygiene compliant as they vary their supply of food. In addition, there are a number of 
temporary food businesses and ‘pop ups’ who open and then ceased trading within a short period of time. The service manages 
a programme of inspections for all new/unrated food premises to ensure their hygiene compliance is assessed 

 
3.2.5. Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 
 

Hackney participates in the national Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). The scheme is designed to give the public 
information about local food businesses so that they can make informed choices about where they eat locally (and nationally). 
As a result the scheme allows for greater transparency for consumers and businesses due to work conducted by Hackney Food 
Safety Service. It also recognises those businesses that are operating to a good standard and aims to provide an incentive to 
those businesses that have not made food safety a priority. 
 

P
age 28



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

This Service is very supportive of this scheme and in 2015/16 Hackney took part in the Food Standards Agency consultation on 
the mandatory display of the FHRS rating sticker at food premises as a means of allowing consumers make informed choices, 
and driving up standards and the economy in Hackney. The scheme is likely to be made mandatory in January 2017. 
 
Following an inspection, a business can be given one of the following FHRS ratings and uploaded on the National FHRS 
website (http://ratings.food.gov.uk) which can be accessed by businesses and consumers. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
3.2.6. Broad Compliance with Food Safety Legislation  

At 1 April 2016, 84% of premises were found to be broadly compliant with food hygiene. This figure has increased from 79% in 
2015/16. The most appropriate enforcement action will continue to be used to deal with premises that are non-compliant 
following a primary inspection as a means of driving up full compliance and delivering sustainable improvements. 

 

.  
 

57%

71% 73% 74%
79%

84%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

April 2011 April 2012 April 2013 April 2014 April 2015 April 2016

% Broadly Compliance in Food Hygiene

           

P
age 29



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 
 
 
3.2.7. Food Fraud Project 

The Service has routinely dealt with the occurrence of food fraud in the Borough, undertaking enforcement activities to remove 
illegal food from the food chain. This takes place during routine food inspections, following a complaint or service request or as 
part of proactive enforcement days undertaken by the Service.  

 

This Service was awarded a grant of £170,000 by the Food Standards Agency to tackle food fraud in Hackney. The project was 
set out over five phases and started in April 2014. The 15-month project was developed to provide a strategy and protocol so 
that food fraud could be tackled in a proactive manner in Borough. It will be delivered by working extensively with food 
businesses, multi-regulatory services and multi-agencies, local authorities across London and consumers to bring about 
behavioural change and compliance in respect of food fraud to protect public health. 

 
Phases 1 & 2 of the project were completed. However, the project was unable to move to phase three due to operational issues 
and the project stalled in 2015. A recent meeting with the FSA in April 2016 agreed a way forward that both sides would work to. 
Phase 3 is currently being reviewed with a view to restarting the project in Q2 2016/17. The revision is intended to look at further 
means of gathering further intelligence on illegal activities and will involve further partnership working and intelligence gathering 
from other services, the use of directed surveillance, re-engaging with the traders to support and encourage whistle--blowing 
and engaging with the relevant traders associations and increasing enforcement to include an increased number of action days. 

 
3.2.8. Additional Priorities and Partnership Working 

North East Sector Food Liaison Group: The authority participates in the North East Sector London Food Liaison Group, part of 
the Association of London Environmental Health Managers. Information is then exchanged with the London Food Coordinating 
group. General issues concerning policy, regulation and enforcement are discussed at this forum. 

 

Events and partnership Group: The Food Safety Service participates in the Hackney Events Action Team (HEAT); and will 
continue to undertake joint working initiatives with Community Safety, Licensing, Events and Public Realm teams and other 
internal and external organisations including the Metropolitan Police to tackle emerging issues and regulatory non-compliance.  

 

Mobile Vending Operators: The Food Safety Service will continue to monitor increases of such premises in Hackney via the food 
premises registration process, complaints, referrals and surveys. In the past year this Service has engaged with the new 
markets manager and both sides agree that a closer working partnership would be beneficial to increase compliance across the 
markets.  The Service will continue to work closely with the Markets and Street Trading Services and deal with non-compliance 
through existing programmes and initiatives and by developing joint strategies. 

P
age 30



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 

This Service will support the work of HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC), and work with partners on observance of National 
Minimum Wage (NMW) in Hackney to raise awareness with employers and workers to ensure the payment of at least the 
minimum wage.  (NMW): Hackney is committed to ensuring at least the NMW is paid by employers and the Service will continue 
to work with internal services and external agencies for this purpose. This will include joint operations at premises identified for 
potentially not meeting their obligation. 

 

Liaisons with other Organisations: The Council actively participates in liaising  with a number of other local authorities, agencies 
and professional organisations in order to facilitate consistent enforcement, share good practice and reduce duplication of work. 

 
3.2.9. Promotional Campaigns 

The Service will continue to publish information, to improve food hygiene and safety awareness within the food business 
community and the local consumer population and maintain a positive relationship with the media to raise the profile of the Food 
Safety Service.  
 
The Food Safety Service will carry out food safety promotional work through participation in national and local campaigns and 
local projects, subject to available resources. 
 
The Service, via the Corporate Communications team, will look to tweet the names of premises achieving a FHRS rating of 5 
each month. 
 

3.2.10. Training Centre 
The continuation of the Training Centre will also improve food hygiene broad compliance as this facility will support businesses 
by making food hygiene training accessible to food businesses in the borough and particularly to those that are not compliant or 
are subject to enforcement action due to the serious risks of their food operation. The training is promoted to food businesses 
through the Council website and the distribution of flyers to new and existing businesses. 
 
In 2016/17 the service will continue to offer training in Food Hygiene, but will look to expand the range of courses offered to 
include Allergen training, ½ day food hygiene refresher course and Level 3 Food Hygiene training. The Service will also look at 
developing a training programme for markets and pop-up vendors. 

 
3.3. Enforcement Policy 
3.3.1. The Food Safety Service recognises that whilst businesses look to maintain their reputation and wish to maximize profits, they 

also seek in most instances to be on the right side of legal requirements without incurring excessive expenditure and 
administrative burdens. So, in considering enforcement action, the service will assist food businesses to meet their legal 

P
age 31



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

obligations without unnecessary expense, whilst taking firm action that may include prosecution or other formal action, where 
appropriate, against those who disregard the law or act irresponsibly. 

 
3.3.2. The published Food Safety Enforcement Policy, which follows a graduated approach, outlines all enforcement action to be carried 

out by officers in relation to food safety legislation, seeks to ensure that formal enforcement is focused where there is a real risk to 
public health and that officers carry out actions in a fair, practical and consistent manner. All authorised officers will follow the 
Food Safety Enforcement Policy when making enforcement decisions.  

 
3.3.3. The Food Safety Enforcement Policy, takes account of the principles of the Enforcement Concordat, the Regulator’s Code, FSA’s 

guidance, and has regard to Crown Prosecution Service guidelines and Equality Impact issues. The Plan will allow the use of 
resources more effectively in assessing high risk activities whilst delivering benefits to low risk and compliant businesses. 

 
3.3.4. The Service will generally seek to recover from businesses the costs associated with any additional official controls (such as 

emergency closures of food businesses).  
 

4. SERVICE DELIVERY 
 
4.1. Interventions at Food Establishments  
4.1.1. The Food Safety Service will employ a full, partial or range of interventions to assist in raising the compliance rate and achieve 

broad compliance in food premises. Interventions include sampling, monitoring, surveillance, education or verification visits and 
should enable a lighter touch for compliant premises, and also enable additional resources to be targeted on non-compliant 
premises in line with the Regulator’s Compliance Code. 

 
4.1.2. Food hygiene inspections are the main driver for performance of the Food Safety Service, as a result of the priority setting and the 

scrutiny of the performance of the Service by the FSA, and local and national indicators. Inspections are allocated to officers who 
are appropriately qualified and authorized in accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice. 

   
4.1.3. Following a primary inspection of each food business, a risk category is assigned based on the type of food business and the type 

of food it handles as well as the conditions found at the time of the inspection. Category ‘A’ and ‘B’ rated premises pose the greatest 
risk and these are therefore inspected at a greater frequency. 

 
4.1.4. In 2016/2017, the numbers of Category A and B premises due for inspection, along with the new and unrated premises and ‘not’ 

broadly compliant C rated premises, will meet with the FSA’s intervention strategy and their concept for risk based prioritisation for 
food hygiene inspections. The programme of inspection for food standard inspections will do the same. 

P
age 32



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 

4.2. Food Hygiene Inspection Programme 
4.2.1. Food hygiene inspections are given priority in accordance with Food Law Code of Practice and associated Practice Guidance, 

issued by the FSA and in line with Hackney’s Food Safety Service, Food Hygiene Inspections and Food Standards Procedures. 
Therefore, the majority of resources allocated to food safety are devoted to planned primary inspections for food hygiene purposes. 

 
4.2.2. In accordance with centrally-issued guidance on interventions, the Service aims to inspect the highest risk premises category A-B 

premises and all not broadly compliant category C premises, and any not broadly compliant category D premises that are due. In 
addition new and unrated premises will be inspected within the annual inspection cycle. Backlogs will also be incorporated into the 
annual inspection cycle and addressed through use of a range of intervention tools and alternative strategies. All remaining 
category D premises will be addressed by other official controls, interventions or Alternative Enforcement Strategy (AES). Any 
increase in demand for food inspections has until now been met by adjusting the inspection target and directing resources so that 
new/unrated premises and higher risk category A and B premises are inspected as a priority, and includes any of these categories 
that form part of the backlog. This is likely to continue. 

 
4.2.3. Partial inspections will be conducted on broadly compliant category C premises, in line with in the Food Law Code of Practice. This 

will reduce the burden on businesses and concentrate resources on the non-compliant businesses. However, a full inspection will 
be carried out if a compliant business is not in control of risks or a public health risk is identified.  

 
Table 1. The number and types of food businesses and their risk rating planned for food hygiene inspections 2016/2017 

 
Inspection Rating Number of food hygiene 

inspections due 
The frequency of inspection is 
for Category:  
A: every 6 months (2 
inspections a year) 
B: every 12 months 
C: every 18 months 
D: every 2 years 
E: every 3 years 
The category for premises 
classed as unrated is 
determined at the first visit and 
can be A-E.  
 
Category E premises may be 
dealt with using an alternative 
enforcement strategy (AES).  

A 21 x 2 = 42 
B  331 
C  648 (157 NBC**) 
D   912* (60 NBC**) 
E  358* 
New/Unrated premises carried over from 2015/16 24 
New/Unrated premises estimated opening during the 
year (2016/17) 

350 

Total due for an official intervention 2016/17 (incl 
broadly compliant C rated premises) 

1455 

Total due for Non-Official Interventions/AES 
2016/17* (5% of total) 

60 

Total Inspections due for 2015/16 excl broadly 1024 

P
age 33



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

complaint C rated premises. 
*relates to those premises subject to non-official interventions 
**NBC = Not Broadly Complaint premises, which are not broadly compliant with food hygiene legislation.  

 
4.2.4. The Food Safety Service aims to inspect all due category A & B premises all unrated/new premises and not broadly compliant C & 

D premises will be inspected as a priority in the months for which they are due.  
 
4.2.5. New premises will be added to the inspection programme as the service becomes aware of them, as these premises count against 

the overall broad compliance percentage and hygiene rating. 
 

4.2.6. Compliant Category D and E premises will be assessed in line with the alternative enforcement strategy involving a mixture of self-
assessment and focused topic partial inspections.  

 
4.2.7. Any complaint, received against a premises risk rated C or D will result in a Food Hygiene inspection.  

 
 

4.3. Food Standards Inspection Programme  
 

4.3.1. Table 2. The number and types of food businesses and their risk rating planned for food standards inspections 2016/17  
 

Inspection Rating 
 

Number of food standards 
inspections due  

The frequency of inspection for 
Category: 
A: every 12 months 
B: every 2 years 
C: every 5 years 
 
The category for premises 
classed as unrated is determined 
at the first visit and can be A-C.  
 
Category C premises may be 
dealt with using an alternative 
enforcement strategy (AES)   

A 19 
B 648 
C  182* 
New/Unrated premises carried over from 2014/15 24 
New/Unrated premises estimated opening during the 
year(2015/16) 

350 

Total Inspections due for inspection 2015/16 1,330 
Total due for Non-Official Interventions/AES 2015/16* 
(5% of total) 

9 

Total due for an official intervention 2015/16  1050 

*relates to those premises subject to non-official interventions 
 

4.3.2. All Category A premises will be inspected as they pose the highest risk.   
 

P
age 34



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

4.3.3. Lower risk category B premises will be inspected at the same time as the planned food hygiene inspections. 
 

4.3.4. Category C premises will be assessed as part of an alternative enforcement strategy involving self-assessment. Category C 
premises will be inspected if they give rise to a complaint.   

 
4.4. Secondary visits (Re-visits) 
4.4.1. Officers will undertake additional visits to premises where follow-up/formal enforcement action is required as a result of serious 

contraventions found at the time of a primary (programmed) visit or where a contravention is not remedied through informal 
measures.  A secondary visit will consist of one or more intervention activity.  

 
4.4.2. Primary inspections resulting in advice to food business operators about minor technical contraventions will not receive a secondary 

visit. 
 
4.4.3. Secondary visits will be carried out where significant breaches have been identified. It is anticipated that no more than 30% of 

planned inspections will result in a secondary visit. 
 

4.5. Complaints and Service Requests 
4.5.1. The Food Safety Service aims to investigate all food complaints concerning extraneous matter, chemical or microbiological 

contamination, unfitness and food alleged to have caused food poisoning, relating to food purchased within Hackney. 
 

4.5.2. The Service will take receipt of all such complaints in accordance with its food and food premises policy and procedure and will 
pass on those that are the responsibility of other authorities to investigate. 

 
4.5.3. It is expected that approximately 700 food safety related service requests will be received during 2016/17. 
 
4.6. Primary/Home Authority Principle 
4.6.1. The Service is committed to the Primary/Home Authority Principle, i.e. the relationship between a food business and local 

authority where the decision making base (i.e. head office) of the company is located.  
 

4.6.2. Currently Hackney has no Primary Authority Partnership arrangements but continues to act in an informal capacity with a number 
of manufacturers, importers and wholesalers in the borough, as a Home Authority.  

 
4.6.3. The principles of the Primary Authority Scheme are set out in the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008, and are part 

of the Government’s regulatory reform strategy led by the Hampton Report and Macrory Review that emphasised reducing 
burdens on businesses, and a focus on outcomes respectively.  

P
age 35



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 
4.6.4. The Food Safety Service will seek to establish at least one Primary Authority Partnership agreement through collaborative 

working with Better Regulatory Delivery Office (BRDO). 
 

4.7. Advice and Training to Businesses 
4.7.1. The Food Safety Service has produced standards which along with the Food Safety Enforcement Policy outlines the Service’s 

commitment to advising and supporting businesses to comply with the legal responsibilities and good food hygiene and food 
standard practices. 

 
4.7.2. The Service will give assistance to food businesses when requested to help them to comply with the law and to encourage the 

use of best practice. The Service is also proactive in supporting businesses and will continue to: 
 

• Provide advice during routine inspections to premises; 
• Provide regular Food Hygiene Training courses for businesses to attend.  
• Provide information on the Hackney.gov.uk website with the purpose of providing advice to food business operators and 
consumers.  http://www.hackney.gov.uk/e-env-environmental-health.htm   

 
4.8. Food Sampling 
4.8.1. A programme of food sampling will be carried out. Sampling may also be carried out in response to complaints and referrals but 

also during or following a primary inspection. All sampling is carried out in accordance with the Food Sampling Policy and 
Procedure.  

 
4.8.2. The food sampling programme for 2016/2017 will be developed to include London Food Co-ordinating Group (LFCG), FSA and 

Public Health England (PHE) programmes, the Food Sector Group projects and local issues. 
 

4.8.3. The authority has access to two official food control laboratories, one for microbiological examination of food (Food Water and 
Environmental Microbiology Laboratory) and one for food analysis (Public Analyst Scientific Services Ltd). 
 

4.9. Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related infectious Diseases 
4.9.1. The Food Safety Service will investigate all food poisoning outbreaks and notifications occurring in the borough in accordance 

with the Public Health England/Local Authority Joint Infectious Disease Protocol and internal procedures.  
 

P
age 36



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

4.9.2. The Consultant in Communicable Disease Control (CCDC) at the North East (NE) and North Central (NC) London, Health 
Protection Team of Public Health England to act as Proper Officer for the purposes of control and management of infectious 
diseases.  

 
4.9.3. There were no major outbreaks in 2015/2016 that warranted any detailed investigations. The majority of referrals (322) were 

isolated cases where the source of the infection did not present a significant or wide spread risk and other than a routine 
intervention no further action was required. 

 
4.9.4. There have been no contingency resources identified for dealing with an outbreak identified for 2016/2017. 

 
4.10. Food Safety Incidents  
4.10.1. The Food Safety Service has arrangements in place to ensure that it is able to implement the requirements Food Law Code of 

Practice in respect of Food Alerts.  
 
4.10.2. A Food Alert ‘for Action’ will be issued by the FSA where intervention by enforcement authorities is required and is often issued 

in conjunction with a product withdrawal or recall by a manufacturer, retailer or distributor. All urgent food alerts receive 
immediate attention. Outside office hours the emergency contact arrangements will be used. 

 

4.10.3. In 2015/16 the service received 80 food alerts “for action” and a similar number are anticipated this year. 
 
4.10.4. There have been no contingency resources identified for dealing with food alerts for 2016/17. 

 

4.11. Key Areas for Improvement/Development for the next two years 
 

What we will do Purpose when 
Delivery of a targeted risk-based approach for all 
planned food hygiene and food standards 
interventions 

To ensure good food safety standards in food 
premises in the district to reduce the likelihood of 
food poisoning incidents. 

Targets reviewed 
and set annually  

Checks of food premises that at their last 
intervention were ceased trading and therefore 
recorded as closed.  

To ensure that the premises database is accurate 
and up to date and in readiness for the mobile 
working programme. 
 

2016/17 

Delivery of continued improvements on use of 
database and to identify efficiencies in processes 

To contribute to the corporate ICT programmes, to 
improve the efficiency of the service delivery 

2016/18 

P
age 37



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

in line with the Regulatory Services ICT strategy 
and associated road map 
Review of procedures and quality monitoring 
processes of service activities and internal auditing 
against Standards and the FSA Framework 
agreement.  

To build capacity and ensure the delivery of the food 
service is ‘fit for purpose’, fair, practical and 
consistent and able to withstand a challenge 

2016/17 

Ramp-up follow-up and range of interventions 
including formal enforcement activities in respect of 
not broadly compliant premises  

To reduce the likelihood of food poisoning and 
significant risk of injury to public health; to improve 
the percentage of broadly compliant premises and 
achieve aspirational targets for food premises 
hygiene broad compliance 

2016/18 

Deliver the Alternative Enforcement Strategy (AES) 
for low risk premises  

To monitor change of activities and maintain food 
safety compliance 

Targets reviewed 
and set annually 

Deliver the Healthy Catering Commitment in 
partnership with the Public Health team 

To deliver Hackney’s Obesity Strategic Partnership 
plan and reduce health inequalities. 

2016/18 

Delivery of Food Fraud interventions to ensure the 
provision of safer, healthier and sustainable food 

To reduce illegal foods through interventions: 
 
Continuation of FSA funded Food Fraud Project and 
revised phase 3 action plan 
 
To work collaboratively with the FSA & City of 
London to deliver illegal meat training for London 
authorities. 
 
To lead Pan-London Illegal Foods Group. 

 
 
 
2016/17 
 
 
2016/17 
 
 
 
2016/18 

Educate and support to businesses To develop and deliver training courses to food 
businesses including market traders and mobile 
traders through the training centre 
 
To develop a plan to identify and approach a number 
of businesses in order to establish at least one 
primary authority agreement. 
  
To market and further develop the business 
compliance consultancy to assist business 

2016/17 
 
 
 
 
2016/18 
 
 
 
 

P
age 38



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

compliance, improvement and growth. 2016/18 
Food hygiene registration To ensure that all new food businesses are 

inspected in a timely manner to limit the negative 
impact on the broadly compliance figure and risk to 
public health. 

2016/17 

Effective partnership working To support the work of HMRC, the Police, 
Immigration and other relevant internal and external 
partners on observance of National Minimum 
Wage/National Living wage in Hackney. 
 
To identify causes of nuisance arising from issues 
relating to commercial noise, odour control and 
waste management.  
 
To work with the relevant departments to establish 
indicators for human slavery and safeguarding that 
can be identified during inspections to food 
businesses. 
 
To improve consultation process for planning 
applications for new and change of use premises. 

2016/18 
 
 
 
 
 
2016/17 
 
 
 
2016/17 
 
 
 
 
2016/17 

Promote the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme To allow consumers make informed choices, and 
driving up standards and the economy: 
 
Encourage the display of ratings. 
 
Develop a scheme for recognition of businesses that 
have attained and maintain FHRS rating of 5. 
 
Establish mandatory display in accordance with FSA 
guidelines. 

2016/17 

 
 

P
age 39



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

5. RESOURCES 
 
5.1. Financial Allocation 
 
5.1.1. Table 3. Summary of Direct Budget Allocation 2015/16 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

*These figures are 80% of the total amounts for each budget heading based on the estimation that 
the service spends 80% of its time undertaking food hygiene work.  

 
5.2 Resources for 2016/17  - Staffing Allocations 
 
5.2.1 The staffing for food safety function for 2016/17 is as follows: 

 
1.6 FTE x Team Leader (TL) 

5.60 FTE x Senior Environmental Health Officer (S/EHO/EHSO)   

0.80 FTE x Principal Commercial Standards Officer (CSO)   

0.80 FTE x Environmental Health Compliance Officer  

1.50 FTE x Technical Business Support 

Total staffing resources = 10.3 FTE 
 

Budget Heading Food Safety Allocation   

Staff (including on costs) £471,286* 

Transport   £15,328* 

External Contractors (Funds all food sampling activities) £16,025 

Supplies & Services £17,776* 

Total £488,890* P
age 40



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

5.3 Authorisation and Competencies in line with new requirements of CoP 
5.3.1 All officers are authorised in accordance with the Authorisation, Induction and Training Procedure and their competencies assessed 

against the framework contained therein. 
 
5.4 Staff Development Plan new requirements of the CoP 
5.4.1 There is a Corporate Staff Annual Appraisal and Development scheme, and at the start of the year all staff will have their own 

personal plan which comprises their main objective for the year with targets and their own development plan. 
 
5.4.2 All staff are appraised in accordance with the scheme, and their development needs assessed. Records of all identified training 

needs are recorded and incorporated into a training plan.  In addition, staff also receive regular one-to-ones/supervision 
meetings whereby competencies and development needs are discussed and assessed and adjustments are made to training 
plan where possible and appropriate. 

 
5.4.3 All training records are maintained in accordance with the Authorisation, Induction and Training procedure.  
 
5.4.4 Officers will be assisted in achieving 20 hours’ Continual Professional Development (minimum 20 hours food law related), where 

resources permit. 
 
5.5 Allocation of resources to deliver the plan 
5.5.1 The resources required to fulfil the plan for 2016/17 is approximately 10.68 FTE. The total number of Environmental Health 

Practitioners and a support officer identified in the plan = 10.3 FTE.  
 
5.5.2 There is a shortfall of 0.38 FTE, this will not adversely impact on category A & B, unrated and non-broadly compliant C premises 

inspections as these higher risk premises are prioritised. Largely this shortfall will be will be met with the 1 x EHO resource to 
undertake the Healthy Catering Commitment project, activities carried out during action days and work undertaken as part of the 
food fraud project. The remainder will be met with service improvements and efficiencies with the application of a ‘system 
thinking’ approach to partial inspections and synergy work. The capacity for the delivery of the Service will be kept under review 
to ensure that food safety is not compromised. 

 

5.5.3 In calculating the FTE requirement for 2016/17, an estimate of time allocation has been assessed on the previous years’ 
outputs. The estimations make allowance for management time but not for the unplanned arising issues that are not possible to 
predict. 
 

P
age 41



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

5.5.4 The team are currently recruiting an additional Environmental Health Officer to lead on the Health Catering Commitment project 
which is funded by the Public Health Team. 

 
5.6 Resource Allocation per Activity  
 

The table below is the estimation of a full time equivalent. 

1 year 52 weeks (260 days) 
Annual Leave / Bank holidays 7 weeks (35 days) 
Training / briefings etc 2 weeks (10 days) 
Sick leave / dependency / special leave etc. 1 week (5 days) 
Number of working weeks 42 
Number of working days  210 days  
1 FTE 210 days (1512 hours) 

 
 
5.7 Programmed Inspections  

• High risk Category A, B, not broadly compliant Category C & D premises and all unrated premises, (assume 350 new 
premises) plus 60 AES inspections= 1024 inspections due at 7.0 hours per inspection (including paperwork, notices and 
30 minutes journey time). (Due Food Standards inspections will be carried out at the same time) = 7168 hours (4.74 FTE) 

 

• Carry out partial inspections on the remaining broadly complaint rated C premises; 491 premises at 4.5 hours an 
inspection (including paperwork and 30 minutes journey time) = 2209.5 hours (1.46 FTE) 

 

Therefore total Food Hygiene inspection time = 9377.5hours (6.2 FTE)      

 
• Food Standards Inspections Category A (19) premises due for food standards only @ 4.0hrs each (including paperwork 

and 30 minutes journey time) = 76hrs. 
 

     Total Food Standards interventions = 76 hrs (0.05 FTE) 
 
   The total resource for carrying programmed inspections = 9453.5hours (6.25 FTE) 

P
age 42



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

5.8 Alternative Enforcement Strategy (AES)  
Broadly compliant Category D food hygiene premises, Category E food hygiene premises and Category C food standards 
premises are likely to be subject to alternative enforcement strategies. 

• Allow 0.25 hrs per premises (1210 FH category D & E’s +182 FS category C) for implementation of scheme = 348 hours.  
•     Allow 10 hrs for management of AES scheme.  

 
Total for carrying out above Alternative Enforcement Strategies = 358 hours (0.23 FTE) 

 

5.9 Re- inspections following programmed inspections 
Re-visits will be carried out in premises that are not broadly compliant during their initial inspection, and often multiple re-visits 
are needed at the same address. Calculations are based on one re-visit for each non-broadly compliant inspection, and 30% of 
non-broadly complaint premises needing another re-visit.   

For food hygiene re-visits, based on the premises that were tagged at the beginning of April 2016, 42 x category A, 331 x B and 
157 x C were identified as not broadly compliant  = 530 revisits @ 2hrs each (including paperwork and 30 minutes journey time) 
plus 10% follow-up visit = 53 @ 2 hrs = 1166 hours.  For Food standards inspections revisits (Category A) 19 @ 2 hrs = 38 hrs . 

Total resource required for re-inspections = 1204 hours (0.79 FTE).    

5.10 Service requests 
It is expected that approximately 1100 (based on 2015/16 figures) food safety related service requests will be received during the 
year. These include advice to businesses and members of the public. It is estimated that each will take an average of 1.0 hrs; 
therefore 1100 hrs will be required to deal with these.  

Total resource required for Service Requests = 1100 hours (0.73 FTE). 

5.11 Infectious Diseases and Outbreak Control 
The resource required to deal with an outbreak will depend on the size and complexity of the incident. This is not included in the 
estimation, and any outbreak will reduce resources available in other areas. In accordance with the Infectious Disease protocol 
agreed with the HPA certain infectious diseases are not actioned by the Local Authority. It is estimated that further action 
(questionnaire, potting etc.) will be required on approximately 75% of all cases notified (242)  (based on 322 cases received in 
2015/16 figures) cases. (1 hour each).  

Total resource required for Infectious disease = 242 hours (0.16 FTE). 

P
age 43



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 

5.12 Food Sampling 
Sampling will be based on the Sampling Programme – which consists of a number of projects co-ordinated by either: EU, PHE or 
the NE Sector Liaison Group, plus a number of local projects and home authority sampling.   

• 65 (based on 2015/16 figures) samples @ average 4 hours per sample (including paperwork and 30 minutes journey time) = 
260 hours 

• Follow up to adverse results (20% approx.); 13 @ 4 hours per sample = 52 hours.  
 
Total resource required for Food Sampling = 312 hours (0.20 FTE) 
 

5.13 Proactive Action Days 
Action days are taken in areas where there are known problems and it is a focused way of ensuring businesses are compliant. 
We expect to carry out at least 4 action days (minimum 20 premises visits) throughout the year for project and collaborative 
operations.  

Each action days involves approx. 11 officers (5hours per day) = 55 hours per action day 

Total resource required for Proactive Action days = 220 hours (0.15 FTE) 

Total resource required for Advice and Education to businesses = 86 hours (0.05 FTE) 

5.14 Food Safety Promotion 
Activities during Food Safety Week in June are estimated to take around 4 days of officer time (including maintaining the food 
safety web-pages on the Hackney website) 

Total resource required for Food Safety Promotion = 28.8 hours (0.02 FTE) 

5.15 Food Hygiene Training to businesses 
and providing advice . 

The Training Centre is scheduled to carry out 12 x training days in Level 2 Food Hygiene plus 2 x Food Allergens courses plus 4 
x learning trust Level 2 Food Hygiene plus 2 x ½ day Level 2 refresher training sessions. It is estimated that each course 
currently takes 10 hours of officer time, and over the course of the year 10 hours’ management time.  

Total resource required for Food Hygiene Training = 190 (0.13 FTE) 

P
age 44



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 

5.16 Outdoor Events  
These can occur almost every weekend during the summer months.  The Service aims to undertake inspections at approximately 
8 events during May to September. Two officers attend per event, for approximately 6 hours each. Preparation time for each 
event equates to four hours.  

Total resource required for Outdoor events = 120 (0.06 FTE) 

5.17 Enforcement/Prosecution/Legal work (including Hygiene Improvement Notices, seizures, closures). 
 
Table 6: Estimations of resource requirements based on last year’s enforcement actions 
 
Type of enforcement Number estimated based on 

2015/16 
Estimate of 
hours 

Total 
hours 

Hygiene Improvement Notices 43 1 hour/notice 43 

Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notices/Orders 10 anticipated (0 in 2015/16) 18 hours 180 

Voluntary Closures 4 10 hours 40 

Seizures and detentions 5 18 hours 90 

Simple Cautions 2 anticipated (0 in 2015/16) 72 hours 144 

Prosecutions  2 72 hours 144 

Total estimated time 641 

 
                  Total resource required for enforcement work = 641 hours (0.42 FTE).    

 

5.18 Technical Business Support  
The technical Business Support team are responsible for supporting officers in their activities and for maintaining back-up 
systems and specific items of equipment and other resources, managing training courses, maintaining premises database, 
running reports for FOIs etc. = 1.5 FTE.  

P
age 45



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

 

Resource allocation by Activity 

Activity FTE 
Programmed Inspections 6.25 
Alternative Enforcement Strategies 0.23 
Re-inspections 0.79 
Service Requests 0.73 
Infectious Diseases and Outbreak Control 0.21 
Food Sampling 0.20 
Proactive Action Days 0.15 
Food Safety Promotion 0.01 
Food Hygiene Training 0.13 
Outdoor Events 0.06 
Enforcement/Prosecution/Legal work 0.42 
Technical Business Support 1.5 
Approximate total resources required to fulfil the plan for 2016/17 10.68 
 

6 QUALITY ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 Internal Arrangement 
6.1.1 Arrangements include:  

• monitoring arrangements to assess the quality of food enforcement work and compliance with the Food Law Code of Practice 
internal procedures. 

• minuted monthly team meetings 
• annual performance appraisals 
• development needs assessments and training plan 
• cascade training and team briefings 
• accompanied/validation inspections 
• 4-6 weekly one-to-one meetings 

 

P
age 46



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

6.2 External Arrangements 
6.2.1 The service will submit an annual return to the FSA - Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS), as required by 

the Food Standards Agency.   
6.2.2 Hackney’s FHRS data is uploaded to the FSA’s National platform  on a fortnightly basis.  

 

6.2.3 The service participates in activities with other North East London Sector Food Liaison Group to share good practices. Lessons 
learned will be used to develop a consistent approach across the sector. 

 

6.2.4 The service participates in programmes devised by the FSA, the London Food Co-Ordinating Group, the Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health Officers. The service also works in partnership with other external agencies such as HMRC. UK Border 
Force and Immigration Enforcement 

 

6.3   REVIEW 
6.3.1 Review against the Service Plan  2012 - 2016 

 
Monthly and quarterly briefings were provided to the Corporate Director, Assistant Director, the Planning and Regulatory Service 
Management Team and lead Councillor on performance against P.I’s, the food safety inspections programme and performance 
targets detailed in the service plan. Performance of the service is reviewed through a variety of mechanisms which include 
performance appraisals, monthly one-to-one meetings and monthly team meetings. 

 
6.4 Annual Food Service Performance Data - 2012/2016 
6.4.1  

Food Hygiene 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Total Number of premises in Hackney subject to Food Hygiene controls 2,254 2,471 2,575 2954 

Percentage of Food premises Broadly Complaint with legislation 73% 74% 79% 84% 

Total number of unrated premises at beginning of year 115 145 36 24 

Number of new food businesses 341 306 358 367 

Number of Food Hygiene revisits undertaken 706 450 358 434 

P
age 47



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

Number of interventions at premises rated A following inspection.  133 154 120 130 

Number of interventions at premises rated B following inspection. 600 374 405 493 

Number of interventions at premises rated C following inspection. 1215 811 576 650 

Number of interventions at premises rated D following inspection. 52 157 164 316 

Number of interventions at premises rated E following inspection. 108 68 39 34 

Total Number of visits to premises who had ceased trading.  356 290 330 253 

Total Number of businesses inspected.  1388 1644 1135 1133 
 

6.4.2   
Food Standards 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total Number of premises in Hackney subject to Food Standards controls 2269 2513 2832 3210 

Number of Food Standard revisits undertaken 10 0 13 120 

Number of interventions at premises rated A following inspection.  29 15 20 27 

Number of interventions at premises rated B following inspection. 766 656 564 467 

Number of interventions at premises rated C following inspection. 292 373 306 340 

Total Number of businesses inspected.  1285 1167 1072 933 

 
6.4.3  

 

 

 

  

Food Sampling 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Total Number of Samples taken 154 63 131 65 

P
age 48



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

6.4.4   

Food Safety Enforcement 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Total number of Food Hygiene Written warnings issued 1,109 1,021 1,201 1061 

Total number of Food Standards written warnings issued  236 431 480 695 

Hygiene Emergency Prohibition notices (formal closure) 9 15 13 0 

Voluntary Closures due to Food Hygiene imminent risk  11 12 5 4 

Premises receiving a Hygiene Improvement notice 62 25 37 43 

Seizure/detention of food 7 12 16 5 

Prosecution of food premises 0 2 2 2 
 

6.4.5  
Food Hygiene Training 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total Number of attendees  N/A N/A 121 208 

 
6.4.6  

Infectious Diseases  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total Number of Infectious Disease notifications received 268 245 324 322 

 
6.4.7  

Service Requests 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total Number of food safety related services requests received 1464 1127 878 1134 

 

6.5 Identification of any variation from last years’ Service Plan (2015/16) 
 
6.5.1 NMW activities with HMRC were not undertaken in 2015/16 as HMRC were reviewing their approach and unable to commit to any 

joint operations. 
 

P
age 49



 
 

Document Number: 17073850 
Document Name: FLESP 2016/17 (DRAFT) 

6.5.2 6% of Category C food hygiene inspections were not carried out and these 40 inspections have been carried forward to the 2016/17 
programme.  

 
6.5.3 The service were unable to complete a Primary Authority Partnership (PAP) agreement in 2015/16. The service anticipates 

establishing the PAP in 2016/17.   
 

6.5.4 The programme of low risk category D rated premises was not completed as higher risk premises inspections were prioritised. 
Completion of this work will now form part of the AES for 2016/17.  

 

  

 

P
age 50



Appendix 2 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Name of 
Policy/Service/Function 

Food Law Enforcement Service Plan 2016/17 

Date of Assessment 3rs June 2016 
Directorate Neighbourhoods & Housing 
Head of Service Aleyne Fontenelle 
Why is the Equality 
Impact Assessment being 
done? 

Corporate Committee Report 

 

1 Introduction and Background 

The functions of the Food Safety Service are a statutory service and the Service Plan sets 
out the targets for the service in the coming year and reviews the achievements of                                              
last year. 

The proposal is for the Corporate Committee to approve the plan. 

2 Profile of groups affected as customers and/or staff 

The Service is used by those living, working and visiting the borough. There are 2,954 (April 
2016) registered food businesses and anecdotally there are a majority of BME community 
who own the businesses. However responses to our business customer survey showed that  

3 Age Equality 

There are two projects running this year which specifically target the young and the over 
65s: 

Healthier Catering Commitment Project – this is targeting those types of food businesses 
selling fast food meals especially to young people. It will look at salt and fat content and will 
encourage the provision of healthier options. Results of the project will be published to try to 
promote healthier eating choices in the young. 

The annual Food Safety Week 2016 will focus on “Use By” dates, food waste and the safe 
use of leftovers. There will be a particular focus on advice to the over 65s and carers of 
young children as they are vulnerable to food poisoning and food-borne illnesses. 

4 Disability Equality 

When officers inspect food premises, they often refer the details to the Planning Service if it 
is suspected there may be accessibility issues or lack of planning permission. 

5 Gender Equality 

There are no current figures on the breakdown.  

However respondents to the businesses customer satisfaction survey (2015) showed that 
58% of Male FBO’s and 42% of Female FBO’s responded. 

  

Page 51



6 Race Equality 

During the Food Safety Week Venues have previously been chosen in order to access a 
greater footfall of consumers and businesses such a shopping areas. Ridley Road Market is 
used annual for this purpose due to the diversity of foods, consumers and food business 
operations.   

The Food Fraud project aims to support and educate businesses to reduce the likelihood of 
sale of illegal foods in the borough. There is a particular focus on sale of illegal meat and 
illegally imported foods which may be sought by ethnic communities.  

During inspections of food businesses it is a function of the visit to verify traceability of meat. 
This includes kosher, halal and other meat and is a statutory function. 

7 Religion/Beliefs 

7.1 Although over a third of residents are Christian, Hackney has significantly more people of 
the Jewish and Muslim faiths.. 

8 Sexual Orientation 

There are no current figures on the breakdown. 

9 Questions this assessment addresses 

9.1 What kind of equality impact might there be? 

The main areas of impact relate to Race and Age. 

9.2 How significant is it in terms of its nature and the number of people likely to be affected? 

A large number of Food Business Operators (FBO). are likely to be affected. In terms of 
consumers, the plan will affect those living, working and visiting the borough - there are no 
current figures on the breakdown. 

9.3 Is the impact positive or negative (or is there a potential for both)? 

There will be a positive impact for consumers in terms of protecting the wider public health.  

There is a negative impact on food businesses in terms of closures and prosecutions 
however this is mitigated by advice, guidance and training which is offered to businesses, 
and premises closures and prosecutions are very much a last resort. 

10 Action Planning Questions 

10.1 What action do we need to take to reduce negative impact? 

To continue with advice and training courses to mitigate the negative impact.  

To continue to building on the Food Hygiene Consultancy Service to support businesses to 
improve their food safety operations. 

To continue positively promote the Food Hygiene rating Scheme and publicise those 
businesses achieving a 5 rating. 

Page 52



10.2 If the action proposed will not fully mitigate adverse consequences for equality, or if 
the decision is to take no action, why is this, and can we justify it? 

Not applicable 

 
10.3 Can any further action be taken to promote equality of opportunity in relation to any of 

the equality strands? 

Further promotion of the work of the service and service standards. 

Review of the website and use of social media to improve access to the service and 
communication. 

 
10.4 Do we need to undertake any further consultation or research? 

Further business customer satisfaction surveys to be carried out in 2016/17. Additionally 
satisfaction surveys in relation to complaints of food and food businesses will carried out in 
2016/17. 

10.5 Next Steps - Action Plan 

Action required Time Scale Comments/Outcomes 
Education/advice to over 65s  § To reach those elderly 

consumers across a range of 
religions/beliefs 

§ To mitigate negative impact of 
enforcement. 

Improving Food Hygiene Ratings 
of 0 to 2 rated food businesses  

March 2017 § To mitigate negative impact of 
enforcement. 

Food Hygiene Training March 2017 § Targeting new food 
businesses and those with 
Poor star ratings to reduce 
food poisoning and food-borne 
illness. 

Healthier Catering Commitment 
(HCC) 

March 2017 § Targeting fast food outlets to 
encourage the provision of 
healthier options to reduce 
obesity.  

Food Fraud Project  September 2016 
– March 2017 

§ To resume project to reach 
consumers across a range of 
religions/beliefs. 

 
§ To protect consumers and 

reduce the spread of food-
borne illness from illegally 
imported foods. 

Food Safety Week 2016 
Theme:  
Food waste, ‘Use by’ dates and 
use of leftovers 

4 – 10th July 
2016 

§ To protect consumers and 
reduce the spread of food-
borne illness. 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

 
 
 

 
 
 
CORPORATE COMMITTEE 
MEETING DATE  2016/17 
 
14 July 2016 
 
  
 

 
CLASSIFICATION:  
 
Open  
 
If exempt, the reason will be listed in the 
main body of this report. 

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED 
 
All Wards 
 
 
GROUP DIRECTOR 
 
KIM WRIGHT, GROUP DIRECTOR, NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
Authority Monitoring Report 2015 
 
 
 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

 
1.  INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

 
1.1 This report requests the committee approve the Local Plan Authority 

Monitoring Report (AMR) for 2015. The AMR provides monitoring information 
on spatial planning-related activity for the financial year 2014/15 to inform and 
monitor policy development and performance. It highlights how local planning 
policies have helped to deliver on the objectives of the Sustainable 
Community Strategy and achieve sustainable development, using quantitative 
indicators - for example how planning policies have facilitated the delivery of a 
large number of new homes over 2014/15 and approval of large quantums of 
employment floorspace in the Borough. The function of the AMR is to report 
on and evaluate the performance of planning policies and suggest 
improvements where necessary, detailed in Appendix 1. 

1.2 This AMR reports on the 2015 monitoring year. It provides analysis of the 
effectiveness of policy and of the changing environment it is being applied to 
in the borough.  It does this primarily by reviewing the results of developments 
which have completed, and planning applications permitted over the last year, 
and the anticipated future impact of recent further Government changes to the 
planning process and national policy. It also aims to set out any clear 
challenges and opportunities for the new Local plan, ‘LP33’ and has been 
significantly restructured to provide analysis tailored to the proposed chapters 
of LP33. Where possible, particularly with legislative changes, Neighbourhood 
Planning and the Local Development Scheme (LDS) (plan preparation 
timetable), more up-to-date information has been provided. 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)  
             
           The Corporate Committee is recommended:  

 
2.1 To approve the Authority Monitoring Report 2015 (as set out in 

Appendix 1) 
 

3.  REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
3.1 The AMR is a statutory requirement as part of the Council’s role as local 

planning authority; as such, approval by Corporate Committee is sought. The 
AMR supports planning policy and planning decisions, and sets out new 
documents to be produced. 
 

4. BACKGROUND 
 

4.1 The last AMR was for 2013/14 was approved by Corporate Committee in July 
2015.  This AMR provides an update to the 2013/14 report. 
 

4.2 Policy Context 
 

 The AMR report provides monitoring information on the performance of Local 
Plan policies/policy documents and updates on planning-related activity and 

Page 56



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

planning decisions over the past year and up to the present date in as far as 
this is possible. Since July 2015, a significant change has happened in local 
planning policy, with the adoption of the Development Management Local 
Plan in July 2015 and the approval of the Site Allocations Local Plan following 
examination.  Furthermore, a new local plan for Hackney - ‘LP33’ – is in its 
initial stages.  In light of these current and future changes the AMR’s structure 
has been updated to follow a topic-based approach, aiming to provide a more 
forward-looking analysis of policy performance to help inform LP33. It also 
reports on legislative changes which have also been significant with the 
Housing & Planning Act having received Royal Assent, and implementation of 
Hackney’s own Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Overall this provides a 
clear and succinct evaluation of policy in 2014/15 and beyond. 

 
Some key findings of the AMR are as follows:  
 
Housing 
 
Key Points: Housing delivery was above target and the homes built were 
policy complaint. 
 
• Housing policy has been effective at delivering the homes needed by the 

borough, with 1640 new homes delivered or 141% of its target in 2015.  
29.8% of homes were in affordable tenures. 

• Over the last 5 years, planning has delivered a total of 8,261 new homes.  
38% of these were affordable units. 

• Dwellings in the period have been delivered over a broad range of sizes, 
with 29% of dwellings being 3 or larger bed. In addition, there were more 
2-beds overall that 1-bed properties (35%). 

 
Challenges: The new Local Plan 2033 will need to respond to higher 
London Plan targets and continuing falls in housing affordability for 
residents. 
 
• Alterations to the London Plan have resulted in Hackney’s housing target 

increasing by 37% for 2015-2030 to 1,599 dwellings per annum. We 
have sufficient development in the approvals pipeline – 9,323 homes, or 
114% of this target, over the next 5 years, but supply of new sites is less 
certain beyond 2020.  

• Housing affordability continues to decrease year-on-year in Hackney, 
with the ratio of house prices to incomes almost doubling between 2008 
and 2015 despite the great recession, with median prices reaching 15:1 
with median earnings.  On the most recent evidence, this means 
planning policy would need to deliver 60% of new housing as socially 
rented to meet the needs of the borough. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

Employment 
 
Key Points: There are large amounts of new employment floorspace in 
the pipeline and high levels of growth in new businesses within the 
borough 
 
• Hackney has approved planning applications that if implemented would 

provide a significant amount of new employment floorspace: a total of 
around 165,000sqm net new space, mainly B1 (offices) class. This 
would largely come forward within the borough’s Priority Employment 
Areas, with Shoreditch topping the list with permissions that would 
provide a net gain of 150,000 sqm of new B1 floorspace in this area. 

• The number of active enterprises, (businesses that had either turnover 
or employment during 2014) within Hackney, has grown by 14% since 
2009/10, faster than neighbouring boroughs and over twice the inner 
London average, creating increasing demand for floorspace.   

• The planning service has secured 7,558sqm of affordable workspace 
since 2010 through S106 agreements.  

• There were no new hotel rooms in completed developments were 
recorded in the last year, however the pipeline for 2,513 hotel bedrooms 
in the south of the borough that have received planning permission 
indicates a high level of economic interest. 

 
Challenge:  The new Local Plan 2033 will need to consider options for 
protecting existing Priority Employment Areas against floorspace losses 
in the future. 
 
• Overall, priority employment areas lost a net 2,841sqm in 2014/15. This 

is part of a trend, with losses in the last 5 years totalling -40034sqm.  
Taken in view of the broader picture of employment losses, policies have 
been effective - unprotected areas in the rest of the borough recording a 
loss of 99,589sqm overall (excluding the Olympics media centre).  

• There is likely to be continued pressure on employment floorspace in 
competition with residential land values, and it may become necessary 
to enhance protection to safeguard employment land. 

 
Retail and Town Centres 
 
Key Points: Hackney has seen growth in retail and there is a strong 
pipeline and high occupancy rates in all town and local centres in 
Hackney. 
 
• Overall there has been an increase of 273sqm of retail (A1) space 

across the borough, indicating positive growth in the provision of this 
vital service. 

• The pipeline for town centres going forward is positive with a total of 
6017sqm new floorspace expected.  Dalston, Hackney’s major town 
centre is expected to gain an addition 2,191sqm of retail floorspace, 

Page 58



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

Stoke Newington to gain 1,442sqm and Hackney Central to gain 
313sqm.  The picture is similar in Local Centres.   

• In terms of shopping parades, Dalston, Hackney Central and Stoke 
Newington High Street perform well, each approximately 60% in retail 
use, and with very low vacancy levels - Stoke Newington High Street 
had no vacant units.   Secondary frontages were a less positive picture 
with Dalston, which is a major centre recorded 34% of units in A1 use 
and 22% vacant units, the highest proportion in a frontage across all 
town centres.   

• Local centres did well, showing average vacancy rates less than 1%.  
 
Challenges:  The new Local Plan 2033 will need to consider how to 
manage growth in retail and town centre uses in Priority Employment 
Areas and the future of the night-time economy. 
 
• While retail overall is growing in Hackney, this growth is not all within 

town centres, with a net loss of retail in main town centres - Hackney 
Central losing 269sqm; Stoke Newington, 70sqm, while Dalston gained 
140sqm.  In contrast Local Centres have seen an overall increase of 
406sqm, with 300sqm in Lower Clapton. 

• Instead, a large amount of new A1,2,3 uses have happened instead in 
priority employment areas, with a net increase of 1624sqm in 2014/15.  
This has been driven by employment-led policies which look for active 
frontages combined with high levels of new development in these areas, 
where relatively large sites make complete redevelopment more viable. 

• Policies for the night time economy have had mixed results.  A3 uses 
have increased in the centres of Dalston (886sqm), and Hackney Central 
(266 sqm) but over the same period 7,863sqm of A3 has come forward 
outside of town centres, notably 1539sqm in Shoreditch PEA and 1122 
in Wenlock PEA, which suggests that town centre designations will need 
to be reviewed.   

• There has been a net loss across town centres of A4 (drinking 
establishments) floorspace, and an acute loss in Dalston of two sites, 
totalling 750sqm. Outside of centres 5430sqm has been lost.  Overall, 
there has been a modest net increase in A5 (hot food takeaways) 
floorspace in Town centres of 179sqm, with 4 planning applications in 
Dalston resulting in an increase of 145sqm.  Outside town centres there 
was a loss of 95sqm – however this is balanced with 291sqm in the 
pipeline for delivery over following years. 

 

Communities, Culture, Education & Health 
 
Key Points: Planning continues to secure large amounts of funding to 
improve the borough through Planning Obligations, and the Community 
Infrastructure levy has begun to report revenue 
 

• In 2014/15 the Council received a total of £1.4 million in Section 106 
payments, with a total of £925,414 received from agreements signed in 

Page 59



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

that year. The Council also signed agreements worth a total of £32.5 
million.  

• Hackney received payments, totalling of £1.67 million in May 2016 in CIL 
receipts, and collected a total of £3.48 million for the Mayoral CIL.    

• A total of 140 school places in three new extensions to primary schools 
were delivered in 2015, enabling provision of adequate school places 
and a 5% buffer, achieving the objectives of the learning trust. In 
addition, the planned delivery of 120 new school places in 2016 and 30 
in 2019 will meet needs over the forthcoming period.  Similarly with 
secondary schools two new secondary schools in development with the 
corporation of the city of London will fulfil the need for 12 new forms of 
entry by 2020. 

• Health Infrastructure is presently stable, but there could be pressures 
within the across the borough as planned growth comes forward, 
especially that which provides specialist forms of housing with additional 
healthcare needs. 

 
Transport 
 
Key Points: There has been continued provision of new transport 
improvements, and increases in public transport usage. 
 
• In 2015 transport improvements were delivered for improved accessible 

bus stops and increased cycle hangers as well as the Hackney 
Downs/Central link between stations, facilitating pedestrian transfer 
between these lines  

• There were a total of a total of 4.4 million entries/exits at Hackney 
stations in 2015. 

• Access levels to key services in the borough are better than surrounding 
boroughs as well as the inner London average, with key services being 
an average of 8.2 minutes by bike, the third best times for cycling in 
London, and 9.1 minutes by walking or public transport. 

• In 2015, 88% of completed development were car free, as were 88% of 
approved developments.  Despite this, overall 3.2 car parking (disabled 
included) spaces were delivered per scheme on average, an increase 
from -0.7 per scheme in 2014.  Cycle space provision has almost 
doubled from 2720 to 4413 in approved developments.  

 
Challenges: There have been significant increases in London 
Overground usage placing pressures on this service. The new Local 
Plan 2033 will need to consider how Crossrail 2 can improve 
connectivity and facilitate growth. 
 
• Hackney Central and Dalston stations recorded growths of 194% and 

106% between 2010/15.  On these statistics Dalston Kingsland station is 
busier than Nottingham train station, and Hackney Central than Ealing 
Broadway.  

• The Council is supportive of proposals for the Crossrail 2 rail project 
linking North East and South West London, with a new station at Dalston 

Page 60



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

and has stressed the importance of an interchange there. The Council is 
also supportive of a new station at Hackney Central on an eastern 
branch and has made representations to Transport for London on all 
these issues. 

 
Open Spaces Environment and Climate Change 
 
Key points:  Hackney, already the greenest inner London Borough has 
increased open space in the borough over 2014/15, and improvements 
to biodiversity through the delivery of the Woodberry down nature 
reserve 
 

• Overall there has been a net gain of 1065sqm of publically accessible 
open space in Hackney 2014/15.  This resulted from two planning 
applications, both of which provided green spaces on previously 
brownfield land.  

• Planning obligations secured from development totalled £130,536 in 
2014/15, with several projects from previous contributions completing, 
including Leonard Circus improvements and the Gillett Square and 
Dalston Community Engagement Programme. 

• An additional four parks gained green flag for a total of 19.  
Furthermore, 88% of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation are 
in positive conservation management. 

• A new Local Nature Reserve designation was delivered at Woodberry 
down as part of the planning gain from the regeneration. 

 
Heritage and Design 
 
Key Points: Four sites previously on the heritage at risk register have 
been restored.  
 

• Overall, the number of buildings on the Heritage at Risk register has 
shrunk by 4 sites or a reduction of around 10%, leaving a total of 30 
buildings still at risk in the borough.  Three conservation areas remain 
at risk (Dalston Lane West, Sun Street and Mare Street), although 
developments in the first two areas are likely to result in their removal 
from the list.   

• The Hackney design wards are held biannually, with the contest 
currently ongoing.  The next AMR will report on the results. 

 
Challenges: The new Local Plan 2033 will need to consider how heritage 
assets can be protected while delivering housing and employment 
floorspace at higher densities.  
 

• Two tall buildings were completed in Hackney in 2014/5 –  Kick Start 
Site 4 at Woodberry Down in the north of the borough, with a maximum 
height of 18 stories; and Eagle House on City Road, with a height of 31 
Storeys.   

Page 61



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

• 22 buildings of 10 storeys or greater have been approved since 2010; 
with an average height of 23 storeys - the tallest of which was 50 
stories (Principal Place). 

• 17 of 22 buildings approved were in schemes containing residential 
units, indicating that tall buildings are primarily supported by high 
residential values – however all developments contained a mix of uses. 
 

Planning Performance 
 
Key Points: Major targets in planning performance were met in 2014/15 
and 2015/16.  There has been a significant increase in number of 
planning applications processed and planning performance agreements 
made providing adequate revenue to support continued excellent 
performance. 
 

• In 2015/16, 74% of Major Planning Applications were determined in 
accordance with agreed timescales, beating a target of 70%.  A total of 
34 major applications were processed. 

• 79% of minor applications were determined within 8 weeks, also 
beating the target of 75% 

• 87% of other applications were processed within their 8 week deadline, 
beating a target of 80% 

• 70% of appeals to planning decisions were dismissed, hitting the 70% 
target.  There was a total of 86 appeals against decisions. 

• 72% of Planning Applications were validated within 5 days. This was 
below target (80%). 

• 67% of planning searches were carried out in 10 working days, slightly 
below target (80%). 

• Building control has increased their market share for certification by 4% 
moving up to 38% of all developments. 

• 77% of building control applications were processed within 3 days, just 
below target at 80% 

• 93% of site inspections were undertaken within 1 day of request, 
significantly above target. 

 
Challenges:  Significant incoming changes to the planning system 
through the Housing and Planning Act 2016, which increase demands 
on planning performance and introduce a new type of permission 
process, permission in principle.  
 

4.2  Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The AMR will help feed into planning policies and help identify equality issues, 
such as the proportion of Hackney residents with reasonable access to key 
services by various modes of transport. 

  
4.3 Sustainability 

 

Page 62



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

The AMR reports on the performance of sustainability policies that will be 
revised as necessary if any issues arise.  

 
4.4     Consultations 
 

Consultation has been undertaken on chapters with the relevant service 
providers, for example Transport and Education. 

 
4.5     Risk Assessment 

 
There are no significant risks identified for the production of the AMR. 

 
5.  COMMENTS OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

 
 
5.1 This report requests the Corporate Committee to approve the Authority 

Monitoring Report (AMR) for the reporting year 2014/15. 
 
5.2 The AMR in Appendix 1 provides financial and performance data for 2014/15 on 

Planning related activity and decisions. Data for 2015/16 is included where 
available. 

 
5.3 Officer time and other costs incurred in the production and distribution of the 

AMR are funded from the Planning Service revenue budgets. 
 
5.4 The financial data in the AMR is retrospective, and the future impact of activities 

and planning policies monitored in the report, will be managed within the 
relevant service capital and revenue budgets across the Borough. 
 

6.  COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF LEGAL 
 
6.1    Local Planning Authorities are obliged to make an annual report containing 

such information as is prescribed (by the legislation) as to the implementation of 
the Authority’s Local Development Scheme and the extent to which the policies 
set out in the Scheme are being achieved – Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, section 35; Modified by Localism Act 2013, Section 113.  
The Authority Monitoring Report at appendix 1 has been prepared to enable the 
Council to monitor its performance and in discharge of the statutory obligation. 

 
6.2 The Authority Monitoring Report must cover a period the authority considered 

appropriate in the interest of transparency, beginning from the end of the period 
of the last report, and which is not longer than 12 months.  In discharging this 
duty, Hackney’s AMR covers the period 1 April 2014 to 31st March 2015.  

 
6.3 The Authority must make the Report available to the public – the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, section 35(4). 
 
 

 

Page 63



Document Number: 17126427 
Document Name: AMR 2015 Cover report to Corp Cttee July 2016 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 - AMR 2015 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
Report Author 
 

Jacob Tong, Monitoring and Research Officer, 
Strategic Policy. 
 
020 8356 7871 

Comments of the 
Corporate Director of 
Finance and Resources 

Philip Walcott, Group Accountant 
Philip.walcott@hackney.gov.uk 
020 8356 2396 
 

Comments of the 
Corporate Director of 
Legal, HR and Regulatory 
Services 

Patricia Narebor, Head of Commercial 
Patricia.narebor@hackney.gov.uk 
020 8356 2029 

  
 

Page 64



1 
 

 

Hackney’s Local Plan 
 
Authority Monitoring Report 2015 
 
The Planning Service 

Page 65



 Page 66



1 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY 
 

Authority Monitoring Report 2015 
 
 
 
 

Strategic Policy 
The Planning Service 

2 Hillman Street 
Hackney 
London  
E8 1FB

Page 67



2 
    

Executive Summary 
 
The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) monitors and analyses the performance of Hackney’s planning 

policies contained within the Local Plan, covering a range of a topic areas.  It provides a clear picture of 

development trends in the built environment of Hackney, guiding the development of new, improved planning 

policy documents.  It also serves to take stock of the performance of the planning service, determining of 

planning applications, to the operation of the Community Infrastructure Levy and cooperation with the rest of 

the Council and neighbouring boroughs. 

 

This document begins with a brief summary of topic areas, before providing in-depth analysis on a range of 

areas, making use of both qualitative and quantitative data to provide an informative summary of Hackney 

through the lens of planning.  

 

This report focuses on the 2014/15 monitoring year. As with all London boroughs, the AMR is written in the 

proceeding year due to planning permission statistics and information on the progress on their 

implementation becoming available only at this time of year. This information is necessary to make the report 

more meaningful and to more accurately assess policy performance.  Where possible, particularly with the 

some statistics, neighbourhood planning and the LDS, more up-to-date information on each topic is briefly 

summarised in each section.     

 

The Council is presently developing a new boroughwide Local Plan.  In light of this, this report covers some 

key indicators from the core strategy Key Performance Indicator (KPI) framework as well as several new 

indicators, providing insight on issues which will affect the review. In addition, topic areas have been renamed 

to reflect those forthcoming in the new Local Plan (LP33).  

 

A word on Sustainable Growth  

The purpose of planning is to ensure sustainable development, meaning the Planning Service’s role extends 

beyond just the planning process to meeting the needs for supporting infrastructure, (for example education 

& health) within Hackney, ensuring that there is sufficient capacity to meet the needs of the current and future 

population by allocating land for these purposes.  

 

This function, is provided by several Council departments and external organisations. In assessing the 

effectiveness of the Council’s planning policies in this regard, infrastructure needs are met partially through 

planning contributions and the newly adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to mitigate the impact of 

new development and through supporting planned works by various infrastructure providers, the needs for 

which are determined through continuous co-operation and engagement with them. Council funded/co-

funded schemes also contribute towards infrastructure provision in the Borough. The Infrastructure 

Assessment and Delivery Plan1 is continually updated to take account of and plan for infrastructure demand 

and supply. 

                                                
1 http://www.hackney.gov.uk/media/3199/Infrastructure-delivery-plan-2013/pdf/Infrastructure-Delivery-Plan-2013 

Page 68



3 
    

Housing 

 

Key Points: Housing Delivery was above target and those 

delivered were highly policy complaint. 

 

 Housing policy has been effective at delivering the homes needed 

by the borough, with 1640 new homes delivered or 141% of its 

target.  29.8% of homes were in affordable tenures. 

 Over the last 5 years, planning has delivered a total of 8,261 new 

homes.  38% of these were affordable units. 

 Dwellings have been delivered over a broad range of sizes, with 

29% of dwellings being 3 or larger bed. In addition, there were 

more 2-beds overall that 1-bed properties (35%). 

 

Challenges: The new Local Plan 2033 will need to respond to 

higher London Plan targets and continuing falls in housing 

affordability for residents. 

 

 Alterations to the London Plan has resulted in Hackney’s housing 

target increasing by 37% for 2015-2030 to 1,599 dwellings. We 

have sufficient development in the pipeline – 9,323 homes, or 

114% of this target in the pipeline over the next 5 years, but supply 

of new sites is less certain beyond 2020.  

 Housing affordability continued to decrease year-on-year in 

Hackney, with the ratio of house prices to incomes almost doubling 

between 2008 and 2015 despite the great recession, with median 

prices reaching 15:1 with median earnings.  On the most recent 

evidence, this means planning policy would need to deliver 60% of 

new housing as socially rented to meet the needs of the borough. 

 

  

Page 69



4 
    

Employment 
 

Key Points: There are large amounts of new employment 

floorspace in the pipeline and high levels of growth in new 

businesses within the borough. 
 

- Hackney has approved planning applications that if implemented 

would provide a significant amount of new employment 

floorspace: a total of around 165,000sqm net new space, mainly 

B1 (offices) class. This would largely come forward within the 

borough’s Priority Employment Areas, with Shoreditch topping 

the list with permissions that would provide a net gain of 150,000 

sqm of new B1 floorspace in this area. 

- The number of active enterprises, (businesses that had either 

turnover or employment during 2014) within Hackney, has grown 

by 14% since 2009/10, faster than neighbouring boroughs and 

over twice the inner London average, creating increasing 

demand for floorspace.   

- The planning service has secured 7,558sqm of affordable 

workspace since 2010 through S106 agreements.  

- There were no new hotel rooms in completed developments 

were recorded in the last year, however the pipeline for 2,513 

hotel bedrooms in the south of the borough that have received 

planning permission indicates a high level of economic interest. 
 

Challenge:  The new Local Plan 2033 will need to consider 

options for protecting existing Priority Employment Areas 

against floorspace losses in the future. 
 

- Overall, priority employment areas lost a net 2,841sqm in 

2014/15. This is part of a trend, with losses in the last 5 years 

totalling -40034sqm.  Taken in view of the broader picture of 

employment losses, policies have been effective - unprotected 

areas in the rest of the borough recording a loss of 99,589sqm 

overall (excluding the Olympics media centre).  

- There is likely to be continued pressure on employment 

floorspace in competition with residential land values, and it may 

Page 70



5 
    

become necessary to enhance protection to safeguard 

employment land.  

Page 71



6 
    

Retail and Town Centres 
 

Key Points: Hackney has seen growth in retail and there is a 

strong pipeline and high occupancy rates in all town and local 

centres in Hackney. 

 

- Overall there has been an increase of 273sqm of retail (A1) 

space across the borough, indicating positive growth in the 

provision of this vital service. 

- The pipeline for town centres going forward is positive with a total 

of 6017sqm new floorspace expected.  Dalston, Hackneys major 

town centre is expected to gain an addition 2,191sqm of retail 

floorspace, Stoke Newington to gain 1,442sqm and Hackney 

Central to gain 313sqm.  The picture is similar in Local Centres.   

- In terms of shopping parades, Dalston, Hackney Central and 

Stoke Newington High Street perform well, each approximately 

60% in retail use, and with very low vacancy levels - Stoke 

Newington High Street had no vacant units.   Secondary 

frontages were a less positive picture with Dalston, which is a 

major centre recorded 34% of units in A1 use and 22% vacant 

units, the highest proportion in a frontage across all town centres.   

- Local centres did well, showing average vacancy rates less than 

1%.  

 

Challenges:  The new Local Plan 2033 will need to consider how 

to manage growth in retail and town centre uses in Priority 

Employment Areas and the future of the night-time economy. 

 

- While retail overall is growing in Hackney, this growth is not all 

within town centres, with a net loss of retail in main town centres  

Hackney Central losing 269sqm; Stoke Newington, 70sqm, while 

Dalston gained 140sqm.  In contrast Local Centres have seen an 

overall increase of 406sqm, with 300sqm in Lower Clapton. 

- Instead, a large amount of new A1,2,3 uses have happened 

instead in priority employment areas, with a net increase of 

Page 72



7 
    

1624sqm in 2014/15.  This has been driven by employment-led 

policies which look for active frontages combined with high levels 

of new development in these areas, where relatively large sites 

make complete redevelopment more viable. 

- Policies for the night time economy have had mixed results.  A3 

uses have increased in the centres of Dalston (886sqm), and 

Hackney Central (266 sqm) but over the same period 7,863sqm 

of A3 has come forward outside of town centres, notably 

1539sqm in Shoreditch PEA and 1122 in Wenlock PEA, which 

suggests that town centre designations will need to be reviewed.   

- There has been a net loss across town centres of A4 (drinking 

establishments) floorspace, and an acute loss in Dalston of two 

sites, totalling 750sqm. Outside of centres 5430sqm has been 

lost.  Overall, there has been a modest net increase in A5 (hot 

food takeaways) floorspace in Town centres of 179sqm, with 4 

planning applications in Dalston resulting in an increase of 

145sqm.  Outside town centres there was a loss of 95sqm – 

however this is balanced with 291sqm in the pipeline for delivery 

over following years. 

  

Page 73



8 
    

Communities, Culture, Education & Health 
 

Key Points: Planning continues to secure large amounts of 

funding to improve the borough through Planning Obligations, 

and the Community Infrastructure levy has begun to report 

revenue 

 

- In 2014/15 the Council received a total of £1.4 million in Section 106 

payments, with a total of £925,414 received from agreements signed 

in that year. The Council also signed agreements worth a total of £32.5 

million.  

- Hackney received payments, totalling of £1.67 million in May 2016 in 

CIL receipts, and collected a total of £3.48 million for the Mayoral CIL.    

- A total of 140 school places in three new extensions to primary schools 

were delivered in 2015, enabling provision of adequate school places 

and a 5% buffer, achieving the objectives of the learning trust. In 

addition, the planned delivery of 120 new school places in 2016 and 

30 in 2019 will meet needs over the forthcoming period.  Similarly with 

secondary schools two new secondary schools in development with 

the corporation of the city of London will fulfil the need for 12 new forms 

of entry by 2020. 

- Health Infrastructure is presently stable, but there could be pressures 

within the across the borough as planned growth comes forward, 

especially that which provides specialist forms of housing with 

additional healthcare needs. 

 

  

Page 74



9 
    

Transport 

 
Key Points: Continued provision of new transport improvements, 
and increases in public transport usage. 

-  

- In 2015 transport improvements were delivered for improved 

accessible bus stops and increased cycle hangers as well as the 

Hackney Downs/Central link between stations, facilitating pedestrian 

transfer between these lines  

- There were a total of a total of 4.4 million entries/exits at stations in 

2015. 

- Access levels to key services in the borough are better than 

surrounding boroughs as well as the inner London average, with key 

services being an average of 8.2 minutes by bike, the third best times 

for cycling in London, and 9.1 minutes by walking or public transport. 

- In 2015, 88% of completed development were car free, as were 88% 

of approved developments.  Despite this, overall 3.2 car parking 

(disabled included) spaces were delivered per scheme on average, an 

increase from -0.7 per scheme in 2014.  Cycle space provision has 

almost doubled from 2720 to 4413 in approved developments.  

 
Challenges: There have been significant increases in London 
Overground usage placing pressures on this service. The new 
Local Plan 2033 will need to consider how Crossrail 2 can 
improve connectivity and facilitate growth.  
 

- Hackney Central and Dalston stations recorded growths of 194% and 

106% between 2010/15.  On these statistics Dalston Kingsland station 

is busier than Nottingham train station, and Hackney Central than 

Ealing Broadway.  

- The Council is supportive of proposals for the Crossrail 2 rail project 

linking North East and South West London, with a new station at 

Dalston and has stressed the importance of an interchange there. The 

Council is also supportive of a new station at Hackney Central on an 

eastern branch and has made representations to Transport for London 

on all these issues. 

 

  

Page 75



10 
    

Open Spaces, Environment and Climate 
Change 

 
Key points:  Hackney, already the greenest inner London 
Borough has increased open space in the borough over 2014/15, 
delivery of the Woodberry down nature reserve 
 

- Overall there has been a net gain of 1065sqm of publically accessible 

open space in Hackney 2014/15.  This resulted from two planning 

applications, both of which provided green spaces on previously 

brownfield land.  

- Planning obligations secured from development totalled £130,536 in 

2014/15, with several projects from previous contributions completing, 

including Leonard Circus improvements and the Gillett Square and 

Dalston Community Engagement Programme. 

- An additional four parks gained green flag for a total of 19.  

Furthermore, 88% of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation are 

in positive conservation management. 

- A new Local Nature Reserve designation was delivered at Woodberry 

down as part of the planning gain from the regeneration. 

  

Page 76



11 
    

Heritage and Design 

 
Key Points: Four sites previously on the heritage at risk register 

have been restored 

 

- Overall, the number of buildings on the Heritage at Risk register 

has shrunk by 4 sites or a reduction of around 10%, leaving a 

total of 30 buildings still at risk in the borough.  Three 

conservation areas remain at risk (Dalston Lane West, Sun 

Street and Mare Street), although developments in the first two 

areas are likely to result in their removal from the list.   

- The Hackney design wards are held biannually, with the contest 

currently ongoing.  The next AMR will report on the results. 

 

Challenges: The new Local Plan 2033 will need to consider how 

heritage assets can be protected while delivering housing and 

employment floorspace at higher densities.  

 

- Two tall buildings were completed in Hackney in 2014/5 –  Kick 

Start Site 4 at Woodberry Down in the north of the borough, with 

a maximum height of 18 stories; and Eagle House on City Road, 

with a height of 31 Storeys.   

- 22 buildings of 10 storeys or greater have been approved since 

2010; with an average height of 23 storeys - the tallest of which 

was 50 stories (Principal Place). 

• 17 of 22 buildings approved were in schemes containing 

residential units, indicating that tall buildings are primarily 

supported by high residential values – however all developments 

contained a mix of uses.. 

  

Page 77



12 
    

Planning Performance 

 

Key Points: Major targets in planning performance were met in 
2014/15 and 2015/16.  There has been a significant increase in 
number of planning applications processed and planning 
performance agreements made providing adequate revenue to 
support continued excellent performance. 
 

- In 2015/16, 74% of Major Planning Applications were determined in 

accordance with agreed timescales, beating a target of 70%.  A total 

of 34 major applications were processed. 

- 79% of minor applications were determined within 8 weeks, also 

beating the target of 75% 

- 87% of other applications were processed within their 8 week deadline, 

beating a target of 80% 

- 70% of appeals to planning decisions were dismissed, hitting the 70% 

target.  There was a total of 86 appeals against decisions. 

- 72% of Planning Applications were validated within 5 days. This was 

below target (80%). 

- 67% of planning searches were carried out in 10 working days, slightly 

below target (80%). 

- Building control has increased their market share for certification by 

4% moving up to 38% of all developments. 

- 77% of building control applications were processed within 3 days, just 

below target at 80% 

- 93% of site inspections were undertaken within 1 day of request, 

significantly above target. 

 
Challenges: Significant incoming changes to the planning system 
through the Housing and Planning Act 2016, which increase 
demands on planning performance and introduce a new type of 
permission process, permission in principle. 

 

Page 78



13 
    

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................ 14 

2. Hackney in Context .................................................................................................... 16 

3. Planning Policy .......................................................................................................... 20 

4. Neighbourhood Planning & Duty to Cooperate ....................................................... 27 

5. Housing ...................................................................................................................... 36 

6. Employment ............................................................................................................... 46 

7. Retail and Town Centres ........................................................................................... 57 

8. Communities, Culture, Education & Health.............................................................. 68 

9. Transport .................................................................................................................... 76 

10. Open Spaces........................................................................................................... 81 

11. Design and Heritage ............................................................................................... 85 

12. Planning Performance ........................................................................................... 88 

13. Appendix - Site Allocations in the SALP and Area Action Plans ........................ 91 

 

Page 79



14 
    

1. Introduction 

1.1 Hackney’s Planning Service seeks to deliver the Council’s spatial objectives through 

development and implementation of planning policy via the development management 

process. This report evaluates and demonstrates the effectiveness of planning policy 

and decision-making, and to identify areas where objectives aren’t being met and where 

local plans and policies, or the internal development management process needs to be 

reviewed. 

1.2 This year is Hackney’s twelfth Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) (formerly known as 

Annual Monitoring Report) since the Local Development Framework was introduced in 

2004. Section 35 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local 

planning authorities to prepare an annual monitoring report, however, section 113 of the 

Localism Act 2011 amends section 35 in respect of the requirements to prepare 

Monitoring Reports.  

1.3 The new requirements for the AMR, set out in The Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (hereby known as “The Regulations”), give local 

authorities more freedom to choose what to monitor in relation to the current local plan 

and to focus on local priorities and goals. The AMR monitors the performance of Local 

Development Documents and draws conclusions about their effectiveness.  

1.4 This AMR mainly covers the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 reporting on the 

performance of planning policy across key topic areas, and progress of the Local 

Development Scheme (LDS), the Core Strategy and Area Action Plans (AAPs), as well 

as neighbourhood planning, the Council’s ‘Duty to Co-operate’, the Community 

Infrastructure Levy and other issues pertinent to measuring the effectiveness of 

Hackney’s Planning Service. Monitoring indicators, (for example, housing completions) 

are by nature historic with information on implementation becoming available only at the 

end of the period.  However, where possible more up-to-date information is used in order 

to be as useful as possible.  This is especially true for updates to the Local Development 

Scheme, and the performance of the Development Management Team. 

1.5 In light of Hackney’s forthcoming new Local Plan ‘LP33’ , this years report has a new 

structure. It continues to monitor some Key Performance indicators (KPIs) from the core 

strategy, the Local Development Scheme (LDS) and compliance with the Duty to 

Page 80



15 
    

Cooperate, but includes new indicators which will give insight to support policies to be 

developed.  This data is restructured to reflect the topic areas of LP33.  

1.6 The report also provides the first reporting on Hackney’s newly adopted Community 

Infrastructure Levy. 

1.7 Data sources for the AMR come from a range of Local and National Indicators. All data 

on developments in the borough is sourced from the London Development Database 

(LDD). The report also relies on summaries and information from a range of council 

teams, and Strategic Planning would like to thank involved parties for their cooperation. 

Structure of the Report 
 

1.8 The report is divided into the following sections: 

Executive Summary 

- Chapter 1: Introduction 

- Chapter 2: Hackney in Context 

Planning Policy Update 

- Chapter 3: Planning Policy Updates   

- Chapter 4: Neighbourhood Planning & Duty to Cooperate. 

Topic Areas 

- Chapter 5: Housing 

- Chapter 6: Employment 

- Chapter 7: Retail and Town Centres 

- Chapter 8: Communities Culture, Education and Health 

- Chapter 9: Transport 

- Chapter 10: Open Space 

- Chapter 11: Design and Heritage 

- Chapter 12: Climate Change and the Environment 

Planning Performance 

- Chapter 13: Planning Performance Report 

Appendix 

- Appendix 1: Progress on delivery of SALP Sites 

- Appendix 2: Progress on delivery of Area Action Plan Sites

Page 81



16 
    

2. Hackney in Context 

2.1 Hackney’s Corporate Policy Team annually update a profile2 of the London Borough of 

Hackney and the people living and working here. Some of the key facts and figures for 

Hackney from the 2014 Profile are summarised below: 

Location 
 

2.2 Hackney is one of 14 inner London boroughs, situated in East London. The Borough, as 

per the London Plan, is part of the East London sub-region, which comprises nine other 

London Boroughs: Barking & Dagenham; Bexley; Greenwich; Havering; Lewisham; 

Newham; Redbridge; Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest.  

2.3 London, together with its immediate hinterland of south east England, contributes over 

a third of UK GDP. Over the last decade, Hackney’s proximity to the multi-national 

financial institutions and their wealth has started to make a difference in the Borough.  

2.4 Hackney occupies a pivotal location to the north east of the City of London. As shown in 

Map 1 below, Hackney shares boundaries with Islington, Newham, Haringey, Waltham 

Forest, Tower Hamlets and the City of London. 

Map 1: Hackney in a Regional Context 
 
  

                                                
2 http://www.hackney.gov.uk/Assets/Documents/Hackney-Profile.pdf 

Page 82



17 
    

Population 

2.5 Hackney’s population is estimated to have increased by 2.2% over the year to 263,150 

people. A quarter of its population is under 20 and the proportion of residents between 

20-29 years has grown in the last ten years and now stands at 21%. By contrast, those 

aged over 55 make up less than a fifth (18%) of the population, making Hackney a 

relatively young borough. 

2.6 Hackney is a culturally diverse area, with significant ‘Other White’, Black and Turkish 

Communities, as well the largest Charedi Jewish Community in Europe focused in the 

North East of the Borough. 9/10 residents say groups get on well with each other. 

2.7 Hackney has a significant immigrant population, with the most recent groups made up 

of Australian and Western European Immigrants.   

2.8 In 2011, 14.5% of Hackney residents said they were disabled or hand a long-term 

limiting illness. 

2.9 Hackney’s population is growing very rapidly, and is now likely to exceed 300,000 people 

by 2027 – 7 years sooner than was reported in the last AMR. The biggest contributor to 

this trend is the working age group (See below). 

  

Page 83



18 
    

Health and Wellbeing 
 

2.10 Life expectancy has once again increased for men and women, and is now 78.5 

(compared to 77.7) years for men and 83.3 (82.8) years for women. However, life 

expectancy for men and women in Hackney remains below the London average (79.6; 

83.8 years), especially for men. 

Deprivation 
 

2.11 Hackney remains the eleventh most deprived local authority in England on the 

Government’s Indices of Multiple Deprivation with 17% of Lower Super Output Areas in 

the top ten per cent most deprived in the country. It should be noted these positions 

have improved in comparison to the rest of England.  

2.12 The majority of deprivation domains showed an improvement in 2015, compared with 

levels in 2010, with percentages falling from 42% to 17% in the number of Lower Super 

Output Areas (LSOAs) experiencing high levels of deprivation, with improvements in the 

health, employment, housing and deprivation effecting children. The crime domain 

experienced an increase in relative deprivation. 

Education 
 

2.13 There was a slight improvement in secondary education, with 58.8% (vs. 58.1%) of 

pupils obtaining five or more GCSE’s grade A* - C including English and Maths in 2015, 

up from 43% in 2008. This remains in a similar position below the London average, 

61.5%, and well above the England average of 53.4%. 

Housing 
 

2.14 The proportion of households who rent from a private landlord has more than doubled 

in the past 10 years. Nearly a third of all households are now private renters; 45% of all 

households in Hackney rent from a social landlord. Those in social housing tend to have 

higher unemployment and lower average incomes than people living in other tenures. 

Environment and Transport 
 

2.15 Hackney is the third most densely populated borough in London, but it is also one of the 

‘greenest’ with falling levels of car ownership. Nitrogen dioxide levels can be high, 

especially around main roads and the borough has several air quality action plans in 

place. 

  

Page 84



19 
    

Crime and Community Safety 
 

2.16 The overall crime rate in Hackney is the lowest in 10 years. Incidents of crime reported 

to the police have declined by over a third in that time, or approximately 13,000 fewer 

victims of crime. 

Growth and Change 
 

2.17 There is significant growth and development pressure in the Shoreditch area of the 

borough, and the North London Line continues to drive growth in Dalston and Hackney 

Wick. 

Page 85



20 
    

3. Planning Policy 

3.1 Hackney continually works to keep its policy current by conducting research and 

developing new policy for the borough, as well as incorporating and applying changes 

to National and London-level planning policy. 

Local Development Scheme 
 
Core Strategy 
 

3.2 The Core Strategy is the key planning policy document, setting out the broad strategy 

for sustainable growth of Hackney.   The Core Strategy and Proposals Map were 

adopted November 2010.  The strategy was the key document in developing the 

Development Management Plan and Site Allocations Local Plan, detailed below. 

 
Hackney Development Management Local Plan (DMLP) 
 

3.3 The Development Management Local Plan (DMLP) is a Borough-wide planning policy 

document, essentially containing a range of policies which expand on the Core Strategy 

to help determine planning applications. DMLP policies need to be considered in parallel 

with other Local Plan documents, the Core Strategy and detailed area-based AAP 

policies, and the emerging Site Allocations Local Plan.  

3.4 The Council formally adopted the Development Management Local Plan (DMLP), 

including the policies map, on 22 July 2015. The DMLP policies replaced the saved UDP 

policies that had been saved until this document is adopted. 

Hackney Site Allocations Local Plan 
 

3.5 The SALP identifies key strategic development sites in the Borough, and provides site-

specific policy as well as allocating a particular use for those sites.  Allocating sites is 

part of a strategic approach to guiding and managing development and growth in the 

Borough. This provides site specific policy on a number of key strategic sites in the 

Borough on which change and development is expected, to assist in the delivery of the 

priorities for the Borough (such as housing and employment uses) by safeguarding and 

allocating uses for these sites. The document will present land use allocations and other 

policies where appropriate for key sites in the Borough that are not already covered by 

Page 86



21 
    

Area Action Plans.  It will also quantify the amount of housing and other types of land 

use it could bring forward to help meet the Borough’s needs. 

3.6 The Site Allocation Local Plan (SALP) is scheduled for adoption in July 2016. 

Local Plan 2033 (LP33) 
 

3.7 The Local Plan contains the objectives and principal policies for planning within the 

borough. It will incorporate core strategic policies; which set out the overall planning 

strategy, and detailed development management policies; which guide development 

within the borough. The vision, delivery strategy and policies of the Local Plan will 

provide an integrated and coordinated approach to planning within the borough and the 

Local Plan should therefore be read as a whole.  

3.8 The production of the new Local Plan will be informed by several rounds of public 

consultation, together with evidence gathering and sustainability appraisal of policy 

options. The Plan must be consistent with national policy and in general conformity with 

the London Plan.  

3.9 Work on the new Local Plan has commenced with adoption programmed for the 

end of 2018. 

The North London Waste Plan (NLWP) 
 

3.10 North London Waste Plan. The North London Waste Plan is being jointly prepared by 

seven north London boroughs: Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, Islington 

and Waltham Forest. The plan will identify a range of suitable sites for the management 

of all north London's waste up to 2032 and include policies and guidelines for 

determining planning applications for waste developments. When adopted, the Plan will 

form part of the suite of documents that make up the Local Plan/Development Plan for 

each of the North London boroughs. The Plan is currently at the evidence gathering, 

stakeholder engagement and drafting stage. 

3.11 The NLWP is programmed for adoption in 2018. 

Area Action Plans (AAPs) 
 

3.12 Hackney has three adopted area action plans, which set out specific strategies and 

policies for their areas.  The AAPs cover Dalston, Hackney Central and Manor House, 

Page 87



22 
    

and allocate sites for development.  The progress on delivery of these sites can be found 

in appendix 1. 

3.13 Stamford Hill is a specific area where there are evident development and growth 

pressures that require management through area-based planning policies. Initial 

evidence gathering and stakeholder engagement is underway and two separate 

consultation bodies have been established to oversee the Plan making process: a Cross 

Party Steering Group to manage the project and a Community Panel made up of Ward 

Councillors and Community leaders to advice on the consultation process; the indicative 

programme for production of this document is set out in the Local Development Scheme 

(2016-2019) with an adoption date programmed for July 2018. 

3.14 The Stamford Hill AAP is currently expected to be adopted in July 2018 

 
Shoreditch Area Action Plan  
 

3.15 Shoreditch is an area experiencing high levels of growth and is identified as an Area of 

Intensification in the London Plan. The Area Action Plan will provide a comprehensive 

planning framework for Shoreditch to manage development pressures and balance 

objectives of maintaining the historic character and identity of the area whilst 

encouraging and facilitating development that contributes to the economic growth of the 

Borough and the role of Shoreditch in accommodating the expansion of the city in the 

City Fringe Area.   

3.16 The Shoreditch AAP is programmed for adoption in February 2019.  

 
Implementation of Hackney’s CIL 
 

3.17 The Council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted following an examination by an 

independent planning inspector, and was implemented in April 2015.  The CIL sets out 

a floorspace based charge on new floorspace in developments of over 100sqm, with 

charges varying for different uses in different areas (for example, £190/sqm on new 

residential in zone A). 

3.18 Hackney will review its CIL Charging Schedule and Planning Contributions SPD 

alongside the preparation of the LP33. 

 

3.19 Planning Contributions SPD (S106) sets out the Council’s policy for securing Planning 

Contributions, from new developments that require planning permission. The SPD 

Page 88



23 
    

details the Council’s approach in securing Planning Contributions and how it will be 

implemented alongside the CIL. It also provides clarity to developers, development 

management officers, stakeholders and local residents regarding the basis on which 

Planning Contributions will be sought. S106 negotiations can still be used for site specific 

mitigation or local infrastructure provision that is not covered by CIL. The SPD will be 

reviewed again following any revision to the CIL charging schedule. 

3.20 The Planning Contributions SPD was adopted in November 2015 

 
 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
 

3.21 Sustainable Design and Construction SP provides planning guidance on how 

sustainable design and construction can be achieved.  

3.22 The Sustainable Design and Construction SPD is scheduled for adoption in July 

2016. 

 
Neighbourhood Planning 
 

3.23 Neighbourhood Plans can be produced by designated Neighbourhood Forums for 

designated Neighbourhood Areas.  The Council has approved an Area and Forum for 

an area around Chatsworth Road, enabling a Neighbourhood Plan to be brought 

forward. Neighbourhood Plans need to be in conformity with the Council’s Local Plan 

policies, and regional and national planning policies. 

3.24 Further area-based and site specific planning guidance may be developed by the 

Council during the next few years.  Please see chapter 4 for a detailed update on 

Neighbourhood Plans in the borough. 

Article 4 Directions  
 

3.25 Article 4 Directions: The Council has made three non-immediate Article 4 Directions 

(A4D) to withdraw specific permitted development (PD) rights in allocated areas, as 

follows:      

- Office use to residential use (in all Priority Employment Areas not already exempt, 

Hackney Central Area Action Plan (AAP) , and Hackney Central and Stoke 

Newington District Town Centres) 

- Flexible town centre uses (in all of the Borough’s Major and District Town Centres 

and in the local shopping centres) 

Page 89



24 
    

- Retail to residential use (in all of the Borough’s Major and District Town Centres and 

in the local shopping centres) 

 

3.26 These A4D are currently subject to a 12 month notice and will come into force 

after 20th July 2016.  

Chesham Arms 

3.27 An immediate Article 4 Direction for The Chesham Arms Public House, 15 Mehetabel 

Road took effect on 6th March 2015 removing permitted development rights for any 

change of use. 

National Policy 

 

3.28 Planning policy at all levels is supported by legislation, usually in the form of Acts of 

Parliament (Primary Legislation) and Statutory Instruments (Secondary Legislation). 

During the 2014/15 monitoring year new primary and secondary legislation has been 

introduced in relation to the Planning Service. 

Housing and Planning Act 2016 
 

3.29 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 gained royal assent in May 2016. It contains broad 

changes to several key areas of planning and the processes surrounding it.  The key 

changes are: 

3.30 A new type of permission: Permission in Principle. This is a new type of planning 

permission which splits the ‘principle’ of development from the more technical elements 

of planning.  It is specifically limited to housing-led schemes, and requires Hackney to 

grant the permission on sites deemed suitable through the Brownfield Register (see 

below), setting out the site boundary and the amount of housing.  In addition, developers 

will be able to apply for permission in principle for smaller sites. 

3.31 A new register of sites: Brownfield Land Register.  Brownfield registers require the 

council to produce a list of all sites supporting greater than 5 houses.  These sites must 

be available, developable and deliverable to meet the requirements and free from site 

constraints which cannot be mitigated.   Sites which are on the list will be given automatic 

Page 90



25 
    

permission in principle (see above) when placed on the register, which will be updated 

annually. 

3.32 A new register of small sites.  A second register is for sites capable of supporting less 

than four new homes and requires that the council publish the list to support smaller 

housebuilders.  

3.33 A new type of affordable housing: Starter Homes. Starter Homes are available to 

first-time buyers <40 years of age at a 20% discount from market rates (capped at a 

maximum £450,000) in London. The government expects them to form the main 

component of affordable housing on new developments, which is likely to displace 

around half of other affordable tenures delivered by current planning policy.  This is likely 

to have significant impacts for the ability to meet objectively assessed housing needs 

and place further pressure on housing affordability across Hackney. 

3.34 Greater intervention powers for the Secretary of State (SoS) and Mayor of London. 

These mean that the SoS can intervene to require the pausing of local plans, as well as 

modification of new Local Planning policy.   The SoS has already used these powers (in 

June 2016, less than a month after assent) to pause the Birmingham Local Plan.  The 

Mayor has been given a similar set of powers within London, which may have 

implications for Hackney’s policy development going forward. 

3.35 Tightening of deadlines for Neighbourhood Planning. Setting a strict deadline for 

the determination of neighbourhood area/forum proposals of 13 weeks, with failure to 

determine resulting in an automatic grant. 

3.36 Testing Competition in Processing Planning Applications. This enables a private 

provider to processing planning applications, up to the point of recommending a 

decision.  This is similar to the process now established for building control inspections.  

This new route poses a large number of additional questions which the council 

elaborated on in its response to consultation on the changes arising from the bill.  

3.37 More information on financial Benefits of Development. Officers are now required 

to make note of any financial benefits arising from permitted developments, for example 

Community Infrastructure levy or other planning obligations. 

Statutory Instruments (SIs) 
 

Page 91



26 
    

3.38 Statutory instruments are secondary legalisation which puts into use elements of 

legislation.  There have been many changes via planning related SIs in 2015 and they 

are listed below: 

- The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(Amendment) (England) Order 2016 grants additional permitted development 
rights for change of use.  These include:  Change of use of Launderettes into 
dwellings; Office to residential made permanent but expanded to include noise 
impacts; temporary rights to convert light industrial uses to dwellings.   
 

- The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2015 reduces the requirements to notify Historic England, 
and the Secretary of State of applications for planning permission including a 
listed buildings. 
 

- The Town and Country Planning (Section 62A Applications) (Procedure and 
Consequential Amendments) (Amendment) Order 2015 consolidates changes 
to the development management procedure which came about with the Growth 
and Infrastructure Act 2013. 
 

- The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015 alter the conditions under which an 
Environmental Impact assessment must be carried out, to increase the size of 
developments which require it.  
 

- The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) 
Order 2015 consolidates changes from 2014-15 and added new permitted 
development rights to convert storage and warehousing (B8) into dwellings for a 
three year period from 18th march 2015;  Casinos and arcades into dwellings;  
extended householder development rights to extend their homes for a further 3 
years; introduce permitted development for retail uses (A1) to financial and 
professional services (A2); made betting offices and pay-day loan shops Sui 
Generis from financial services (A2); introduced a permitted development right 
from retail (A1), financial and professional services (A2) and casinos/arcades to 
restaurants/cafes (A3); introduced a right to change from retail (A1) and 
financial/professional services (A2)to assembly and leisure with a maximum of 
200sqm floorspace. 
 

- The Town and Country Planning (Hearings and Inquiries Procedure) 
(England) (Amendment and Revocation) Rules 2015 consolidates and alters 
legislation surrounding the appealing of advertisement consents. 
 

- The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 
tighten the timeframes for neighbourhood planning process, shortening the time to 
process an area designation to 13 weeks and limiting the consultation period for 
representations.  
 

- The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 set out the process for compensation arising from the new 
permitted development rights (most notably Office to Residential) which were 
introduced in 2014.

Page 92



27 
    

4. Neighbourhood Planning & Duty to 
Cooperate 

Neighbourhood Planning 
 

4.1 Neighbourhood planning was introduced by the Localism Act 2011. The Government 

also introduced guidance on submitting Neighbourhood Area and Forum applications in 

the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations, which came into force on the 6th of 

April 2012. Through the Localism Act, local communities have the power to influence 

the future of the places they live by preparing Neighbourhood Plans. Neighbourhood 

Plans are led and prepared by the community. The Council has a statutory role to 

provide advice and support to those producing a plan 

4.2 Neighbourhood Planning allows communities to influence the development and growth 

of their local area through the production of a Neighbourhood Development Plan, a 

Neighbourhood Development Order, or a Community Right to Build Order. 

Neighbourhood Planning is taken forward by Parish Councils or Neighbourhood Forums 

that apply to the Council to designate a ‘Neighbourhood Area’ for which to focus their 

proposals.  

4.3 As Neighbourhood Plans become formal planning documents with significant weight in 

decisions on planning applications, they have to be prepared following a statutory 

process, broadly similar to that for the Council’s own plans.  

4.4 Before a Neighbourhood Plan can be considered a Neighbourhood Forum needs to be 

formed and a Neighbourhood Area needs to be agreed. The Neighbourhood Forum will 

set the boundaries for the neighbourhood area, and this must be agreed by the Council. 

There can be only one Neighbourhood Forum for each area.  

4.5 For a Neighbourhood Plan to be accepted it must comply with local and national planning 

policy. Neighbourhood Plans can provide detail on how the Council’s borough-wide 

planning policies should be applied in a local area, to reflect the aspirations of the 

community and local circumstances. Neighbourhood Plans have to be in line with the 

overall strategic approach in Hackney’s existing adopted plans and national policy.  

4.6 In January 2015 the Government introduced a number of amendments to the 

Neighbourhood Regulations. The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015 became effective from February 2015.  The Government introduced 

new time limits for local authorities to determine Neighbourhood Planning applications. 

Page 93



28 
    

New Regulation 6A was added into the 2012 Regulations to prescribe the date by which 

a local planning authority must determine an application for the designation of a 

neighbourhood area to 13 weeks. Where an application area straddles a borough 

boundary and falls within the administrative area of two or more local planning 

authorities, the prescribed period is 20 weeks.  

4.7 Changes were also made to the time allowed for representation and to the list of 

documents that a qualifying body must submit to a local planning authority with a 

proposal for a neighbourhood plan. The minimum period that a local planning authority 

must allow for representations was reduced from six weeks to four weeks. Additionally, 

Neighbourhood Forums are now required to submit either an environmental report 

prepared in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations 2004, or a statement of reasons why an environmental assessment is not 

required. 

Hackney’s designated Neighbourhood Areas and Forums 
 

4.8 The Council has so far designated four neighbourhood areas and one forum.  These are 

as follow: 

- Central Stamford Hill Neighbourhood Area - designated July 2013 
- Chatsworth Road Neighbourhood Area and Forum - designated July 2013 
- Queen Elizabeth Lordship Neighbourhood Area - designated January 2015 
- East Shoreditch Neighbourhood Area - designated February 2015 

 

Chatsworth Road Forum 
 

4.9 The Chatsworth Road Forum was the first group in Hackney to implement the legislation 

and their applications to designate a Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Forum 

were approved by the Council in July 2013. 

  

Fig 4.1: Designated Chatsworth Road Neighbourhood Area 
Page 94



29 
    

4.10 The Chatsworth Road Neighbourhood area is a mainly residential area bounded by the 

River Lea to the east, Lea Bridge Road to the north, Lower Clapton Road to the west 

and Homerton High Street to the south. The Neighbourhood area focuses on Chatsworth 

Road, the local neighbourhood’s high street which runs through its centre. Most of the 

area is within 10 minutes walking distance of the Chatsworth road local shopping centre 

which is designated within the Core Strategy and emerging Development Management 

Local Plan (DMLP). The Chatsworth Road Neighbourhood Forum have completed a first 

draft of their Neighbourhood plan, which they submitted to the Council in the autumn of 

2015. 

Central Stamford Hill Neighbourhood Area 
 

4.11 The Council designated the Central Stamford Hill Neighbourhood Area in July 2013. 

Following the Council’s refusal of the two original Stamford Hill area and forum 

applications submitted in 2013, two further applications were made  by the same two 

groups. Hackney Cabinet refused the forum applications on the grounds of their negative 

impact on community  cohesion in Stamford Hill. Given the pressure for growth in this 

part of the Borough and the need to build local consensus on planning issues, Cabinet 

resolved that the Council should lead on developing an Area Action Plan (AAP) which 

would work with both groups and build community cohesion in the Stamford Hill area.  

4.12 A Cross Party Project Steering group involving local Ward Members from all three 

political parties has been set up to steer the AAP and is working well. This has been 

followed by a Community Panel which includes community representatives and local 

people who live or work in Stamford Hill. The main purpose of the Community Panel is 

to ensure that a range of local views are taken into account in the policies developed in 

the AAP. The group includes representatives of both Stamford hill Neighbourhood 

Forum groups, key community groups, faith groups and Ward Councillors. The work with 

the Community Panel has just won the London Planning Award, for the Best Community 

Led Regeneration Project. 

  

Page 95



30 
    

4.13 The Community Panel have helped the Council develop a programme of local 

engagement in Stamford Hill. Community workshops issues have been held on key 

Planning issues. Details of the 2015 workshops held are as follows: 

- Workshop 1- Public realm and green spaces  
- Workshop 2- The needs of local business  
- Workshop 3- Facilities for social activities and leisure  
- Workshop 4- Boosting health and wellbeing  
- Workshop 5- Building stronger communities (2 workshops on housing over 2 

evenings with 2 sessions per evening) 
- Workshop 6- Our housing needs – Part 1   
- Workshop 7- Housing our growing community Building - Part 2  
- Workshop 8- Transport   
- Workshop 9 –Education 

 

Page 96



31 
    

4.14 All the workshops have attracted large numbers of local residents and business    

interests. For example a total of 97 people attended the housing workshops.  The 

workshop reports will be used as part of the evidence base study. 

 

Queen Elizabeth/ Lordship Neighbourhood Area 

4.15 In January 2015, the Council designated a Neighbourhood area in Clissold Ward. The 

Queen Elizabeth Lordship Neighbourhood Forum group made an application for a small 

Neighbourhood Area, comprising a series of residential streets in the North east corner 

of Clissold Park. The group are still in the process of developing their neighbourhood 

forum and have decided not to proceed with a forum application for the time being. This 

application was for a neighbourhood area only and covers a small area comprising about 

5 streets bounded by Lordship Road and Clissold Park. Some of the area is already 

within a Conservation Area and the main focus of the group is on improving local design 

Fig 4.2: Designated Central Stamford Hill Neighbourhood Area 

Page 97



32 
    

and amenity. The Neighbourhood Area was approved un-amended at the January 2015 

Cabinet. 

  

Page 98



33 
    

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
East Shoreditch Neighbourhood Area and Forum applications 
 

4.16 The East Shoreditch Neighbourhood Forum submitted a Cross Borough Tower Hamlets 

/Hackney application for a neighbourhood area and forum, which was considered by the 

Hackney Cabinet in February 2015. The submitted area was focused on the Boundary 

Estate, but also included the east side of Shoreditch High Street including key business 

locations.  Tower Hamlets Cabinet approved both the area and forum applications for 

their area in February 2014. 

4.17 Following discussions with the group and Ward Members, Hackney Cabinet agreed a 

smaller neighbourhood area boundary centred on the Hackney section of Calvert 

Avenue and St Leonards Church. The accompanying application for an East Shoreditch 

Neighbourhood Forum was refused on the grounds that the associated boundary had 

been altered and no longer reflected the make-up of the Neighbourhood area.  It was 

also considered that the proposed forum was primarily drawn from the residential areas 

located within the Tower Hamlets boundary, which under represented the business 

interests in Hackney. The report agreed by Cabinet therefore included a resolution for 

the planning team to start the scoping exercise for a Shoreditch Area Action Plan. 

  

Fig 4.3: Queen Elizabeth/Lordship Park Neighbourhood Area 

Page 99



34 
    

 
  

Fig 4.4: East Shoreditch Neighbourhood Area (area outlined in red) 

Page 100



35 
    

Duty to Cooperate 
 

4.18 Section 110 of the Localism Act introduces the duty to co-operate in relation to the 

planning of sustainable development (as a new section 33A in the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). In effect, for Hackney Council, this means that in 

preparing its Local Plans, the Council must co-operate with: 

- Neighbouring local planning authorities and county councils; 
- Other local planning authorities and county councils where sustainable 

development or use of land would have a significant impact on at least two local 
planning areas or on a planning matter that falls within the remit of a county 
council, or on other strategic issues such as infrastructure which may have an 
impact; and 

- The “prescribed bodies” and “specific and general consultation bodies” which are 
considered to be of most relevance to the preparation of the development plan 
for Hackney, as described in the Duty to Co-operate Report published in 
December 2013. 

4.19 The Act also requires the local planning authority to: 

- Engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis with these authorities 
and bodies to develop strategic policies; 

- Set out planning policies to address issues which arise from the process of 
meeting the Duty; and 

- Consider joint approaches to plan making. 

4.20 The following table summarises actions taken during the 2014/15 monitoring year 

towards meeting the ‘Duty’:  

 

Organisation Nature of Cooperation 

All prescribed, specific and general 

bodies 

Consulted on the proposed main modifications to the DMLP 
between February and April 2015.  Plan was formally adopted in 
July 2015. 

All prescribed, specific and general 

bodies 

Public Examination of the DMLP which invited representations 
from interested parties including duty to cooperate partners. 

All prescribed, specific and general 

bodies 

Public Examination of the SALP 13, 14 and 15 January 2015 which 
invited representations from all interested parties.   

All prescribed, specific and general 

bodies 

Held Public Examination on Community Infrastructure Levy on 29 
October 2014 which invited interested parties including duty to 
cooperate partners. 

London Boroughs Attended the Association of London Borough Planning Officers 
(ALBPO; regular one-to-one meetings with the London borough 
of Islington, City of London, GLA and others.  
Responded to Haringey Local Plan consultation on 4th March 
2015. 

North London Waste Plan Authority Several Meetings in line with preparation and examination of plan 
with City of London, Tower Hamlets and Haringey. 

London Legacy Development 

Corporation 

Cooperation on strategic matters relating to the Hackney Wick 

area. Regular meetings held.  

GLA The Council had significant input into the GLA’s Industrial Land 
Baseline Survey, and responded to the consultation on the Minor 
Alterations to the London Plan in May 2015. 

Table 4.1: Duty to Cooperate actions in 2014/15 

Page 101



36 
    

5. Housing 

5.1 Housing forms a central element of the Council’s planning policies, with the principle aim 

of ensuring that the housing needs and aspirations of Hackney’s current and future 

residents are met in a way that is sustainable. 

5.2 The borough faces extremely high demands for housing, with the most recent Market 

Assessment indicating need to build at least 1756 new homes each year to meet the 

needs of a growing population.   Planning policies aim to achieve this target, while 

ensuring that new homes are of the correct size, tenure and above all quality to meet 

the needs of residents. Hackney is required by the London Plan to meet and exceed a 

housing target, set, from 2015 at 1590/annum.  Up to this year, the target was around a 

third lower, at set at 1,160/annum.  Core Strategy Policy and DMLP 19 both look to 

deliver adequate housing to meet the needs of the borough. 

Net additional dwellings over the last 5 years (FY2011-15) 
 

5.3 As a raw measure of policy effectiveness, total housing delivery over the last 5 years 

has totalled 8261 units, an average of 1652/Year.  Three out of five years exceeded the 

target with almost half delivered in 2011-12 (See Fig 5.1, below).  

 
Tenure FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 5 year Total 

Affordable Rent 0 0 13 0 11 24 

Market 544 972 684 634 1114 3948 

Intermediate 153 183 184 169 137 826 

Social Rent 197 280 379 405 350 1611 

Empty Homes returning to use 88 874 117 -41 36 1074 

Non-Self Contained 8 1157 -362 -17 -8 778 

Annual Total (Units) 990 3466 1015 1150 1640 8261 

London Plan Target 1160 1160 1160 1160 1160 5800 

Fig 5.1: Housing Delivery in Hackney 2010-15 

Table 5.1: Housing Delivery in Hackney 2010-15 

Figure 5.1: Housing Delivery in Hackney 2010-15 

Page 102



37 
    

  

5.4 The borough delivered approximately 145% of its target, with delivery exceeding the 

target for the period almost two years early, in 2013.  This represents a significant boost 

to housing numbers within the borough and indicates that planning policy has enabled 

new dwellings to come forward. 

Delivery by Type 
 

- 47.8% conventional market units 
- 19.5% socially rented (i.e. Hackney Council/Housing Association) 
- 13% empty homes in the borough being returned to use 
- 10% Intermediate (Shared Ownership, etc) 
- 9.4% Non-Self Contained (Student Halls and Hotels) 
- 0.3% Affordable rent (Tenures set to 80% of market rates) 

5.5 In line with the London Plan, Hackney seeks the maximum reasonable amount of 

affordable provision in developments, with policy current set at a target 50% affordable 

housing on conventional developments over 10 units through policy DM21 of the DMLP 

and 20 of the Core Strategy. As non-conventional developments are not covered, they 

have been set aside when calculating the proportion of affordable vs. market units 

delivered. 

5.6 As a proportion of conventional developments: 

- 38% or 2461 units were affordable over the last 5 years. Of this: 
- 25%, or 1611 units were socially rented 
- 13.6%, or 833 units were intermediate 
- 0.4%, or 25 units were Affordable Rent 

 

5.7 Core Strategy Policy 21 sets out a mix of 60% Social Rented vs. 40% Intermediate (or 

other).  This target was more closely met, with 65% of the affordable element delivered 

as social housing versus 34% Intermediate.  Affordable rent made up ~1% of supply. 

5.8 It should be noted that the large figure for long-term empty homes returning back to use 

(1074 over the last 5 years) in Hackney is partly due to Hackney’s efforts to tackle the 

issue of empty homes. Grant funding is available through the Council for landlords 

wanting to return empty properties in to use for renting by those on the Council’s housing 

waiting list. 

5.9 Non-self-contained housing refers to student housing and housing for older people and 

accounts almost 10% of Hackney’s delivery for 778 net additional units over the period. 

Delivery of these units typically involves large losses and gains (as buildings either fall 

to other uses or new ones are constructed.   There is a trend towards provision of longer 

stay hotel/serviced apartments which may need to be monitored in future years. 

  

Page 103



38 
    

Delivery by Ward 
 

5.10 Core Strategy Policy 1 sets out that new developments should be focused in growth 

areas, primarily the Town Centres, South Shoreditch and the railway corridors of the 

North and East London Lines.  Below provides a spatial indication of Housing delivery 

in the last financial year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.11 Figure 5.2 shows that there is a significant divergence in housing delivery between 

wards, with clear growth areas around Hackney Central, the north of the borough and 

especially Shoreditch, which accounts for 893 units,.  However, Dalston and Stoke 

Newington saw low levels of provision 

5.12 These figures indicate that new housing growth is coming forward in line with the cores 

strategies’ aims, broadly.  However there may be a need to look at how Stoke Newington 

can better accommodate new growth.  It may also be prudent to consider any new 

growth areas that need to come forward to meet future housing need, as sites within 

existing growth areas are developed. 

  

Figure 5.2: Housing Delivery by Ward, 2015 

Page 104



39 
    

35%

36%

21%

8%

Bedroom Sizes, All 
Development 2011-15

1 Bed /
Studio

2 Bed

3 Bed

4+ Beds

22%

30%

30%

18%

Bedroom Sizes, Social 
Rent Tenure 2011-15

40%

41%

15%
4%

Bedroom Sizes, 
Intermediate/Other 

Tenure, 2011-15

39%

37%

19%

5%

Bedroom Sizes, Market 
Tenure 2011-15

Housing Quality – Size and Density of New Conventional Development 
 

5.13 Along with the provision of new units to meet the needs of the borough, Hackney places 

a particular focus on the quality of developments by requiring they contribute to reducing 

overcrowding and meet a range of sizes to suit the needs of the borough, and that they 

contain appropriate levels of space both within and overall in new developments. 

5.14 The key element of this is the provision of a balance of smaller and larger units to fit a 

range of housing needs, with a specific focus on 3-bed houses established under Core 

Strategy 19 and extended by Policy DM22 to require specific amounts of 3bed or greater 

with a descending amount of 2bed and 1bed units. 

5.15 As Fig 5.3, below demonstrates the last 5 years has delivered this, with an overall 

proportion of slightly more 2 beds than 1 beds units and marginally lower of 3 or more 

beds (29% in total). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.16 Breaking this down by tenure, significant differences appear in the data.  Market unit 

sizes are predominantly 1 & 2 Bed, with a less-than-compliant level of larger sizes.  

Social Rent provides a more policy compliant mix, with 48% 3 or more bed units (Policy 

DM22 looks for 33%). 

 

Figure 5.3: Bedroom Sizes, Tenures 2011-15 

Page 105



40 
    

5.17 Overall, this policy is working effectively to deliver the correct sizes of tenure, and 

ensuring that the right homes are delivered to meet the objectives of the borough. 

Density of Dwellings 
 

5.18 The average density of new housing in Hackney has risen over the Last 5 years, with 

average dwellings per hectare (DpH) standing at 283 in 2015, and averaging 258 since 

2011.  This is more than twice the London Average DPH. (See Fig 5.4, below) 

 
 

5.19 In addition to average densities across all development, residential densities across the 

period can be analysed by tenure.  In this analysis, Intermediate tenures have by far the 

highest density, at 344 DpH, while Social Rented sites at 290 DpA, and Market at 244, 

all of which have increased in line with the average.   Considering the physical limitation 

of space within the borough, densification is to an extent inevitable, and will require 

increasingly innovative design responses to provide a high quality environment. 

Housing Affordability 
 

5.20 Housing affordability is an obstacle to all of the objectives of Hackney’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy; from increasing income poverty, to reducing Hackney’s resident’s 

opportunities to access employment and the amenities to live healthy, successful lives, 

affordability has a key role to play.   

5.21 Hackney’s Local Plan policies help to increase affordability by bringing forward 

affordable developments, and by increasing the total supply of homes, and therefore 

Figure 5.4: Dwellings per Hectare, Completed Developments 2011-15 

Page 106



41 
    

affordability acts as both a crude function of success (through emphasis should be 

placed on crude), and an indicator of the need for stronger policy on affordable housing. 

5.22 Fig 5.5 shows that housing has become increasingly unaffordable, with median house 

prices in the borough 15 times median incomes in 2015.  In addition to this, 

unaffordability is accelerating, rising over six times, from 9.11 to 15.23 between 2011-

15.   This is compared to a rise of 1.7 2005-2011.  This presents a significant issue for 

the borough going forward. An increasing proportion of new housing will need to be 

delivered within affordable tenures, and there will be increasing pressure on rents as 

residents are unable to get onto the Housing Ladder.   Planning policy may need to 

consider how it can provide alternatives to home ownership through the private rental 

sector (PRS). 

 
 
Net Additional Dwellings in the next 5 Years (FY16-20) 
 

5.23 The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to optimise the supply of housing by 

assessing both demand and supply of new developments.  The key plank of this is to 

demonstrate a sufficient supply of housing for the next 5 years (a “5 Year Land Supply”) 

which meets the objectively assessed need (OAN) of the borough.  It also requires the 

council to identify a further 5 years of deliverable sites, and where possible for the 

proceeding 5 years (i.e. years 10-15).  

5.24 The London boroughs are subject to additional regulation through the London Plan.   

Acknowledging that there are significant supply-side (i.e. a lack of new suitable sites for 

housing) issues, the London Plan sets out a minimum delivery target for boroughs over 

a period.   With the adoption in 2015 of the FALP hackney’s minimum delivery 2015-

7.54
7.78

8.97
8.58

7.85

8.69
9.11

10.03

11.74

13.41

15.23

6.00

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

11.00

12.00

13.00

14.00

15.00

16.00

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Median Income to House Price Ratio, Hackney, 2005-15

Hackney

Tower Hamlets

London

England

Figure 5.5: Median Income to House Prices, Hackney 2005-15 

Page 107



42 
    

2025 is 15,988 dwellings, which is expressed by an annualised minimum target of 1599 

DpA.  This target is then broken down into types of delivery, below: 

Housing Target, FY2016-20 

Dwelling Type Minimum Annualised Target 

Conventional and Non-Self-Contained 

Dwellings 
1471 

Vacant units returning to use 128 

Total per Annum 1599 

Total 5 Years 7995 

5% Buffer 400 (Rounded up) 

Grand Total  8395 

 

5.25 This is a high target for planning policy to meet, but as figure 5.7 (overleaf) shows, 

overleaf, the current pipeline of housing indicates that the borough will exceed this target 

by approximately 1228 dwellings, with a total of 9623 dwellings expected to complete by 

2020.   

5.26 These numbers are clustered in certain areas of the borough, which broadly reflect the 

Growth Areas identified in the core strategy and major regeneration schemes.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.27 Figure 5.6 shows, below the pipeline for new developments over the next five years 

indicates that development is likely reduce around Hackney Central and pivot to Dalston 

as the Dalston AAP comes to fruition.  Growth will also continue strongly in the North 

and south of the borough as is has in 2014/15 

 

Table 5.2: Current Housing Target 

Figure 5.6: Housing Delivery, Pipeline to 2020 

Page 108



43 
    
 

Figure 5.7: Housing Trajectory 2015 

P
age 109



44 
    

5.28 Figure 5.7 sets out the updated housing trajectory for the borough in graphical form, as 

well as the London Plan Minimum target.  As this demonstrates, Housing delivery in the 

borough is expected to significantly exceed targets over the next several years, tailing 

off to 2020 with a slight under delivery.  

5.29 The trajectory indicates that Hackney can demonstrate a 5-year land supply, as required 

by the NPPF, as well the 5% buffer which is required by authorities which do not have a 

history of significant under delivery. 

5.30 Overall, between 2015-16 and 2019-20 the borough will deliver a total of 9323 homes, 

or 114% of its London Plan Target.  Delivery in the period is broken down below: 

 

5.31 Conventional completions make up the bulk of new development coming forward in the 

borough, providing a strong backbone for housing delivery over the next 5 years. It is 

supplemented by Non-conventional units, mostly in hotels.  The gradual drop-off towards 

the end of the period is largely the result of a lack of concrete (application based) data 

and a transition to projected sites coming forward. 

5.32 Overall, the housing trajectory shows a healthy level of growth going forward, with sites 

from the soon to be adopted SALP contributing outcomes just below target for period 

2019/20 – 2024/25.  Furthermore, the long term outlook also provides a strong 

foundation for future housing development, if complemented by new site allocations 

which will come forward in the Local Plan Review. 

 

 

 

Figure 5.8: Trajectory for 2016-20 by type of housing. 

Page 110



45 
    

Analysis 

 

5.33 Over the last 5 years, planning policy has led to the delivery of 145% of London Plan 

targets, providing a total of 8396 units.  Of this amount, approximately 2481 affordable 

units have been delivered, or 38%.  While this does not meet the council’s very high 

target of half of new housing being affordable, it represents an outstanding achievement 

in a London average of 28% over the same period, and is just under double that of 

Tower Hamlets (23%) which shares Hackney’s housing market.    In addition, it has been 

highly successful in delivering a large proportion of 3 and 4 bed properties (29%) as 

required by Core Strategy policy 19 and DMLP 22. 

5.34 However, housing policy faces new challenges going forward.  Key amongst these is 

meeting a housing target which has increased by 37% for 2015-2030 and resolving 

how to best tackle an actual need 51% above this target.  Figure 5.8 shows that there 

is sufficient development - 9323 homes, or 114% of target  in the pipeline to meet 

targets over the next 5 years 2020, but between 2020-30 the borough will need to 

develop additional sites for housing if it to meet the needs of its residents.   

5.35 In addition to this, Housing affordability continues to increase year-on-year, almost 

doubling between 2008 and 2015 despite the great recession, with median prices 

reaching 15:1 with median earnings.  The most recent evidence suggests that if the 

council is to achieve its objective of meeting the needs of current and future residents 

planning must deliver 60% of new housing as socially rented at present, and if 

trends continue it is not unforeseeable that provision of social housing may reach 90-

100% in order to ensure that the housing needs and aspirations of Hackney’s current 

and future residents are met in a way that is sustainable.

Page 111



46 
    

6. Employment 

6.1 Increasing employment is a key objective of the borough 

aimed at reducing poverty and increasing life chances.  In 

addition, changes to employment Floorspace can have 

significant impacts for business rates and spending in 

Hackney, contributing to economic prosperity.  Planning 

policy aims for Hackney to be one of London’s most 

competitive and affordable business destinations, with policy 

supporting the main growth areas to attract a distinctive mix 

of enterprises through providing a high quality environment 

around industrial locations and ensuring all employment 

areas offer high quality affordable units.  

6.2 Core Strategy Policy 17 and DM14 seek to protect areas of high levels of business 

floorspace, known as Priority Employment Areas, and seek to encourage increased 

provision of employment floorspace within these areas. The principle aim is to ensure 

these areas retain the benefits of agglomeration, such as supply chains/networks, 

collaboration and operation, without damaging residential amenity. 

Net change (m²) of B1, B2 and B8 and D1 uses in PEAs and overview of the Borough 

6.3 Core strategy policy 17 seeks to prevent the loss of employment floorspace, but this 

approach has been recently softened by DM14 which moves this emphasis to 

employment-led schemes, i.e. B1, B2 and B8, D1 as the majority use but with residential 

provided on site, too.  This is balanced in tension with encouraging the agglomeration 

of businesses in a way which supports and protects them, and residents existing 

residential areas to create a balance with other land uses in the borough. 

6.4 Between 2010-15, as figure 6.1 shows (overleaf) there has been a significant net loss 

of employment space in Priority employment areas.  These losses have occurred in B1 

and B8, with a total loss of 13032sqm and 26357sqm respectively.  B2, already a very 

minor floorspace type in PEAs, lost just under 1000sqm. Similarly, D1 registers a total 

net increase of 33sqm.  Figure 6.1 indicates that PEAs were affected in a myriad of 

ways, with some experiencing significant losses (Wenlock, and Mare Street) while 

others, such as Kingsland saw transitions between employment uses. 

 

 

Page 112



47 
    

 

6.5 These changes are put in perspective when considered with changes in stock in the rest 

of the borough, which shows much greater losses in B2 (32,557) and similar in B8 

(24,384sqm) than in PEAs and indicates policy is working somewhat more effectively to 

counteract loss of employment floorspace.   It should be noted that of the net B1 

delivered outside the PEAs, 95,680sqm is a single application - the International 

Broadcast Centre in the Olympic Park.  At this time this is part of the LLDC planning 

area. Therefore actual net for 2010-15 is of the order of 7000sqm.  

6.6 In 2015 was a relatively similar year to the trend, with a net loss almost entirely made 

up of B1 Floorspace of 5150sqm.  The majority of this was contained in Wenlock, which 

lost 4042sqm of B1.  There were slight net gains in Shoreditch, of 785sqm office space 

Figure 6.1: Net Change in Employment Floorspace in PEAS 2010-15. 

Figure 6.2: Net Change in Employment Floorspace PEAS vs Rest of 
Borough 2010-15. 

Page 113



48 
    

and 493sqm D1. It should be noted that several PEAs (Anton Street, Dalston, Red 

Square and Shacklewell) there was no recorded employment floorspace activity. There 

were few notable developments in 2014/15, and key applications of interest were: 

- Eagle House (2006/0201) in Wenlock Pea is being redeveloped as a mixed use 
scheme resulting in a loss of 3946m2 of B1 floorspace.  However the 
application indicates that new B1 forms approximately 3500sqm of the new 
scheme, along with 276 residential units. 

- 263 Mare Street (2010/2992) in Mare Street PEA.  First and second floors have 
been converted into 17 residential units. 

- James Taylor Building (2008/1006) in Shoreditch PEA.  Site redeveloped from 
Warehouse to a new mixed used development containing 1150m2 B1, 493 sqm 
D1 and 69 residential units. 

6.7 As well as looking specific land use performance within PEAs, it is informative to look at 

the wider trends in the borough.  Between 2010-15 there was a net gain of 9483sqm net 

of employment floorspace overall, but as figure 6.3 (below) shows new employment 

space outside of PEAs offset much of the loss within them. 

 
 

6.8 Core Strategy policies 16, 17 and 18 look to increase levels of employment across the 

borough, and so this represent a positive trend. It is important to caveat that, as noted 

Figure 6.3: Overall Employment Floorspace Change, 2015 Figure 6.3: Overall Employment Floorspace Change, 2010-
15 

Page 114



49 
    

in the previous AMR, the five year figure is offset by the International Broadcast Centre 

in Hackney Wick, which delivered 95,000sqm of B1 space in 2011/12. 

6.9 By contrast, in 2015, the LDD records a net loss of 2841sqm of employment floorspace 

overall.  Similar to the 5 year trend, this broadly represents a loss of space in PEAs 

offset by gains in the rest of the borough, with high losses in Wenlock and Mare Street.  

However, Shoreditch did see a gain of 1278, reflecting an increasing interest in non-

residential development in the area is working well with the strengthened DMLP policy 

DM14. 

Page 115



50 
    

 
 

Figure 6.4: Employment pipeline, 2015 

P
age 116



51 
    

6.10 As well as monitoring the completion of developments, it is possible to gain insight into 

planning performance by looking at employment floorspace which is either under 

construction or permitted at present.  As of 2014-15 there is approximately 165,000 sqm 

net of Employment Floorspace in the pipeline, of which over 90% is located in the 

Shoreditch PEA, dominating other PEAs and indicative of the high demand in the south 

of the borough, and indicative that Policy 3 of the Core Strategy has been very effective.    

The majority of PEAs record a net gain, with the biggest losses in the rest of the borough, 

which indicates policies are having a positive impact in comparison to trends. 

6.11 Overall there is a mixture of losses and gains between uses, with B1 space dominating 

gains (161287sqm) followed by D1 (30,377 sqm), with a clear transfer from B2 (4501) 

and B8 (-13113) within PEAs.   This trend appears to be inverted with the rest of the 

borough seeing a loss of B uses to a significant increase in D1.  This is mostly in the 

form of Educational uses.   Planning policy is clearly effecting PEAs unequally, but 

overall the pipeline presents a more positive view of going forward and indicates policies 

are working.      

6.12 Overall the pipeline shows a healthy level of new developments, which reflect well on 

planning policies in the Core Strategy and DMLP.  The form of employment taken 

reflects present trends in generally being large floorplates within mixed use schemes. 

Notable schemes in the pipeline include: 

- Curtain Road (2012/3871) is a major mixed use development in Shoreditch PEA.  
It provides over 33,000sqm of new Office floorspace and 482 new dwellings 
across four buildings, including a 40 storey tower.  Notable it also includes the 
excavation and presenting of the Curtain Theatre at the base of the development.   

- Norton Folgate (2011/0698) again, within the Shoreditch PEA is the largest 
development on record, providing 77,000sqm of new office space as well as 282 
residential units in a 50 storey tower. 

- Corsham Street (2011/3007) is a major new education development within 
Wenlock PEA, comprising over 5000sqm of new D1 space, 541 student rooms 
and retail uses at ground level.  Applications such as this demonstrate 
employment land is increasingly falling to uses other than purely residential within 
PEAs. 

 
Net change in B2/B8 in Hackney’s Locally Significant Industrial Sites and Strategic 
Industrial Locations 
 

6.13 Hackney has a very small amount of land in protected industrial designations, known 

and LSIS.  In 2015, there was no change to these areas.  However, as previously 

Page 117



52 
    

mentioned in chapter 2, the North London Waste plan safeguards one site for an 

industrial use.    

6.14 The GLA released a London Wide report on industrial land supply in March 20163.  The 

report provides a useful summary of the changes to industrial land in Hackney, and 

estimates that at present Hackney has approximately 462,000 sqm of industrial 

floorspace with a very low vacancy rate of just 3.8%.  It has lost 18.3% of its industrial 

land since 2010 at 183% of the rate of release benchmark in London Plan guidance.  

The report also note that the ratio of residential to industrial floorspace values is 8.3, or 

the fifth highest in London. 

6.15 The report suggests that if this trend continues there will be a gradual erosion of all 

industrial land.  While in some respects positive, for example reducing noise and 

pollution, it may make providing essential infrastructure (waste, water) increasingly 

difficult.  It recommends planning authorities develop strong policies for safeguarding a 

quantum of remaining industrial land. 

Business in the Borough 
 

6.16 Planning policy seeks to maintain and expand the supply of employment floorspace in 

Hackney through managing the release and provision of floorspace in new 

developments.  The ultimate result is to enable businesses to grow and succeed, 

therefore employing local people and contributing to the boroughs economy.  A measure 

of this success is the number of businesses in Hackney and how this has grown or 

shrunk year on year, as shown in figure 6.5 and the accompanying table, below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
3 London Industrial Land Supply and Economy Study 2015, Aecom. 

Figure 6.5: Active Enterprises, 2009-14 

Page 118



53 
    

 

 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Inner London 211,365 216,275 220,385 230,730 245,615 265,230 

Camden 25,175 25,380 25,930 26,460 27,530 29,020 

Hackney 11,230 11,700 12,150 12,980 14,180 16,095 

Islington 14,010 14,095 14,395 15,310 16,850 18,710 

Tower Hamlets 11,880 12,400 12,850 13,740 15,030 16,545 

 

6.17 Figure 6.5 shows that Hackney has been highly successful in growing the number of 

new businesses in the borough, with growth in the number, and importantly the rate of 

new enterprises – between 2009-14 Hackney gained an additional 4865 active 

enterprises, or a growth of 143% over the period. 

6.18 There is a disconnection here between the net loss of employment floorspace, but 

growing business base of the borough.  This suggests either new businesses are using 

lower levels of floorspace in traditional ways, or that some businesses are not making 

use of traditional employment uses.  It is also possible that the impacts of these 

conflicting trends have not connected as of yet.  Planning policies will need to consider 

the kinds of floorspace in use by new businesses, and how best this can be provided 

through new developments.  There may also be a need for the use of innovative new 

planning mechanisms, such as Local Development Orders, to facilitate the flexible use 

of space. 

 

Affordable Workspace Provision 

 

6.19 DMLP policy 16 builds on the Core Strategy’s objective of making Hackney one of 

London’s most competitive and affordable business destinations by seeking that new 

Table 6.1: Active Enterprises, Tables, 2009-14 

Figure 6.6: Affordable Workspace, 2010-17 Hackney 

Page 119



54 
    

developments in major commercial and mixed use development schemes provide 10% 

affordable workspace.  While this policy is fairly new, there is already a pipeline of 

schemes which are tied, via s106, into providing the workspace.  

6.20 As figure 6.6 shows, 7559sqm of affordable workspace has been secured since 2010.  

The highest yearly total was in 2016, where 1990sqm was secured and reflects the 

adoption of the DMLP which strengthens the provision through policy DM16.  Overall 

this shows the policy to be working effective to delivery some new affordable workspace, 

but its is likely that the losses in overall floorspace reflected earlier in this chapter that 

affordability will continue to increase. 

New Hotel Rooms 
 

6.21 Core strategy policy 17 acknowledges that Hotels (Class C1) form an important part of 

the supply of employment developments in the borough, both contributing to the 

economy but also more recently facilitating the tourism and entertainment industry in 

Hackney as well as short-stay for business’s clients and collaborators. Planning policy 

encourages the provision of Hotels, and there has historically been a strong demand in 

the Shoreditch Area.    

 Figure 6.7: Hotel Development , 2015Hackney 

Page 120



55 
    

6.22 No new hotels have been completed in the borough in 2014/5, but, as figure 6.7 shows 

(overleaf) there is a healthy pipeline of developments either construction or permitted, 

totalling 2513 new rooms over 20 new developments.  80%, or 2005 of these units are 

within Haggerston Ward, and are symptomatic of the ‘city fringe’s growth over time and 

the popularity of Shoreditch as a tourist and business destination.  Overall, around a fifth 

of the pipeline is under construction, representing a healthy rate of implementation. 

 
Analysis 

 

6.23 The Core strategy and DMLP seek to promote and focus employment floorspace into 

employment designations in the borough, PEAs and LSIS.  Despite these strong policy 

protections, employment floorspace in Hackney’s PEAs has experienced significant 

losses in the last 5 years totalling of 13032sqm B1 and 26357sqm B8 respectively, 

with minor net losses to B2 and D1. Losses have been concentrated in the Wenlock and 

Mare Street and Homerton PEAs.  However, policies do seem to have slowed the loss, 

with unprotected areas in the rest of the borough recording a loss of 24,383sqm B2, 

and 32,557sqm of B8, while B1 actually increased.   Overall, across the borough there 

has been a net loss of 2841sqm in 2014/15 of employment floorspace, but this reflects 

a less positive trend as a net increase outside of PEAs offset a total loss of 5212sqm 

lost within them.  It should also be noted that research by the GLA estimates at present 

Hackney has approximately 462,000 sqm of industrial floorspace with a very low 

vacancy rate of just 3.8% and has lost 18.3% of its industrial land since 2010. 

6.24 However, the situation improves hugely when looking at pipeline developments which 

indicates future delivery around 165,000sqm of new employment space, mainly in the 

B1 class. Six out of ten PEAs will see an increase in floorspace, with Shoreditch seeing 

a net gain of 150,000 sqm of new B1 floorspace significantly ahead of other PEAs.  

Overall employment space outside of PEAs and LSIS is likely to shrink.   This indicates 

that instead of losing employment floorspace, and therefore businesses, Hackney 

appears to be renewing employment space, with policy helping to refocus new 

floorspace into employment areas.  In addition this is increasingly taking the form of 

mixed-use schemes, such as that at Norton Folgate. 

6.25 The effectiveness of planning policy in developing Hackney into a competitive and 

affordable business destination is reflected in continuous increases in the number of 

active enterprises within Hackney, which has grown by 14% since 2009/10 faster 

than neighbouring boroughs and over twice the inner London average.  However, 

Hackney still lags behind in the gross number of enterprises, and policy must ensure 

Page 121



56 
    

that as demand increases supply of workspace remains available, and affordable.  On 

this, this council has been successful in securing affordable workspace (that is, 

floorspace discounted 20% for 10 years) with 7558sqm secured since 2010.  This shows 

policy DM16 to be effective in at least offsetting some of the losses across the borough 

identified above. 

6.26 Finally, while none were recorded in the last year, the pipeline for 2513 hotel bedrooms 

in the south of the borough is indicative of the high levels of popularity of this area with 

tourists, and increasing businesses, and builds on wider changes to the way that people 

work, which are becoming increasingly flexible.  Future policy will need to consider how 

it can protect the agglomerative qualities of employment areas while allowing for 

increasing provisions of residential uses. In addition to this, research by the GLA 

indicates the ratio of residential to industrial floorspace values is 8.3:1, the fifth highest 

in London, indicating there may be a need to significantly strengthen policy in coming 

years to prevent the loss of businesses and employment.

Page 122



57 
    

7. Retail and Town Centres 

7.1 Protecting Hackney’s Town Centres is key to the continued growth and prosperity of the 

borough, especially in terms of supporting local amenities.  The core objective aim to 

make Hackneys town centre hierarchy most inclusive and vibrant places in London by 

supporting the further development as civic and cultural hubs which are well connected 

centre and have strong commercial retail and cultural industries.  Core Strategy policy 

13 sets out the overarching strategy, which focuses on developing Dalston and Hackney 

Town centres, while DMLP policy 7 directs all new A1 floorspace to town centres, 

supported by DM9 which prevents changes of use to A1 frontages in Town Centres that 

would result in the proportion of units falling below 60%. While retail is at the heart of 

town centre uses, other services, such as banks, employment agencies and law firms, 

as well as restaurants and cafes are also important.   

7.2 In addition to these daily uses, there is also a need to plan for the night-time economy, 

with DMLP policy 11 directing A3, A4 and A5 uses to town centres to support this. 

Net Change (m2) of type (A1, A2, A3) and proportion at ground floor level in 
designated town centres 
 

7.3 Hackney has a hierarchy of town centres, defined by the London Plan. These run from 

a London level major centre (Dalston) to smaller district centres (Hackney Central and 

Stoke Newington) and finally some 14 local centres (for example, Broadway Market and 

Wick Road).   The centres designation reflects their usage, i.e. Dalston supports 

significant big-brand retailers, while Upper Clapton road has some business use but is 

largely groceries and day-to-day amenities.  The core strategy and DMLP support A1 as 

the predominant land use at ground floor level in town centres, defining a primary and 

secondary frontage in which proportions of A1 must remain over 60%, and defining the 

area of town centres through the town centre boundary. 

7.4 The most effective way to understand policy effectiveness is to look at changes to the 

amount of these uses within town centres and the size and activity of frontages in town 

centres.  Figure 7.1, below shows the net changes in A1 across the borough, shows the 

major town centres, followed by 7.2 showing local centres. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



58 
    

 

 

7.5 There has been a net loss of A1 in the district centres of Hackney Central (269sqm) and 

Stoke Newington, with a small increase in the Major centre of Dalston.  By contrast, 

Local Centres have seen an overall increase of 406sqm, with upper Clapton road 

gaining the greatest, with only Chatsworth Road and Hoxton Street losing a unit each. 

However, as figure 7.1 shows, the real changes have been significant increases outside 

of town centres where there have been increases in A1, A2 and A3 floorspace, with 

3806sqm of retail provided.   This brings into question the effectiveness of policies in 

directing this kind of development to Town Centres. 

7.6 The large amount of town centre uses outside centres raises two possibilities – either 

policies have been applied ineffectively, or the areas designated by these policies do 

not reflect the ‘true’ town centres of Hackney.  Employment policies, core strategy 17 

and DMLP 17 allow for A classes to be included in employment-led development in 

PEAS, aimed at ensuring active frontages.  As figure 7.3 shows, below this policy has 

worked to introduce these types of uses into PEAs, with over 4625 of A1 completed.  

While this offers an effective explanation for the large amount of ‘A’ uses outside town 

Figure 7.1 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, Major and District Centres, 2015 

Figure 7.2 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, Local Centres, 2015 

Page 124



59 
    

centres, it also suggests that there may new town centres emerging due to changing 

patterns of work and development.  The relative positions and interplay of Employment 

and Town Centre policy needs to be considered going forward in order to achieve the 

objectives set out in the core strategy.  

 
 
 

7.7 In addition to the impact of employment policies, DM11, covering the nigh-time economy 

directs increases in A3 uses, as well as A4 and A5 uses to Town Centres, which may 

account for some the increases in A3 floorspace. 

7.8 The results for 2015 mirror the trends over the last 5 years (Shown below, figures 7.4 

and 7.5) which show significant increases in A1, A2 and A3 uses outside town centres.  

Within town centres, there is a clear trend for loss of A1 and gains in A2/A3 space (see 

for example Hackney Central and Kingsland Road and Stoke Newington Church Street).  

These changes indicate that DMLP policy 7 may not be working as effectively as hoped 

and may need to be reviewed.  

 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7.3 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, PEAs vs. Not in Town centres 2015 
*It should be noted due to net losses from elements not in PEAs or Town centres affecting the Rest 
of Borough net figure it shows less than in PEAS. 

Page 125



60 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.9 Changes in Local Centres (shown in figure 7.5, above) are also positive, with provision 

in Chatsworth Road increasing by 316sqm, Lauriston Road by 215sqm and Broadway 

Market by 202sqm.  Kingsland Road shows a net loss of retail and services towards A3, 

which is likely to be related to its position as a key night-time activity area in the borough.  

Furthermore, the impacts of night-time economy policies could also be accountable for 

increases in A3 permissions within town centres. 

 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7.4 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, Major and District Centres 2010- 2015 

Figure 7.5 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, Local Centres, 2010- 2015 

Page 126



61 
    

Town Centre Pipeline 
 

7.10 The town centre pipeline looks at planning applications for A1,A2 and A3 uses that have 

been permitted and are under construction, and are shown in figure 7.5, below.  The 

pipeline shows a positive position for the major and district town centres with Dalston 

expected to gain an addition 2191sqm of floorspace, Stoke Newington to gain 1442 and 

Hackney Central to gain 313.  Clearly, however, the majority of growth in these activities 

will continue be focused outside town centres, with an overall growth in all use classes 

of 37,777sqm, of which over half, or 21,691sqm is A1 retail floorspace. This outruns the 

combined changes within designated centres. As previously stated, this indicates a need 

to consider the interoperation of employment and town centre policies to ensure the 

objectives set out in core strategy of focusing these uses in town centres are attained – 

this may include consideration of re-designating town centres to consider new frontages.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7.5 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, Major and District Centres Hackney, Pipeline 

Figure 7.6 Net Change A1/A2/A3 Uses, Local Centres Hackney, Pipeline 

Page 127



62 
    

7.11 Changes in Local Centres (shown in figure 7.6, previous page) are also positive, with 

provision in Chatsworth Road increasing by 316sqm, Lauriston Road by 215sqm and 

Broadway Market by 202sqm.  Kingsland Road shows a net loss of retail and services 

towards A3, which is likely to be related to its position as a key night-time activity area 

in the borough.  Furthermore, the impacts of night-time economy policies could also be 

accountable for increases in A3 permissions within town centres.  

Proportion and Vacancy Rates in Town Centres 

7.12 While overall trends are useful to analyse overall policy implementation, the town centre 

policy is engaged through the proportion of units in frontages as opposed to cumulative 

change within town centres.  A snapshot of the proportion of ground floor units in A1 use 

in the Borough’s Major, District and Local Centres is shown below. The DMLP requires 

that frontages maintain a minimum proportion of A1 uses (60% in primary and 50% in 

secondary), with the rest being acceptable town centres uses.  Only the major and 

district centres have primary frontages an adequate concentration of A1 units maintains 

footfall and activity and is key to town centres as a whole remaining viable.  These 

studies are undertaken periodically by the Council, most recently in 2013/14:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.13 All primary frontages in the borough reach but do not exceed the aims of policy, sitting 

at 60%.  This is to be expected, the engagement of the policy. It also indicates that the 

60% level is appropriate to these town centres.  In addition to this, all have a good 

additional mix of A2, and A3 units, and in general very low vacancy levels; Stoke 

Newington had no vacant units during the study, and Dalston recorded 17 vacant actual 

units out of 117 units surveyed. 

 
 

Figure 7.7 Percentages of Uses in Primary frontages. 

Page 128



63 
    

 

7.14 However, the results for Secondary frontages were less positive, especially for Hackney 

Central and Dalston, which is a major centre and should perform better, recording just 

34% of units in A1 use (16% off minimum) and 22% vacant units, the highest proportion 

across all town centres.  Hackney Central has a very large number of units in different 

uses, notably 6% A5 class takeaways, and 6% B1 offices at ground floor level.   

7.15 By contrast Local Centres, and Finsbury Park, (shared with the boroughs of Islington 

and Camden), which are only designated as secondary frontage, fare well, exceeding 

the minimum and showing low vacancy rates, which is impressive considering the wide 

range of sizes - Wick road contains 17 units, while Stamford Hill contains six times as 

many units at 122 - and the broad distribution of locations of town centres across the 

borough.    

7.16 Overall, town centre policies work effectively to secure high proportions of town centre 

uses.  Policies seem to work especially well in smaller units, with greater issues within 

the major town centre of Dalston which may threaten its ranking within the London Plan, 

and Hackney Central.  Core Strategy 1 encourages significant economic growth in both 

these areas, which also benefit from AAPs, and the higher proportion of non-retail in 

these statistics over time as less effective or unattractive stock is renewed and/or footfall 

increases with new developments.   The council has, up to 2016 been limited in its ability 

to control changes of use between some classes, (for example, A2 to A3) through 

permitted development rights.  This will change with the broad application of exemptions 

through the article 4 process (see Chapter 2). 

 

Figure 7.8 Percentages of Uses in Primary frontages. 

Page 129



64 
    

Entertainment and night time economy (use classes A4 and A5) 

7.17 Core strategy policy 11 recognises the contribution of the Night-Time economy to the 

borough and aims for a managed expansion of uses, specifically in Hackney Central, 

Stoke Newington, Dalston, South Shoreditch and Broadway Market.  DMLP policy 11 

sets out these uses as restaurants and cafés (A3), drinking establishments (A4) 

takeaways (A5) and assembly and leisure (D2). 

7.18 As is shown in figures 7.1-7.4, A3 uses have increased across the borough, but in 2015 

there were no increases within the areas identified by core strategy policy 11.  

Considering A3 are not specific to the night-time economy (in the sense pubs or 

nightclubs and takeaways are) it is difficult to draw a clear conclusion about the policies 

effectiveness in 2015.  However, the trend over the last 5 years indicates that Dalston 

has gained a total of 886sqm, and Hackney Central a total of 266 sqm of A3 floors, 

indicating that the policy is having a positive effect.  However those same figures also 

show a total of 7863sqm of A3 has come forward outside of town centres.  The night 

time economy policy has a particular focus on ensuring that new developments do not 

have an effect on residential amenity, and therefore this policy may need to be reviewed 

to ensure it is working effectively to counter new night time economy uses are 

appropriate.  However, it is beyond the scope of the AMR at this time to assess the 

licensed hours of new A3 units which make up the development pipeline. 

7.19 A4 uses are at the core of the night-time economy forming the central attraction, 

alongside nightclubs (classed at Sui-generis).  Traditionally, A4 use classes were 

independent bars and pubs, but increasingly they form part of mixed use schemes or 

flexible uses.  This makes their monitoring challenging.  There have been a 

comparatively low number of applications impact on A4, with the LDD recording a total 

of 66 completed over the last year and within the pipeline.  These are shown below in 

figure 7.9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7.9 Changes to A4 floorspace, 2010-15 
Page 130



65 
    

 

7.20 Figure 7.9 shows a loss of A4 across the borough, and with significant losses within 

Dalston (two developments lost totalling 750sqm), and a similar picture in Hackney 

central.  Local centres also registered losses.  However, as with other elements of town 

centres policy, the majority of changes to A4 floorspace happened outside town centre 

designations. A total of 14 developments have been lost, or 5430sqm of floorspace, with 

no developments completed at present which increase floorspace.  Within the pipeline, 

there are five applications which result in the re-provision of reduced amounts of 

floorspace, while there are 9 applications, totalling 4196sqm for new A4 uses.  Almost 

half of this derives from a flexible consent within the Curtain Theatre development 

(2012/3871). 

7.21 Overall, provision of A4 appears to be a difficult fit with policy, with all new floorspace 

permitted outside of existing town centres, and largely based around flexible consents 

(Of that proposed, 3626sqm is within 4 major developments) and therefore its usage 

uncertain.  Considering trends, it may be that A4 uses may be more effectively managed 

through licensing policy (such as special protection areas) so as to achieve the 

objectives of promotion while protect amenity. 

7.22 A5 uses are at a similarly low level to A4 uses, with a limited set of completions and 

pipeline, which are outline below in figure 7.10.  Planning for A5 uses promotes them 

within town centres.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.23 As figure 7.10 shows, there has been a net increase in A5 floorspace in Dalston, with 

the provision of 4 new units in total, and Hackney Central gained a single unit.  Again, 

as with other town centre uses, although to a lesser degree, changes have happened 

Figure 7.10 Changes to A5 floorspace, 2010-15 

Page 131



66 
    

outside of town centres, where a total of 8 developments have been completed while 4 

have been lost.  Overall there are 5 applications under way, creating a total of 291sqm 

floor space additional floorspace.   The future trend indicates the loss of three sites and 

200sqm of floorspace.   

Analysis 

7.24 Overall, provision of retail floorspace in Hackney’s town centres has been mixed in 2015, 

there has been a net loss of A1 in town centres.  Hackney Central has lost 269sqm 

Stoke Newington, 70sqm slightly adjusted by a small uptick in the Major centre of 

Dalston of 140sqm.  By contrast, Local Centres have seen an overall increase of 

406sqm, with 300sqm in Lower Clapton.  Over the last 5 years there was an overall net 

increase of 48sqm in major and district town centres, with an increase of 676sqm in 

Dalston and losses in the others. The pipeline for town centres going forward is positive 

with Dalston expected to gain an addition 2191sqm of retail floorspace, Stoke Newington 

to gain 1442 and Hackney Central to gain 313sqm. It is less positive within Local 

Centres, with the majority expecting losses of A1 and A2 uses in the future.  This 

indicates that the policy appears to have been somewhat ineffective at safeguarding 

existing retail, in major town centres, more so in Local centres.  In contrast in the future 

it appears to be overturned, and may need to be reviewed in relation to local centres. 

7.25 It is important to note that outside of town centre designations there has been an 

increase of 3806sqm of new retail space in the last year, as well as increases in A2 and 

A3 floorspace, with provision increasing by 8371sqm retail outside town centres 

between 2010-15, and this is expected to accelerate, with the pipeline showing a 

delivery of 21,691sqm.  

7.26 This is likely the result of employment policies supporting employment-led mixed use 

schemes under core strategy 17 and DMLP 17.  While this offers an effective explanation 

for the large amount of ‘A’ uses outside town centres, it also suggests that the 

interoperation between Employment and Town Centre policy needs to be considered, 

especially in light of the changing modes of work going forward which could see town 

centres and PEAs sharing more characteristics, and the potential for designations to 

reviewed. 

7.27 The key trigger for policy DM9 is a 60% of primary (50% of secondary) frontages in use 

for A1 uses.  Dalston, Hackney Central and Stoke Newington High Street perform well, 

each sitting at 60-61%, and with very low vacancy levels, peaking at 9% in Dalston.  

Stoke Newington High Street had no vacant units.   Secondary frontages and less 

positive - Dalston, which is a major centre recorded 34% of units in A1 use (16% off 

Page 132



67 
    

minimum) and 22% vacant units, the highest proportion in a frontage across all town 

centres.  These performance results may bring into question Dalston’s position in the 

London Plan town centre hierarchy.  Local Centres, and Finsbury Park, performed well, 

exceeding the minimum and showing low vacancy rates near to 0%.  This indicates that 

town centre policy has been effective in protecting the provision of A1 uses and therefore 

maintaining amenity as intended, even in the face of increasingly liberalised change of 

use legislated by the government.  Hackney is presently working to adopt new 

exemptions to this right.  See chapter 2. 

7.28 Planning policies for the night time economy have had mixed results in 2015.  Broadly, 

A3 uses have increased in the centres of Dalston (886sqm), and Hackney Central (266 

sqm).  Over the same period 7863sqm of A3 has come forward outside of town centres.  

This provision mirrors paragraph 7.24 in forming part of new mixed-use developments 

and a similar conclusion can be drawn that it may by prudent to review if these policies 

are effective and whether new units are having an impact on amenity. 

7.29 A4 and A5 uses share a low level of activity and are reported on over the last 5 years.  

Within A4, there has been a general loss across town centres, and an acute loss in 

Dalston of two establishments, totalling 750sqm, almost 5430sqm outside of town 

centre.  The future outlook does not reflect well on policy, with all developments outside 

of the town centres (3626sqm).  It should be noted the majority is from flexible consents 

i.e. A1/A3/A3/A4 permitted which will make this increasingly difficult to monitor.    A5 has 

experienced increases within Dalston town centre totalling 145 but has fallen across the 

rest of the borough.  The pipeline indicates the levels will remain stable, although again 

outside of town centres with a total of 291sqm additional floorspace under construction 

but a loss of 200sqm of floorspace permitted but not under construction.

Page 133



68 
    

8. Communities, Culture, Education & 
Health 

8.1 The first objective of the Core Strategy is to tackle inequality and contribute to enhancing 

community cohesion by improving the quality of the borough.  One of the most important 

functions of planning policy is at the strategic level, supporting both the funding and 

development of new social, educational and health facilities to benefit the community. 

8.2 Planning Obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy are mechanisms for 

deriving planning gain from developments which can then be used to benefit the 

community.  Obligations are sought for Affordable Housing and some limited items, such 

as transport works, while CIL is a simple tax based on new floorspace, which can be 

spent on items in the council’s infrastructure delivery plan.  

8.3 In The 2014/15 financial year: 

- 78 legal agreements were signed with a total value of £32.5 million; 
- Hackney received £8million from previously signed agreements as well as 1.4 

million in Section 106 payments from agreements signed in 14/15. 
- The majority of contributions came from two sites:  Woodberry Down 

(2010/2427) and the Curtain Road Development in Shoreditch (2012/3871) 
- Hackney had also approved for expenditure £1.3 million in previously collected 

contributions on 30 projects. 
- Hackney’s own CIL, which was adopted in April 2015 received its first payment 

in May 2016 of £1.67 Million  
- The borough also collected £3.48 million for the Mayoral CIL, a significant 

increase on the previous figure of £1.2 million in 2013/14. 
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations in 2014/15 
 

8.4 Section 106 are a contract signed between developer and Hackney, with agreed heads 

of terms and financial amounts.  The amounts signed are set out in table 8.1 below: 

 2014/15 Agreed 2014/15 Received (I.e. Received 
from signed within same year) 

General Heads of Term £24,420,218.10 £925,414.95 

Housing £4,628,282.00 £0 

Highways £3,520,506.52 £481540.42 

Total £32,569,006.62 £1,406,955.37 

 

8.5 The overall figures for agreed monies are significantly altered by the an exceptional 

contribution from the Woodberry down regeneration scheme for which 10.6million in 

Table 8.1, S106 Contributions Agreed in 2014/15 

Page 134



69 
    

heads of terms was signed as part of Phases 2-8 of the project, and made up a third of 

all monies agree in heads of terms. 

8.6 The overall amounts received can be further broken down to indicate their broad 

purpose, as set out below in table 8.2. 

Heads of Terms 2014/15 Received 

Child Play Area £0 

Community Facilities £10681.16 

Crossrail contributions  £0 

Ecological Management £0 

Education and Training £365232.08 

Employment and Job Creation £168905.53 

Environmental Improvements £263877.47 

Open Space & Nature 
Conservation 

£5265.09 

Public Arts £0 

Sustainable Transport £2500 

Health Facilities £108953.62 

Total £925,414.95 

 

8.7 This shows that the majority of contributions have been for Education, Health and 

Environmental Improvements which will benefit residents in their respective areas.   

8.8 In 2014/15, 30 projects were approved worth £1.3 million. A summary of the areas with 

spending can be found in the table 8.3, below: 

Head of Term Number of Projects S106 contribution value 

Education and Training 3 £171,479.96 

Employment and Job creation 1 £85,827.88 

Environmental improvements 1 £172,175.41 

Highways 20 £736,017.54 

Open space and nature conservation 3 £37,395.71 

Sustainable Transport 2 £135,000.00 

Total 30 £1,337,896.50 

 

8.9 Projects funded include:  

- Improvements to Allens Gardens (£1,896.58), aimed at improving biodiversity. 
The works include Owl Boxes, bat detectors, wildflower pollinators and additional 
seating as well as an educational program. 

- Improvements to Shoreditch Library (£17,798.31).  Work has completed on 
renewing the interior of Stoke Newington, and are underway in Shoreditch 
library. 

 

8.10 Overall, Section 106 will be a diminishing element of planning gain, driven by changes 

to legislation which make it more difficult to use.  However there is fairly large backlog 

Table 8.2, S106 Contributions received in 2014/15 

Table 8.3, S106 spending in 2014/15 

Page 135



70 
    

of sites available for development which will provide some cushioning during the 

transition to Hackney’s CIL. 

Section 106 Obligations in 2015/16 
 

8.11 In the 2015/16 Financial Year: 

- 19 legal agreements were signed with a total value of £16.8 million; 
- Hackney received £722,538.79 from previously signed agreements as well as 

£707,444 in Section 106 payments from agreements signed in 14/15. 
- The major of contributions were received from Norton Folgate (2011/0698) and 

£3.1 million from Woodberry Down. 
- Hackney had also approved for expenditure £3.3 million in previously collected 

contributions across 71 projects. 
 

8.12 In 2015/16 there was a reduction in the total amount of money secured through heads 

of terms, totally £15.6 million, and a reduction in the amount received. 

  2015/16 agreed 
2015/16 Received (I.e. Received 
from signed within same year) 

General Heads of Term  £      5,838,545.66   £             669,538.79                  

Housing  £     10,200,000.00   £ -    

Highways  £        856,041.18   £              53,000.00  

Total  £     16,894,576.84   £            722,538.79 

 

8.13 Three times as much money was received in 2015/16 that 14/15 and this was more 

evenly spread, with the largest contribution going to Environmental Improvements, while 

no monies were received for affordable housing. 

Heads of Terms 2015/16 Received 

Child Play Area £0 

Community Facilities £583,139.00 

Crossrail contributions  £5,400 

Ecological Management £0 

Education and Training £1,360,365.76 

Employment and Job 
Creation 

£358,795.60 

Environmental 
Improvements 

£390,000.00 

Open Space & Nature 
Conservation 

£3,108.01 

Public Arts £0 

Sustainable Transport £692,214 

Health Facilities £0.00 

Total £3,393,022.37 

 
 
 
 
 

Table 8.4, S106 Contributions Agreed in 2015/16 

Table 8.5, S106 Contributions Received in 2015/16 

Page 136



71 
    

8.14 In 2015/16, 71 projects were approved worth £3.3 million. A summary of the areas with 

spending can be found in the table 8.6, below: 

2015/16   

Head of Term Number of Projects S106 contribution value 

Affordable Housing 1  £                 133,000.00  

Education and Training 5  £                 649,009.94  

Environmental Improvements 3  £                 460,591.80  

Highways 38  £              1,852,083.83  

Open space and nature conservation 1  £                      4,868.00  

Sustainable Transport 23  £                 203,310.59  

Total 71  £              3,302,864.16  

 

8.15 Projects funded include:  

- Improvements to Dalston Western Curve – Ashwyn Street and Boleyn Road 
(£289,626.35) resulting from the Dalston Curve Development. 

- Shoreditch Village Highway Improvements (£260000) resulting from the Hotel 
Development on Shoreditch Lane 

- Homerton Library Enhancement (£18,000.00) resulting from the Lauriston Primary 
School annex development.  

 

8.16 Overall there has been more activity on the spending side of S106 in 2015/16, with a 

lower number of agreements signed and amount of money in heads of terms.  Overall 

there has been significant spending on improvements to the borough through S106. 

Hackney’s Community Infrastructure Levy 

8.17 In April 2015, Hackney adopted its own CIL, with headline rates varying from £25-

190/sqm for new residential floorspace amongst a wide range of rates.  The CIL will 

directly contribute to the provision of new community infrastructure in Hackney through 

the Infrastructure delivery plan.  The CIL will need to run until the end of the financial 

year to provide data, which will be reported on in future AMRs.  

8.18 In addition to the Hackney CIL, Hackney has been collecting the Mayors CIL since 1st 

April 2012.  In the FY15 Hackney contributed £3.34 million. Over the same period 

Hackney reported demand notices for £724,722.60 to developers.  

 

Table 8.6, S106 Spending in 2015/16 

Page 137



72 
    

 

8.19 Figure 8.1 shows that rates of Mayoral CIL have increased steadily over time, peaking 

at 1.1 Million in the third quarter 2014-15.  As CIL is charged on new floorspace, CIL 

receipts will track the pace of development in the borough, and help to support its 

provision in a sustainable way. 

Education – Development of New Schools and Forms of Entry to meet demand. 
 

8.20 Provision of School Places in Hackney is key to supporting communities and families to 

live and work in the borough.  Hackney Learning Trust (HLT) has a statutory duty to 

ensure there are sufficient places for pupils. Hackney currently has 58 primary schools, 

and 15 secondary schools 

8.21 In September 2015, a number of new primary schools opened in the borough;  

- Halley House (Free School) – 60 Places 
- Hackney New Primary (Free Schools) - 50 places  
- Mossbourne Riverside Academy - 30 places 
- St John the Baptist School expanded from 1.5 to 2FE  

 

8.22 In September 2016, a further 3 schools will provide additional primary places;  

- Holy Trinity – 30 Places 
- Sir Thomas Abney – 30 Places 
- Mossbourne Riverside Academy - 60 places 

 

8.23 The opening of new schools and expansion of one school, combined with the planned 

expansions for 2016 means that there is currently a surplus of primary places in the 

borough (Hackney Learning Trust has historically aimed for no more than 5% surplus 

Figure 8.1, Mayoral CIL receipts 2012/13 – 2014/15 

Page 138



73 
    

places). The 2016 projections from the Greater London Authority from 2017, are detailed 

below. 

School 
year 

GLA Projected 
number of children 

Additional 
places planned 

Total 
number of 

places 

Surplus 
places 

Surplus 
(%) 

2017/18 2871 0 3200 329 10.3% 

2018/19 2782 0 3200 418 13.1% 

2019/20 2767 30* 3230 463 14.3% 

2020/21 2811 0 3230 419 13% 

2021/22 2853 0 3230 377 11.7% 

 

8.24 The projections indicate that over the next 5 years, there will be some degree of 

fluctuation in the number of projected children. Up to 60 children living outside Hackney 

are expected to attend Mossbourne Riverside Academy, which is located on the 

Hackney part of the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. The observed surplus is therefore 

expected to reduce once these pupils are on roll and the data is fed into the GLA’s 

projections.  

8.25 The increase in primary aged pupils requiring places over the last few years, is now 

beginning to filter through to the secondary phase, and plans to provide the required 

secondary places is underway. Hackney Learning Trust’s aim, which has been endorsed 

by the Mayor of Hackney, is to provide places for 83% of the secondary transfer cohort 

each year. This percentage has been based on the number of parents who express a 

preference for a Hackney school. However, over the last few years, increasing numbers 

of parents have expressed a first preference for a Hackney school.  Current secondary 

projections indicate a need for 12FE between 2016 and 2020.  Three bulge classes have 

been secured at Clapton Girls’ Academy, Petchey Academy and Mossbourne Victoria 

Park for September 2016 only.  

8.26 In order to provide further secondary places from 2017, Hackney Learning Trust and the 

Council worked with and supported the Corporation of London to submit applications to 

open two new secondary schools (providing 12FE in total). The first school will open in 

2017 and the other in 2020. The current Britannia Leisure Centre site and the existing 

Benthal Primary School sites have been identified as possible sites and will be further 

examined in a feasibility study. If the DfE approves the applications, both schools are 

expected to open in temporary accommodation whilst the new school buildings are 

completed.    

8.27 The Department for Education will notify the Council of the outcome of the applications 

for the new schools later this year. There are also plans for The Urswick School to 

permanently expand from 5FE to 6FE in September 2018. Taking into account the 

Table 8.7, Primary School Projections and Places 2017/18-2020/21 

Page 139



74 
    

additional proposed places (as outlined above), the secondary projections for 2016 are 

detailed in Table 8.8, below. 

School 
year 

Number of 
secondary 
school places 

Projected pupils  
secondary 
transfer  

Additional number of 
places needed  

Additional FE 
provided by the 
Council  

2016/17 2421 2455 34 (1FE) 3  

2017/18 2511* 2537 26 (1FE) 6 

2018/19 2541** 2552 0 1 

2019/20 2721*** 2693 27 (1FE) 6 

2020/21 2721 2628 0 0 

2021/22 2721 2701 0 0 

2022/23 2721 2675 0 0 

2023/24 2721 2768 47 (1.5FE) 
No provision 
currently planned 

 
 
 
 
Analysis 

8.28 Core Strategy policy 7 requires planning to work with organisations supporting 

communities with new health, education and other facilities.  Improvements are not 

generally directly a result of planning policy in the sense housing, employment or town 

centre policy is, with its role being to direct the financial planning gains from development 

in the form of S106 and CIL, and supporting partner departments and organisations to 

implement strategic developments.  Therefore it is difficult to assess performance. 

8.29  In 2014/15 the council received a total of £9.4 million in Section 106 funding, mainly for 

Housing, Education and Health Facilities. It also signed agreements worth a total of 

£32.5 million.  The council also spent approximately 1.3 million on a range of projects.   

The Hackney CIL has begun to collect money after a lag period since adoption, with 

£1.67 million received in May 2016. Overall, changes to legislation surrounding planning 

obligations means that CIL Is likely to grow, while S106 will fall away over time, although 

* Number of places reverts to 2331 (Sep 2015 figure), due to 2016 

bulges not continuing in 2017, plus 6FE- new school  

** Urswick  

*** New school  

 

Table 8.8, Secondary School 
Projections and Places 2017/18-
2020/21 

Page 140



75 
    

going on the present year monies from already signed agreements will still make an 

important contribution to delivering community facilities. 

8.30 In 2015/16 the council received £669,538.79 from previously signed agreements, with 

slightly less signed at a total of £16.8 million. The council spent S106 funds on a total of 

71 projects with a book value of £3.3 million. 

8.31 Planning and delivery of new primary schools in the borough is positive, with a total of 

140 places in 4 new extensions to schools, enabling provision of school places and 

a 5% buffer, achieving the objectives of the learning trust. In addition, the planned 

delivery of 120 new school places in 2016 and 30 in 2019 will meet needs over the 

forthcoming period.  Similarly the need for 12 new forms of secondary entry by 2020 

will be met by two new schools provided by the City of London Corporation in 

Hackney. The Learning trust is working to secure planning for more, utilising sites 

such as Britannia Leisure and Benthal primary school. Planning will need to engage with 

this process to support the Hackney Learning Trust to achieve a positive outcome.  

8.32 Finally, Health Infrastructure is presently in stable, but there could be pressures within 

the North and South of the borough as planned growth comes forward, especially that 

which provides specialist forms of housing with additional healthcare needs.

Page 141



76 
    

9. Transport 

9.1 Core Strategy Policy 6 aims to reduce the need to travel, with an emphasis on car travel, 

as well as promoting public transport improvements. Planning works closely with 

transport planning to achieve these outcomes. 

Public Transport developments in Hackney in 2015 

9.2 The Council is committed to upgrading its local transport network in order to facilitate 

higher levels of walking and cycling, promote better access to public transport, and make 

our streets and public spaces more attractive to live, work visit and invest in. 

9.3 In 2014/15 Hackney consulted on the future of transport in the borough for the next ten 

years with the launch of the Draft Transport Strategy 2014 - 2024. The document 

contained a number of policies and proposals that seek to continue the borough’s 

success in achieving high walking rates, the highest cycling rates in London, and 

securing better public transport options with respect to Crossrail 2, the West Anglia line 

and improving accessibility in the east of the borough. The draft strategy vision is that 

by 2024 Hackney’s transport system will be an exemplar for sustainable urban living in 

London.  

9.4 Cycling has grown significantly in Hackney in recent years, with more people cycling to 

work than driving (census, 2011). The Mayor of London’s Vision for Cycling (2013) 

detailed a 10-years plan to deliver cycle improvements across London including Cycle 

Superhighways, Central London Grid and Quietways.  

9.5 In 2014/15, the following schemes in Hackney were developed with delivery planned for 

2015/16. 

- Cycle Superhighway Route 1 (CS1) would run from White Hart Lane to 
Liverpool Street station, forming part of the London-wide network of Cycle 
Superhighways. Hackney developed the CS1 proposals which TfL consulted on 
in Feb/March 2015. The new route proposed safer and convenient journeys along 
its 11km north-south route, improving conditions for existing cyclists and making 
cycling attractive to more people. For much of its length, CS1 would run along 
residential streets, away from the majority of car, freight and bus traffic. Cycle 
lanes, tracks and junction redesign were proposed for where the route crosses 
main roads or junctions.   

- The Quietways are a network of radial and orbital routes following back street 
routes which will include parks and waterways.  Quietway 2 - Bloomsbury to 
Walthamstow (first phase to Mare Street). 

- The Central London Cycle Grid is a set of safer, connected routes for cyclists 
across central London, notably South Shoreditch in Hackney. It will comprise of a 
mixture of Quietways and Superhighways in the City and West  

Page 142



77 
    

9.6 During the year the Council continued to improve accessibility to the bus network, 

completing its accessible bus stops programme and improving signing at key locations 

in the Borough with a further roll out of Legible London signs. Work progressed on the 

development of an improved pedestrian interchange at Hackney Downs/Hackney 

Central which, when completed will provide a new fully accessible route between the 

two stations. The Council continued to promote sustainable transport by refreshing its 

network of on-street electric charging points and the installation of more cycle hangars 

on the public highway.  

Passenger usage at Hackney’s Main Stations 
 

9.7 Passenger usage at railway stations in the borough primarily reflects the levels of growth 

at a station, be this economic or housing driven, combined with a general pressure from 

increased use by residents of train services.  It is an important, if indirect indication of 

the effectiveness of planning policy in both encouraging public transport usage and 

providing access to these services.  

Station Name 

% Change, 
Passengers 
2010-15  

% Change, 
Passengers 
2014-15 

Haggerston 364 24 

Hoxton 340 17 

Hackney Wick 195 10 

Hackney Central 194 7 

Homerton 183 7 

Dalston (Kingsland) 149 3 

London Fields 94 16 

Clapton 63 4 

Dalston Junction 62 16 

Shoreditch High Street 59 20 

Stoke Newington 43 4 

Rectory Road 38 -2 

Stamford Hill 36 13 

Hackney Downs 33 6 

Old Street 17 16 

 

9.8 Table 9.1 shows that there has been significant increases in station usage over the last 

5 years, with Haggerston and Hoxton stations registering over four times as many 

visitors, with a total of 2.3 million entries and exits in 2015, while the key growth areas 

of Hackney Central and Dalston Kingsland/Junction grew by 194% and 149/64% 

respectively.  However growth appears to be decelerating, with passenger numbers 

growing an average of 9% at these locations over the last year, close to the average 

across Hackney of 11%.  Overall, station usage has increased from 36,671,560 entries 

Table 9.1, Station Passenger Numbers 2010-15 and 2014/15, Hackney 

Page 143



78 
    

and exits in 2014 to 4,483,322 in 2015.  One station recorded a loss, rectory road, falling 

by 2%.   

9.9 Four of the busiest stations in Hackney rank amongst the busiest in the country, with 

passenger numbers higher than that of many provincial cities: 

- Dalston Kingsland is 66th busiest station in the country, out of 2537, i.e. in the top 

3%, and busier than Nottingham Station at 67th  

- Hackney Central is 76th busiest, also in the top 3%, and busier than Ealing 

Broadway at 77th 

- Homerton is 79th busiest, busier than Birmingham International/NEC at 80th 

- Shoreditch High Street is 106th busiest, busier than Tonbridge at 107th and 

Stansted Airport at 123rd 

Net Car and Cycling Spaces 

9.10 Car parking standards are established by the London Plan, which aims to reduce their 

provision.  Car and Cycle spaces in developments are a key indicator of the 

effectiveness of policy by directly reducing the supply of space in which new residents 

can place vehicle – though some spaces, for example those for disabled users. 

Schemes Net Car 

Spaces 

(inc.. 

disabled

) 

Net 

spaces 

Per 

scheme 

Net Cycle 

Spaces 

Cycle Space 

Per Scheme 

Percentage 

car free 

Approvals 2014 (401 

Schemes) 

-292 -0.7 2720 6.7 95% 

Completions 2014 

(260) 

-23 0.08 618 2.3 93% 

Approvals 2015 

(198) 

68 0.3 4413 23 88% 

Completions 2015 

(62) 

196 3.1 963 16 88% 

 

9.11 Figure 9.2 shows that overall 2015 policy has effective at delivering car free 

development, with 88% of completed schemes and of approved ones having no net 

additional spaces.  However completions delivered an average of 3.2 cars per scheme 

in comparison to just 0.08 in 2014.  Approvals data was more positive, indicating 

provision of 0.3 spaces per scheme and 4413 cycle spaces, just under twice the 2720 

permitted in 2014.  Overall policy appears to be working effectively to encourage 

alternate modes of transport. 

Access to key services 

9.12 Access to key services is a good indicator of improvements to both transport 

infrastructure and less commonly the provision of new services, and indicates the 

Table 9.2, Net Car and Cycle Spaces, 2014 and 2015, Hackney 

Page 144



79 
    

effectiveness of planning in delivering access to amenities to residents as well as 

encouraging more sustainable forms of transport. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9.13 As figure 9.1 shows, Hackney performs better on average better than the surrounding 

boroughs and significant better than the inner London average on travel times to key 

services (for example, Town centres, health and schooling), with one of the lowest times 

for cycling (only beaten by Hammersmith and Fulham, and Camden), lower than 

average times for walking and public transport, and average times for travel by car.  

Overall this indicates that transport policy is working well with community facilities 

provision. 

Analysis 

9.14 The care strategy sets out an overarching aim of planning policy as to promote healthy 

and active lifestyles encouraging a shift from car usage to public transport, walking and 

cycling.  Planning works closely with the transport planning team to achieve this.   In 

2015 transport improvements were delivered for improved accessible bus stops and 

increased cycle hangers as well as continuing work on the Hackney 

Downs/Central link.   Projects in development focus on, with work to develop cycle 

Figure 9.1, Station Passenger Numbers 2010-15 and 2014/15, Hackney 

Page 145



80 
    

superhighway 1 (cs1), a quietway for the borough, quietway 2 from Bloomsbury to 

Walthamstow.    

9.15 Hackney’s railway stations continue to improve year on year, with a total of 4.4 million 

entries/exits at stations in 2015.  The key growth areas of Hackney Central and 

Dalston stations recorded growths of 194% and 106% between 2010/15.  On these 

statistics Dalston Kingsland station is busier than Nottingham, Hackney Central 

than Ealing Broadway and Shoreditch than Stanstead Airport.  These statistics are 

reflect in access levels to key services in the borough being better than surrounding 

boroughs as well as the inner London average, with key services being an average 

of 8.2 minutes by bike, the third best times for cycling in London, and 9.1 minutes by 

walking or public transport. Therefore planning policy has performed well in light of core 

strategy policy 6.  

9.16 Core strategy policy 6 also aims to reduce car usage in the borough, by encouraging car 

free developments.  This is secured through DMLP DM47 which expects the majority of 

developments to be car free or car capped.  Overall, in 2015, 88% of completed 

development were car free, as were 88% of approved developments.  Despite this, 

overall 3.2 spaces were delivered per scheme on average, an increase from -0.7 lost 

per scheme in 2014.  Cycle space provision has almost doubled from 2720 to 4413 in 

approved developments.   Policy may need to consider how it can ensure larger 

schemes are not exempt from car free development in order to continue the net loss of 

parking spaces achieved in recent years.

Page 146



81 
    

10. Open Spaces 

10.1 One of the objectives of the Core Strategy is to ensure that hackney’s natural 

environment, including wildlife habitats and landscape character is protected and 

conserved and that new development identifies protects and enhances important assets.  

Core Strategy policy 26 requires that there be no loss of open space within the network 

of designated open spaces, and DMLP DM32 requires new developments to provide 

new open space in developments.  Hackney has the largest amount of green space in 

inner London, totalling about 330 acres, almost all of which is protected by planning 

designations which seek to restrict loss. 

Changes to Open Space in the Borough 

10.2 Core Strategy policy 26 looks to safeguard existing open space in Hackney, by 

preventing the loss of designated open space.  There has been no loss of designated 

open space in Hackney from schemes completed in 2015.  Indeed, there has been an 

increase in open space, although this is not designated at this time.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.3 Figure 10.1 indicates that there has been a net gain in open space in Hackney in 2015 

of 2300sqm.  This has occurred across two developments: 

- Morningside Estate (2008/1006) development provides a 930sqm community 

space to the north side of the development facing onto retreat place as part of the 

regeneration of the community centre. 

- The Bevenden, New North Road (2012/1517) provides a similar community space 

of 1370 sqm facing onto New North Road 

10.4 Overall, the policy seems to be working.  The lack of any loss of open space is a 

significant achievement in light of the very high development pressures in the borough 

Figure 10.1, Open Space Delivery 2010-15, Hackney 

Page 147



82 
    

and lack of any Greenfield developable land, which means that all new development 

was developed on brownfield. 

Green flag Awards for Parks 

 

10.5 Green Flag awards are given for a high level of environmental quality, and are awarded 

based upon 5 year plans for the improvement of parks.  In 2015, 19 parks in Hackney 

achieved green flag status.  These were: 

- Albion Square, N1 (Bold indicates new awards) 

- Aske Gardens, E8 

- Butterfield Green, N16 

- Cassland Road Gardens, E9 

- Clapton Pond, E5 

- Clapton Square, E5 

- Clissold Park, N16 

- De Beauvoir Square, N1 

- Hackney Downs, E5 

- Hackney Marshes, E9 

- Haggerston Park, E2 

- Hoxton Square, N1 

- London Fields, E8 

- Millfields Park, E8 

- Shoreditch Park, N1 

- Springfield Park, E5 

- St John's Churchyard Gardens, E5 

- Well Street Common, E9 

- West Hackney Recreation Ground, N16 

 

10.6 This is an increase of 4 new awards over the previous year (marked in bold) and 

indicates that the quality of parks is growing.  All of Hackney’s District and Regional 

Parks are designated along with many local spaces. 

Planning Obligations for open spaces 

10.7 As discussed in chapter seven, planning obligations are a direct result of planning for 

new development and are tailored to the needs of the area on an agreement basis, 

contributing the improvement of existing open spaces.  Several projects were funded 

out of S106 in Hackney for Open Space in 2015.  These were: 

- Gillette and Dalston Square Community Engagement Programme (£4868) 

which was derived from the obligations arising from Dalston Western Curve. 

- Allens Gardens Improvements to provide environmental improvements to the 

park. 

Page 148



83 
    

- Leonard Circus Environmental Improvements (£51,763.54) which have made 

the square into an improved pedestrianized public space, as well as power 

systems for events. 

- Woodberry down nature reserve – a £1.5 million project to restore the 

Westlands and Listed Coal Building.  

10.8 The total amount of S106 which was gained for Open space in heads of terms was 

approximately £130,000 over 45 different clauses.  The largest contribution came from 

the Colville estate regeneration schemes.   Overall, this represents a significant uplift 

from new developments that will enable improvements to existing space and contribute 

to the wellbeing of residents of the borough. 

Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation in 2015 

 

10.9 SINCs, also referred to as a ‘non-statutory wildlife site’ or ‘Local Site’, are areas 

designated for their importance for wildlife. Figure 10.2 below shows that there has been 

no change in the levels of SINC sites in Hackney in 2014/15.  In addition, the number of 

sites in positive management has held, indicating that sites are being sustainably 

managed. Further information about SINCs and the reasons for their designations can 

be found online4.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                

4 http://www.hackney.gov.uk/sites-of-importance-for-nature-conservation.htm. 

Figure 10.2, Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation, Number and % in positive 
management,, Hackney 

Page 149



84 
    

Analysis 

 

10.10 As the inner London Borough with a largest amount of green space, Hackney has been 

historically successful at protecting green spaces for its citizens. Core Strategy policy 

26 looks to protect and improve the existing open space network, and covered by 

DMLP31 and 34 which protect open space as well as biodiversity.  Overall there has 

been a net gain of 2300sqm open space in Hackney 2014/15.  This resulted from two 

planning applications, in the form of green spaces on previously brownfield land.  

Overall, the policy has been effective, especially in light of the high pressure for 

development in the borough. 

10.11 Policy also looks to improve existing spaces, with planning helping to support this 

through planning obligations, with several project completing, including Leonard Circus 

improvements and the Gillette and Dalston Community Engagement Programme. 

As well as this, green spaces have been improved, with an additional four parks gaining 

green flag for a total of 19.  Finally, improvements have been made to sensitive sites in 

the borough, with 88% of sites of importance for nature conservation in positive 

conservation management, and a new Local Nature Reserve designated at 

Woodberry down. 

Page 150



85 
    

11. Design and Heritage 

11.1 One of the overarching objectives of the Core Strategy is to Protect and enhance the 

quality of hackneys historic environments through a sensitive approach to existing 

character.  Core Strategy policy 24 requires that all development should enrich and 

enhance the built environment that developments make a positive impact, with special 

reference to historic buildings and landscapes under policy 25.  These are further 

codified through DMLP policy DM1 which places design at the centre of the planning 

process.  Performance of these policies is difficult to measure, as design quality is a 

subjective matter.  However, there are a range of statistics around heritage.  These 

primarily relate to protection of historic buildings or areas are regulated by Historic 

England in collaboration with the borough.  

Heritage at Risk 
 

11.2 The Heritage at risk register is operated by English heritage and, as the name suggests 

identifies historic buildings at risk if maintenance or restoration is not carried out.  There 

has been a reduction in the number of buildings at risk in the borough by 4 sites, or 

around 10%, from 34-30 sites.  This is through building being taken up as part of new 

schemes, detailed below: 

- 91 Stoke Newington Church Street N16 (2013/2788) which has been restored to 
residential use. 

- Pond House, 162 Lower Clapton Road E5 (2011/0697) which has been restored 
and as part of a development of 5 new homes. 

- Former Court House and Police Station, Old Street EC1 (2010/1929) restored and 
redeveloped as a 128 bedroom boutique hotel. 

- The Coal House, Lordship Road, Stoke Newington N16 which has been restored 
and repurposed as the café of the London Wetlands Trust nature reserve at 
Woodberry down. 

 

11.3 It is likely that more buildings will be taken off of the register in coming years, with 

planning policy helping to bring forward sensitive redevelopment of these sites.  It is it is 

hoped that a further 13 buildings may be removed from the register next year. 

Conservation Areas  
 

11.4 Hackney contains a large number of conservation areas which protect the historic 

character of areas such as De Beauvoir Town and Mare Street, with 29 areas currently 

in force across the borough.  Conservation areas limit permitted development rights, 

Page 151



86 
    

meaning that applications must be made for external alterations and extensions, to 

ensure they are in keeping with the character of the area.    

11.5 The council will shortly be designating a new conservation area in Dalston, designed to 

protect important historic assets within this major town centre. In addition, Dalston Lane 

(West) Conservation Area is currently being reviewed and is expected to be enlarged.   

11.6 Conservation areas can be threatened in a similar way to buildings, and Hackney 

currently has three areas at risk.  These are Mare Street, Sun Street and Dalston Lane 

(West).  Sun Street is currently undergoing works as part of the One Crown Place 

development and it is anticipated that the Conservation Area will no longer be at risk 

following completion of the works.  Dalston Lane (West) is currently undergoing works 

as part of the scheme for Dalston Terrace (Numbers 46 to 78 Dalston Lane) and it is 

anticipated that the Conservation Area will no longer be at risk following completion of 

the works.  Mare Street will be reviewed as part of the Conservation Areas Review over 

the course of 2016. 

Tall Buildings 

11.7 Tall buildings are of particular interest primarily as they represent some of the largest 

and most complex applications and significantly test the effectiveness of policy.  

Hackney takes a case-by-case approach to Tall Buildings in the borough, in line with the 

Hackney Tall buildings strategy (2005) and RTPI guidance, within the context of the 

London Plan.    

11.8 Two tall buildings were completed in Hackney in 2014/5 – The tower forming part of Kick 

Start Site 4 at Woodberry Down in the north of the borough, with a maximum height of 

18 stories, and Eagle House on City Road in the South-West of the borough.  This is 

lower than the trend, with 22 buildings of 10 storeys or greater approved since 2010; 

with an average height of 23 storeys - though the tallest of which was 50 stories 

(Principal Place).  These developments have predominantly taken place to the south of 

the borough, as well the growth area of Dalston.   It is interesting to note that 17 of 22 

buildings approved were in schemes containing residential units, indicating that tall 

buildings are primarily supported by high residential values as opposed to office space 

or other uses. 

Hackney Design Awards 

11.9 The Hackney Design awards are a biannual award ceremony which celebrates the best 

quality developments built in the borough over the period.  The design awards were last 

Page 152



87 
    

run in 2014, and will run again in 2016.  Nominations can be made by both the residents 

of Hackney, architects and others.   

11.10  The awards did not run this year, and will be reported on in the next AMR. 

Analysis 
 

11.11  Overall the situation has been positive for heritage and design in Hackney, with a 

reduction in the number of buildings at risk.  Importantly, this has been due to efforts to 

regenerate these buildings into ways which safeguard the character while setting them 

on a sustainable footing. These show that policy 24 and 25 of the DMLP are working 

effectively, especially with other policies in the plan which look to secure new housing 

and employment uses. 

11.12  In addition to this, developments taking place in three threatened conservation areas 

will help to safeguard their character.  

11.13  Design is a highly subjective exercise, with planning policy having a minor role to play 

in ensuring that new developments are of the highest quality and in keeping with their 

context and character.  This is exemplified through the Hackney Design Awards, which 

will run in the 2016/17 Financial year, will be reported on in the next AMR.

Page 153



88 
    

12. Planning Performance 

12.1 The performance of Development Management is important to both the Council and 

Central Government, who measure performance.  It should be noted that these statistics 

reflect the most recent dataset. Performance is measured by speed of decision making 

and quality: 

- Speed: 70% of Major applications must be determined within 13 weeks of 
validation; 75% of minor applications must be determined within 8 weeks of 
validation.  80% of all other applications completed within 8 weeks,  

- Quality: 70% of appeals to planning applications must be dismissed. 

12.2 Hackney also has its own performance targets which cover a broader range of subjects: 

- Customer Satisfaction: 60% of customers satisfied with planning service 
- Speed: 80% of planning applications validated within 5 working days; 80% of 

planning searches carried out within 10 working days;  

12.3 As shown in table 12.1, below, the speed applications were processed has been 

maintained throughout  2015/16 and exceeded targets, despite a record number of 

planning applications being received., Processing of other applications was consistently 

above target, averaging 87%. 

12.4 Quality has also improved, with a 20 point rise in the number of appeals dismissed, 

topping out at 83% in Q4 of 2015/16, and hitting the 70% target overall.   

Indicator Target 2014/15 2015/16 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total  

Percentage of major 
planning applications 
determined within 13 
weeks 

70% 
83% 

(10 out 
of 12 

83% 
(10 
out 
of 

12) 

75% 
(6 
out 

of 8) 

77% 
(10 
out 
of 

13) 

79% 
 

(36 
of 
45) 

46% 
(6 out 
of 13) 

67% 
(2 of 

3) 

100% 
(11 of 

11) 

86% 
(6 
out 

of 7) 

74% 
(25 of 

34) 

Percentage of minor 
applications determined 
within 8 weeks 

75% 77% 78% 73% 67% 74% 73% 78% 78% 80% 79% 

Percentage of other 
applications determined 
within 8 weeks 

80% 84% 88% 83% 77% 83% 84% 86% 85% 86% 87% 

Percentage of planning 
appeals dismissed 

70% 
73% 

(22 out 
of 30) 

44% 
(7 
out 
of 

13) 

88% 
(14 
out 
of 

16) 

67% 
(16 
out 
of 

24) 

68% 
(59 
of  
83 

62% 
(15 

out of  
24) 

66% 
(10 
out 
of 

15) 

59% 
(10 

out of 
17) 

83% 
(25 
out 
of 

30) 

70% 
(60 of 

86) 

 

12.5 Internal targets are more varied in areas covered but are largely focused on speed of 

decision making.  Validation services undershot its target by a small amount, 8%, while 

planning searches have varied across the year, averaging 67%, with figures supressed 

Table 12.1, General Planning Performance, 2014/15 and 2015/16, Hackney 

Page 154



89 
    

by a large number of searches driven by changes to stamp duty changes on 1st April 

2016.   

Indicator Target 2014/15 2015/16 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2015/
16 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2015/
16 

% Applications validated 
within 5 days 

80% 
71
% 

72
% 

68
% 

67% 70% 70% 75% 79% 63% 72% 

% Planning searches 
carried out in 10 working 
days 

80% N/A N/A 
86
% 

78% 82% 73% 58%* 75% 64%** 67% 

 

 

12.6 Building control also accords to targets.  The Building control team work to inspect new 

properties and assess their compliance with buildings regulations. Their performance 

targets are based around speed as well as well as aiming to build their market share 

versus private companies which provide the same service. 

12.7 Over 2015/16 the team increased their market share by 4%, from 34-38%, moving 

towards a target of 50%.  The percentage of chargeable applications processed within 

3 working days improved over the year, averaging 77%, or 3% below target.  86% of full 

plan pre-decisions were given within 15 days, 4% below target.  The number of site 

investigations undertaken within one day of request was significantly above (13%) 

target, with 93% of visits being undertaken in this period.  Finally, the number of 

completions certificates issued within 5 days of an inspection was slightly below target, 

at 83% versus a 90% target - although it should be noted that in the final quarter 98% of 

certificates were issues within the timeframe. 

 

12.8  Building control have also been engaged with resolving several dangerous structures 

in the borough: 

- Former ‘Ship Aground’ pub in Lea Bridge Rd: building shell was left unsupported 
following the removal of the shoring system due to a dispute between the builder 
and the owners. 

Indicator Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Total 
15/16 

Percentage market share of building regulations working 
applications 

50% 34% 41% 35% 38% 37% 

Percentage of Building Regulations chargeable 
applications acknowledged within 3 working days (Full 
Plans, Building Notices, Regularisation & Demolition 

Notice applications). 

80% 70% 76% 73% 86% 77% 

% of Building Control Full 
Plans Pre decisions given within 15 days 

90% 88% 71% 88% 100% 86% 

% site inspections undertaken within 1 working day from 
request (service standard) 

80% 90% 95% 94% 88% 93% 

% of completion certificates issued within 5 days of an 
approved inspection subject to receipt of appropriate 

documentation (service standards) 
90% 78% 86% 85% 98% 83% 

Table 12.2, Planning Performance, Local Indicators, 2014/15 and 2015/16, Hackney 

Page 155



90 
    

- 185 Graham Road: Unsafe building is currently held up by shoring scaffold. Case 
has been complicated due to ownership. 

Analysis 

12.9  Overall, the performance of planning has improved over the past year, with targets 

across development management exceeded; 74% of Major Planning Applications were 

determined in accordance with agreed timescales, beating a target of 70%. A total of 34 

major applications were processed.   79% of minor applications were determined within 

8 weeks, also beating the target of 75% and 87% of other applications were processed 

within their 8 week deadline, beating a target of 80%.   The quality of decisions was also 

good, with only 70% of cases taken to appeal failing.     Validation was also slightly below 

target, with 72% of applications processed in 5 days against an 80% target.  This may 

be accounted for by very large or complex applications.   

12.10   Building control performance improved over the year, especially in terms of market 

share, increasing by 4% to 38% of all cases in the borough. Chargeable applications 

processed within 3 working days improved over the year, 77%, or 3% below target.  86% 

of full plan pre-decisions were given within 15 days, 4% below target.  The number of 

site investigations undertaken within one day of request was significantly above (13%) 

target, with 93% of visits being undertaken in this period.  Overall, the service looks to 

be continuing to improve. 

Page 156



91 
    

13. Appendix - Site Allocations in the SALP 
and Area Action Plans 

13.1 The Hackney Local Plan contains a suite of Local Development Documents, some of 

which, allocate sites for development at different scales.  The Site Allocations Local Plan 

allocates sites across the borough for development and is the key provider of new sites 

to meet objectively assessed housing needs.    In addition to this document the borough 

has three area action plans which designate sites and prescribe specific policy for Manor 

House, Dalston and Hackney Central.   

13.2 The status of these sites is important as is constitutes a practical measure of the 

performance of these plans in regenerating Hackney and achieving the overarching 

objectives of the core strategy. 

Status of Sites in the Site Allocations Local Plan 
 

Site 
Reference 

Known As Status Permission 

6 
Colville Estate Hyde Road 
N1 5PT 

Permission Granted - Phase 1 and 
2 under Construction 

2014/0621 

7 
Kings Crescent, Green 
Lanes, N4 2XG 

Permission Granted - Started on 
site. 

2013/1128 

9 
Marian Court, Homerton 
High St, E9 6BT 

Permission Granted - Not Started 2012/1731 

10 
Bridge House, Homerton 
High St, E9 6JL 

Permission Granted - Phase 2 
Started 

2012/1731 

12 
Tower Court, Clapton 
Common, E5 9AJ 

Site Cleared N/A 

15 
King Edwards’s Road, E9 
7SL 

Permission Granted - Started 2013/2159 

16 
St Leonard's Court, New 
North Road, N1 6JA 

Permission Granted - Started 2012/2915 

27 
213-215, New North Road, 
N1 6SU 

Development Completed 2009/2102 

84 
337 Kingsland Road and 
Adjacent Car Park, E8 4DA 

Permission Expired -  Not Started 2011/2876 

95 
12 – 20 Paul Street, EC2A 
4JH 

Development Completed 2011/1922 

99 
102 – 110 Clifton Street, 
EC2A 4HT 

No Permission Granted N/A 

100 
64 - 80 Clifton Street and 4 
- 8 Holywell Lane, EC2A 
4HB 

No Permission Granted N/A 

101 
Holywell Row EC2 at 
Junction of King, EC2A 3NT 

Permission Granted - Started 2014/3268 

103 
35 – 45 Great Eastern 
Street, EC2A 3ER 

No Permission Granted N/A 

Page 157



92 
    

107 
Telephone Exchange, 
Shoreditch High Street, E2 
7DJ 

No Permission Granted N/A 

108 
Bishopsgate, Shoreditch 
High Street, E1 6JU 

Permission called in by Mayor of 
London 

2014/2425 

115 
EDF Energy, 10 Appold 
Street, EC2N 2BN 

No Permission Granted N/A 

121 
Telephone House, 110 
Tabernacle Street, EC2A 
4LE 

No Permission Granted N/A 

124 
Land Bounded by Sun 
Street, Crown Place EC2A 
2AL 

Permission Granted - Started 2015/0877  

125 
Street block bounded 
Curtain Road, EC2A 2BF 

No Permission Granted N/A 

126 225 City Road, EC1V 1LP No Permission Granted N/A 

127 
Crown House 145, City 
Road and 37 East Road 
EC1V 1LP 

Permission Granted - Started 2012/3259 

128 
Land bounded by Curtain 
Road, EC2A 3LP 

Permission Granted - Started 2012/3871 

129 
London College of Fashion, 
100-102 Curtain EC2A 3AE 

No Permission Granted N/A 

130 
Site at Junction of 
Shoreditch High St, E1 6PG 

No Permission Granted N/A 

133 
London College of Fashion 
182 Mare Street E8 3RF 

No Permission Granted n/a 

134 
Hackney Police Station, 2 
Lower Clapton Road E5 
0PA 

Permission Granted - Not Started 2015/3316 

135 
Wilmer Place, Stoke 
Newington, N16 0LH 

Permission Granted - Not Started 2013/3186 

136 
Anvil House, 8-32 Matthias 
Road, N16 8NU 

No Permission Granted N/A 

137 
84-90 Great Eastern Street, 
EC2A 3DA 

No Permission Granted N/A 

138 
Site bounded by 
Tabernacle Street EC2A 
4EA 

No Permission Granted N/A 

139 
Site of 5-13 (9consec.) 
Holywell Lane and EC2A 
3PQ 

Permission Granted - Started 2012/3792 

143 
Ash Grove Bus Depot, 
Andrews Road E8 4RH 

No Permission Granted N/A 

166 
Land bounded by 
Warburton Rd, E8 3RH 

Multiple Permissions - Started and Completed.  North 
West Side of Site has no Planning. 

190 
Arches 189 -222 Morning 
Lane 

Permission Granted - Started 2009/0445  

204 
10-50 Willow Street, EC2A 
4BH 

Permission Granted -  Started 2012/0123 

206 
Wakefield House, Chart 
Street, N1 6DD 

No Permission Granted N/A 

223 
27-37 Well Street London, 
E9 7QX 

No Permission Granted N/A 

225 
Works Andrews Road, E8 
4RL 

No Permission Granted N/A 

233 
113-137 Hackney Road, E2 
8ET 

Permission Granted 2015/3455 

Page 158



93 
    

244 1-13 Long Street, E2 8HN Permission Granted - Started 2012/2013  

251 
ARRIVA / Stamford, 
Rookwood Road, N16 6SS 

No Permission Granted N/A 

256 
Tram Depot, 38-40 Upper 
Clapton Road, E5 8BQ 

No Permission Granted N/A 

268 
Britannia Leisure, Hyde 
Road N1 5JU 

No Permission Granted N/A 

270 
Former Rose Lipman 
Downham Road N1 5TH 

No Permission Granted N/A 

271 
164-170 Mare Street, E8 
3RH 

No Permission Granted N/A 

272 
41-45 Stamford Hill, N16 
5SR 

No Permission Granted N/A 

273 
92-94 Stamford Hill, N16 
6XS 

Permission Granted - Not Started 2013/3856 

279 
71-73 Lordship Road, N16 
0QX 

Permission Granted - Not Started 2011/2526 

281 
Telephone Exchange, 
Upper Clapton Road, E5 
9JZ 

No Permission Granted N/A 

283 
Nightingale Estate, Downs 
Road, E5 8LB 

Permission Granted for some 
elements. 

N/A 

285 151 Stamford Hill, N16 5LG No Permission Granted N/A 

286 
Woodberry Down, Seven 
Sisters Road, N4 1DH 

Permission Granted - Phase 3 
Started and Kick Start Site 4 

2010/2427 

 
  

Page 159



94 
    

Status of Sites in the Manor House AAP 
 

Site 
Reference 

Known As Status Permission 

Ivy House North East Corner - Ivy House No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

318 Green 
Lanes 

318 Green Lanes No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

320 Green 
Lanes 

320-324 Green Lanes No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

Yard Building North East Corner, Manor House No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

Manor 
House/Ivy 
House Infill 

North East Corner, Manor House No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

SE4 Boys Club and Deaf Centre No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

SE3 Prospective buildings SE1-SE5 No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

SE1 Marlborough Parade and Marlborough 
House/Prospective buildings SE1-SE5 

No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

SE2 Marlborough Parade and Marlborough 
House/Prospective buildings SE1-SE5 

No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

Hotel Site South West Corner, Manor House No 
Permission 
Granted 

N/A 

 
  

Page 160



95 
    

Status of Sites in the Dalston AAP 
 

Site 
Reference 

Known As Status Permission 

A 
130 Kingsland Road and site to 
the rear 130A Kingsland Road 

No Permission Granted N/A 

B 
Dalston Kingsland Station and 
associated works 

Permission Granted - Not 
Started 

2014/222 

C 51-57 Kingsland High St Permission Granted - Started 2013/2042 

D1 
25-33A, 2-8 & 10-34 Kingsland 
High Street 

Permission Granted - Started 2013/1039 

D2 
1, 3, 5, 7 Dalston Lane, 
(Dalston Western Curve), & 1-
7 Ashwin St 

Permission Granted - Started 2013/1039 

E 
36-42 Kingsland High Street 
(currently McDonalds) 

No Permission Granted N/A 

F Kingsland Shopping Centre No Permission Granted N/A 

G1 Birkbeck Mews/Road No Permission Granted N/A 

G2 Ridley Road Market No Permission Granted N/A 

G3 Ridley Rd/St. Mark’s Rise No Permission Granted N/A 

G4 
Ridley Road Market – south 
side abutting northern edge of 
railway 

No Permission Granted N/A 

G5 
Land to Rear of Kingsland 
Shopping Centre 

No Permission Granted N/A 

H 
2-16 Ashwin St, 11 - 15 
Dalston Lane, southern end of 
‘eastern curve’. 

No Permission Granted N/A 

I 17-25 Dalston Lane No Permission Granted N/A 

J1 
Thames House and corner of 
Hartwell Street and Dalston 
Lane to 27 Dalston Lane 

Temporary use on site. 2015/0171 

J2 
Former Tyssen Arms public 
house. 

Permission Granted - Started 2012/1695 

K Grampul House, Tyssen Street No Permission Granted N/A 

L 
Stamford Works and Gillett Sq 
Phase 2 

No Permission Granted N/A 

M Holy Trinity Primary School Permission Granted - Started 2013/0457 

N 
67A-73 Dalston Lane and 
frontage onto Tyssen Street 

Permission Granted - Started 2012/3558 

O 
Dalston Lane terraces – 46 – 
86a Dalston Lane and 457/459 
Queensbridge Road 

Permission Granted - Started 2014/0323 

Page 161



96 
    

P 
CLR James Library, 16-22 
Dalston Lane, 62 Beechwood 
Road 

No Permission Granted N/A 

Q 
Former Roseberry Cottages, 
Roseberry Place 

Permission Granted - 
Completed 

2011/0737 

Status of Sites in the Hackney Central AAP 
 

Site 

reference 

Site address/name Status 

A1 Tesco east, Morning Lane north side No planning applications received 

however informal discussions have 

taken place. 

A2 Tesco west/ Mare Street backs, Morning 

Lane 

No planning applications received 

however informal discussions have 

taken place. 

A3 5-13 Morning Lane No planning applications received. 

A4 Clapton Bus Depot No planning applications received 

however informal discussions have 

taken place. 

A5 Retail frontage west of Clapton Bus 

Depot fronting Mare Street 

No planning applications received. 

A6 Railway Arches, Bohemia Place No planning applications received 

however informal discussions have 

taken place.  

A7 2-20 Morning Lane and Hackney Trades 

Hall 

No planning applications received. 

B1 7-19 Amhurst Road and Council owned 

station car park 

Planning permission (Reference 

2011/2209) granted. 

B2 Hackney Central Station ticket hall Several planning permissions have 

been granted and completed in 

connection with refurbishment of 

the station.  

C1 The Rectory, 356 Mare Street, Land rear 

of 392-396 Mare Street and Learning 

Trust site 

Planning permission (Reference 

2012/3345) granted.  

D1 1-17 Lower Clapton Road, Clarence 

House and 2-12a Clarence Road 

No planning applications received. 

D2 302-304 Mare Street No planning applications received. 

Page 162



97 
    

E1 Florfield Road depot, Maurice Bishop 

House and 13 Reading Lane 

No planning applications received. 

F1 7a Sylvester Road and ‘the washouse’, 

117 Wilton Way 

Planning permission (Reference 

2009/2673) granted and 

development completed.  

F2 1-10 Great Eastern buildings and land to 

the rear of 29-39 Horton Road 

Planning application (Reference 

2014/1460) lodged.  

 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
CORPORATE COMMITTEE 
MEETING DATE 2016/17 
 
14 July 2016 
  
 

 
CLASSIFICATION:  
 
Open  
 
If exempt, the reason will be listed in the 
main body of this report. 

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED 
 
All Wards 
 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Tim Shields 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
WORK PROGRAMME OF THE CORPORATE COMMITTEE 2016/17 

 

Page 165

Agenda Item 6



 
1.   INTRODUCTION 

 
The purpose of this report is for the Corporate Committee to consider the draft 
work programme for the Committee in the municipal year 2016/17. 
 

1.2 This report assists the Committee in its role of the overview of residual 
functions and is presented for decision. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)  
             
           The Corporate Committee is recommended to: - 
 
2.1 Comment and approve the work programme of the Corporate Committee 

for the Municipal Year 2016/17 as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

3.  REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
3.1 The draft work programme sets out the reports to be considered by the 

Corporate Committee during the 2016/17. 
 
4.  COMMENTS OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND 

CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  
 

5.1 COMMENTS OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF LEGAL 
 

5.1 There are no immediate legal implications arising from the report. 
 
 

 APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 –  Draft Work Programme for 2016/17 
 

 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None 
 
 
Report Author 
 

Rabiya Khatun 
Rabiya.khatun@hackney.gov.uk 
020 8356 6279 

Comments of the Corporate 
Director of Finance and 
Resources 

Michael Honeysett 
Michael Honeysett@hackney.gov.uk 
020 8356 3332 

Comments of the Corporate 
Director of Legal, HR and 
Regulatory Services 

Patricia Narebor 
Patricia Narebor@hackney.gov.uk 
020 8356 2029 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



Work Programme of Corporate Committee 2016/17 

14 July 2016 

1 Work Programme 2016/17 To Approve Tim Shields 
(Rabiya Khatun) 

2  Food Law Enforcement Service Plan 
2016/17 

To Approve  Kim Wright 
(Aleyne Fontenelle) 

3 Planning Policy - Authority 
Monitoring Report 

To Approve  Kim Wright 
(Ian Rae) 

 

13 October 2016 

1 HR Policy Review To Approve Tim Shields 
(Dan Paul) 
 

2 Environmental Enforcement - Annual 
Assessment Of The Local  
Environmental Quality Enforcement 
Strategy And Annual Performance 
Report 2014/15 

For Information And 
Comment 

Kim Wright 
(Mark Griffin) 

3 Work Programme 2016/17 For Information And 
Comment 

Tim Shields 
 (Rabiya Khatun) 

 

13 December 2016 

1 Pay Policy Review 2017/18 
 

To Approve Tim Shields 
(Dan Paul) 

2 HR Policy Review To Approve Tim Shields 
(Dan Paul) 

3 Regulatory Services Update For Information And 
Comment 

Kim Wright 
(Aleyne Fontenelle) 

4 Work Programme 2016/17 For Information And 
Comment 

Tim Shields 
(Rabiya Khatun) 

 

28 March 2017  

1 HR Policy Review To Approve Tim Shields 
 (Dan Paul) 

2 Annual Report  Of The  
Community Safety Team And Noise 
Nuisance  

For Information And 
Comment 

Tim Shields 
(Steve Bending) 

3 Annual Review Of The Borough Wide 
Designated Public Places Order 

For Information And 
Comment 

Tim Shields 
(Barry Scales) 

4 Work Programme 2016/17 For Information And 
Comment 

Tim Shields 
 (Rabiya Khatun) 

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 CONSIDERATION OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS
	Minutes , 25/05/2016 Corporate Committee
	Minutes , 08/06/2016 Corporate Committee

	4 FOOD LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICE PLAN 2016/17
	17073850-FLESP 201617 (DRAFT)
	17140400-FLESP - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

	5 PLANNING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT/AUTHORITY MONITORING REPORT
	CDM App1 -

	6 WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17
	Draft Work Programme 2016- 17 F


